18 June 2018
At the conclusion of the Cultural and Community Committee

Transport, Heritage and Planning
Committee

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Agenda
1.

Disclosures of Interest

2.

Policy - Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030

3.

Public Exhibition - Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 225 to 279
Broadway, Glebe

4.

Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 4-6 Bligh Street - Request Gateway
Amendment

5.

Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 55 Pitt Street, Sydney - Sydney Local
Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 Amendment
and Planning Agreement

6.

Fire Safety Reports

Guidelines for Speakers
at Council Committees

As part of our democratic process, the City invites members of the community to speak directly to
Councillors during Committee meetings about items on the agenda.
To enable the Committee to hear a wide range of views and concerns within the limited time
available, we encourage people interested in speaking at Committee to:
1.

Register to speak by calling Council’s Secretariat on 9265 9310 before 12.00 noon on the day
of the meeting.

2.

Check the recommendation in the Committee report before speaking, as it may address your
concerns so that you just need to indicate your support for the recommendation.

3.

Note that there is a three minute time limit for each speaker (with a warning bell at two
minutes) and prepare your presentation to cover your major points within that time

4.

Avoid repeating what previous speakers have said and focus on issues and information that
the Committee may not already know.

5.

If there is a large number of people interested in the same item as you, try to nominate three
representatives to speak on your behalf and to indicate how many people they are
representing.

6.

Before speaking, turn on the microphone by pressing the button next to it and speak clearly so
that everyone in the Council Chamber can hear.

7.

Be prepared to quickly return to the microphone and respond briefly to any questions from
Councillors, after all speakers on an item have made their presentations.

Committee meetings can continue until very late, particularly when there is a long agenda and a
large number of speakers. This impacts on speakers who have to wait until very late, as well as
Council staff and Councillors who are required to remain focused and alert until very late. At the start
of each Committee meeting, the Committee Chair may reorder agenda items so that those items with
speakers can be dealt with first.
Committee reports are on line at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au, with printed copies available at
Sydney Town Hall immediately prior to the meeting. Council staff are also available prior to the
meeting to assist.
January 2011

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Item 1.
Disclosures of Interest

(a)

Section 451 of the Local Government Act 1993

Pursuant to the provisions of section 451 of the Local Government Act 1993, Councillors are
required to disclose pecuniary interests in any matter on the agenda for this meeting of the
Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee.
Councillors are also required to disclose any non-pecuniary interests in any matter on the
agenda for this meeting of the Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee in accordance
with the relevant clauses of the Code of Conduct – February 2016.
This will include receipt of reportable political donations over the previous four years.
In both cases, the nature of the interest must be disclosed.
Written disclosures of interest received by the Chief Executive Officer in relation to items for
consideration at this meeting will be laid on the table.

(b)

Local Government and Planning Legislation Amendment (Political
Donations) Act 2008

The Local Government and Planning Legislation Amendment (Political Donations) Act 2008
(“the Act”) requires the disclosure of relevant political donations or gifts when planning
applications are made to minimise any perception of undue influence. The amendments to
the Act require disclosure to the Electoral Funding Authority of:


a reportable political donation as defined in the Election Funding and Disclosures
Act 1981 (a donation of $1000 or more made to or for the benefit of the party, elected
member, group or candidate or made by a major political donor to or for the benefit of
a party, elected member, group or candidate, or made to the major political donor), or



a gift (as defined in the Election Funding and Disclosures Act 1981) to any local
councillor or council employee (and includes a disposition of property or a gift of
money or the provision of other valuable or service for no consideration or for
inadequate consideration) when a relevant planning application is made to a council.

A donation of less than $1000 can be a reportable political donation if the aggregated total of
such donations was made by an entity or person to the same party, elected member, group
or candidate or person.

1

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Item 2.
Policy - Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030
File No:

X010848

Summary
The draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 (the Strategy) sets targets, priorities
and actions for increasing bike trips in the City of Sydney.
Sustainable Sydney 2030 Direction 4 is to make Sydney a city for walking and cycling.
Increasing cycling also contributes to the other Sustainable Sydney directions, particularly: a
globally competitive and innovative city; a leading environmental performer; and integrated
transport for a connected city. Increased cycling helps build a more resilient and socially
sustainable Sydney and contributes towards 11 of the 17 UN Sustainable Development
Goals.
Sustainable Sydney 2030 Target 7 is for at least 10 per cent of total trips made in the city to
be by people riding bicycles and 50 per cent to be by people walking. The State Government
2021 target is to more than double the mode share of bicycle trips made in the Greater
Sydney region, for trips up to 10km. The Strategy helps deliver the NSW Government’s
Sydney’s Cycling Future, Future Transport Strategy 2056 and the Greater Sydney
Commission’s Eastern City District Plan.
The previous Cycle Strategy and Action Plan 2007-2017 was unanimously adopted in April
2007 and has underpinned the City’s cycling program for the past 10 years. This update
reflects changes over the last decade, documents achievements and progress, and
incorporates the StreetShare Strategy from 2010.
The Strategy is action focused, with four priority areas to increase cycling:


connecting the network;



supporting people to ride;



supporting businesses to encourage cycling; and



leadership and advocacy.

A safe and connected cycleway network is absolutely essential for success in achieving the
City's target, and the rate of completion will depend on the level of NSW and Australian
Government funding in coming years. The complementary behavioural programs ensure
that, as the network is built, it is well used and safely used.

1

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Recommendation
It is resolved that:
(A)

Council approve the draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 (the Strategy),
as shown at Attachment A to the subject report, for public exhibition, for a minimum of
six weeks; and

(B)

the Chief Executive Officer be requested to report to Council following public
exhibition, with stakeholder and community feedback.

Attachments
Attachment A.

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030

2

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Background
1.

Well-functioning transport plays a vital role for the future of Sydney. The efficient and
safe movement of people and goods is essential for economic growth, and is a
hallmark of globally competitive cities. Cycling and walking are integral to our transport
future because they are the most accessible, equitable, sustainable and reliable forms
of transport.

2.

As Sydney’s density increases, localised services and more active transport are
essential to the liveability and efficient functioning of the city.

3.

The City is committed to making bicycle transport easier and safer, to make it
attractive and feasible for more people. Our Sustainable Sydney 2030 target for 10 per
cent of all trips in the city to be made by bike is ambitious. The Strategy builds on the
progress made over the last 10 years and keeps us moving toward this target.

4.

This Strategy updates and supersedes the City’s Cycle Strategy and Action Plan 20072017, adopted by Council in April 2007.

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030
5.

The draft Strategy set the targets, priorities and actions for increasing cycling and
meeting the Sustainable Sydney 2030 target.

6.

The strategy outlines four priority areas to make Sydney a cycling city:

7.

(a)

Connecting the network – creating a network of cycling infrastructure to make it
safer for people to ride in Sydney;

(b)

Supporting people to ride – understanding and addressing barriers and helping
people to start, and continue, riding;

(c)

Supporting business – partnering with employers to encourage staff to ride; and

(d)

Leading by example – sharing our expertise and being a positive influence for
improvements for cycling within and beyond our boundaries.

The Strategy includes a number of actions under each of the priority areas, designed
to collectively create the conditions to progress towards the target.

Key Implications
Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 Vision
8.

Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This plan is aligned with the
following strategic directions and objectives:

3

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

(a)

Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City – Globally competitive
cities are attractive places to live and easy to get around, to help businesses
attract mobile global talent, and to increase opportunities for direct face-to-face
connections. Sydney has consistently performed strongly in global rankings over
the past decade, though our challenges include transport constraints.

(b)

Direction 2 - provides a road map for the City to become A Leading
Environmental Performer. The City’s target is to reduce 2006 emissions by 70
per cent by 2030 and for net zero emissions across our area by 2050. Emissions
from transport are now 13 per cent of the total local government area (LGA)
emissions, and growing. Reducing emissions from the transport sector will be
essential to meet the City’s targets. Active transport and, in particular, cycling
has many benefits, including reducing local air pollution and greenhouse gas
emissions. There are 62,000 car trips less than five kilometres long taken each
working day in the city centre, creating more than 12,000 tonnes C02 each year.
If even half of these trips were done by cycling or walking instead, it would make
a significant contribution to reducing emissions.

(c)

Direction 3 - Integrated Transport for a Connected City – cycling and walking
increase the catchments of public transport. More commute trips by bike
improves the operating efficiency and reduces operational costs for public
transport by reducing the overload in the inner ring, where bus stops and train
stations have the longest dwell times. For peak hour trips up to 10 km, cycling is
competitive with driving and public transport for door-to-door travel time.
Reducing congestion helps freight, service and delivery traffic that needs to
access the city centre, North Sydney, airport and port areas – the busiest parts
of the Global Economic Corridor. Increasing commutes by bike helps reduce (or
delay) the need to increase capacity of rail, bus and traffic networks, especially in
the constrained inner city area.

(d)

Direction 4 - A City for Walking and Cycling – the Strategy is the City’s plan to
make Sydney a city for cycling, with actions in four priority areas to help achieve
the first half of Target 7, “at least 10 per cent of total trips made in the city are by
bicycle and 50 per cent by pedestrian movement”.

(e)

Direction 5 - A Lively and Engaging City Centre - Successful cities are alive and
inviting during both day and night. They offer art, design, culture and
entertainment, attractive public spaces and workplaces, great shopping
experiences and easy access. A bike network is part of creating a better
connected city and encouraging exploration of the city and its diverse retail and
entertainment offerings.

(f)

Direction 6 - Resilient and Inclusive Local Communities - cycling contributes to
social wellbeing and resilience in a range of ways. It supports social
connectedness through providing opportunities for casual and organised
interactions among diverse individuals and communities. Along with walking,
cycling is a key contributor to healthy, active lifestyles in an urban environment,
bringing both physical and mental health benefits. Additionally, cycling can foster
people’s sense of place and belonging through providing a richer, more finegrain experience of our city and its neighbourhoods than car-based travel.

(g)

Direction 7 - A Cultural and Creative City – cycling is associated with artistic and
creative industries and a bike network helps attract creative talent. Creative
institutions such as Bangarra Dance Theatre are promoting cycling at work.

4

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

(h)

Direction 8 - Housing for a Diverse Population – removing the requirement for
housing to include parking can make housing more affordable for the 39 per cent
of City of Sydney households that are car free. A bike network, combined with
public transport, enables more households to become car free, making them
able to redirect around an extra fifth of their income to rent or mortgage
repayments.

(i)

Direction 9 - Sustainable Development, Renewal and Design - How well a dense
area functions depends on the availability and efficiency of a range of
infrastructure, in particular transport. Greater use of space efficient transport
leaves more space for parks and community uses and improves amenity.

(j)

Direction 10 - Implementation through Effective Governance and Partnerships –
by taking an evidence based approach to strategy development and actions, and
by showing positive results for cycling and the community, the City shows
leadership and is able to influence other councils and agencies to be more
successful at achieving access, health and environmental outcomes.

Organisational Impact
9.

In developing the draft Strategy, consultation was undertaken with relevant City staff.
Actions and projects are being included in the budgets and business plans of
responsible units, using existing resources.

Risks
10.

The Strategy includes targets and actions impacted by external factors beyond the
City’s direct control, such as NSW Government approvals, policy and funding.

Social / Cultural / Community
11.

Bicycle related capital projects, and increased cycling, benefit the whole community,
whether or not they ride. Reduced congestion, quieter, less polluted streets, calmed
traffic, reduced crashes of all types, integrated footpath improvements, crossings,
plantings, street furniture, trees, rain gardens and improved lighting provide benefits
for everyone. Residents, workers, students and visitors have improved transport
options, including the 39 per cent of City of Sydney resident households who are car
free. People using wheelchairs or mobility scooters have extra space on which to
travel.

Environmental
12.

The City’s target is to reduce 2006 emissions by 70 per cent by 2030 and for net zero
emissions across our area by 2050. Emissions from transport are now 13 per cent of
the total LGA emissions and growing. Reducing emissions from the transport sector
will be essential to meet the City’s targets. Active transport and, in particular, cycling
has many benefits, including reducing local air pollution and greenhouse gas
emissions. There are 62,000 car trips less than five kilometres long taken each
working day in the city centre, creating more than 12,000 tonnes C02 each year. If
even half of these trips were done by cycling or walking instead, it would make a
significant contribution to reducing emissions.

Economic
13.

An economic analysis of building the bike network in inner Sydney by AECOM in 2010
identified a net economic benefit of $3.88 for every dollar invested in building the Inner
Sydney Regional Bike Network. There can be a localised negative short-term impact
on local businesses affected by the construction phase of any streetscape project.

5

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Budget Implications
14.

The draft Strategy includes actions that have capital and operating funding
implications. Most of these actions and projects are already covered within the City’s
existing budget and forward estimates. Some projects are expected to attract external
funding from the State and Federal Governments, and completion of the network will
depend on the level of State and Federal Government funding.

Relevant Legislation
15.

Local Government Act 1993.

16.

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012.

Critical Dates / Time Frames
17.

Start of public exhibition period of 6 weeks

26 June 2018

End of public exhibition

7 August 2018

Final Strategy submitted to Council for endorsement

later in 2018, dependent on
feedback received in the
exhibition period.

Public Consultation
18.

This draft Strategy is informed by responses from earlier consultation in October 2017,
including 492 online surveys and 265 people surveyed at Sydney Rides Festival
events.

19.

A summary of key findings of the pre-draft Strategy consultation is provided below.
(a)

90 per cent of people thought cycling was highly important;

(b)

people ride bikes for multiple purposes; 74 per cent for leisure; 60 per cent for
exercise; 60 per cent for work and 42 per cent for shopping;

(c)

top barriers preventing people from riding or riding more often were: not enough
infrastructure (44 per cent); and attitudes of other road users (36 per cent); and

(d)

40 per cent of people surveyed rode bikes regularly to work and around their
area; 35 per cent rode sometimes and would like to ride more; 13 per cent were
club or road riders; and 9 per cent did not ride, but would like to.

6

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

20.

18 June 2018

Following endorsement by Council, the draft Strategy will be placed on public
exhibition for six weeks.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM
Directory City Planning, Development and Transport
Fiona Campbell, Manager Cycling Strategy

7

Attachment A
Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan
2018-2030

8

DR
AF
T
DR
AF
T
DR
AF
T
DR
AF
T
DR
AF
T
DR
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Cycling Strategy
and Action Plan
For a more sustainable Sydney

2018-2030
9

10

Contents

01 		

Acknowledgement

4

02 		 Lord Mayor’s message

5

03 		

Executive summary

7

04

Four priorities, to increase cycling

12

Priority 1 Connecting the network

16

Priority 2 Supporting people to ride

20

Priority 3 Supporting businesses

24

Priority 4 Leadership and advocacy

28

05 		 Measuring the outcomes

32

06

More cycling delivers broader goals

35

07

Cycling in the city: progress since 2007

39

11

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

Acknowledgement

The City of Sydney
acknowledges Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander peoples
as the traditional custodians
of our land – Australia.

The City of Sydney acknowledges the Gadigal of the
Eora Nation as the traditional custodians of this place
we now call Sydney.
In 1788, the British established a convict outpost on the
shores of Sydney Harbour. This had far reaching and
devastating impacts on the Eora Nation, including the
occupation and appropriation of their traditional lands.
Despite the destructive impact of this invasion, Aboriginal
culture endured and is now globally recognised as one
of the world’s oldest living cultures.
Aboriginal peoples have shown, and continue to show,
enormous resilience coupled with generosity of spirit
towards other peoples with whom they now share
their land.
We recognise that, by acknowledging our shared
past, we are laying the groundwork for a future which
embraces all Australians, a future based on mutual
respect and shared responsibility for our land.

12
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Lord Mayor’s message

In
co
m
in
g

Lord Mayor’s
message

13
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

14
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Executive Summary

Executive summary

In the last decade, cycling
trips have doubled and
attitudes to cycling have
shifted significantly.

• Infrastructure Australia has listed the Inner Sydney
Regional Bike Network on the National Infrastructure
Priority List.
• All our neighbouring councils have started building a
connected network of separated cycleways.
• Riding a bike is an increasingly popular way for
children to get to school.

Well-functioning transport plays a vital role in the future
of Sydney. The efficient and safe movement of people
and goods is essential for economic growth, and is
a hallmark of a globally competitive city. Cycling and
walking are integral to our transport future because they
are the most accessible, equitable, sustainable and
reliable forms of transport.

• Positive images of people cycling are widely used to
market real estate and products.
• Workplace end-of-trip facilities are a high priority for
city employers (they’ve invested over $30 million in the
city centre in the last three years alone).
• Innovation in mobile technology has prompted the
private sector to provide share bikes and deliver food
by bicycle.

We are committed to making bicycle transport easier
and safer, so it is an attractive and feasible option for
more people.
Our Sustainable Sydney 2030 target for 10 per cent of
all trips in the city to be made by bike is ambitious. This
strategy builds on the progress made over the last 10
years and keeps us moving toward this target.

What we will do next
Connect the network – build a bike network to make it
safer for people to ride in Sydney
Support people to ride – understand and address
barriers and help people to start, and continue riding

Progress so far

Support business – partner with employers to
encourage staff to ride

The City has worked intensively on actions from our
previous 2007–2017 cycle strategy, investing an average
of $11 million per annum to build a safe and connected
bike network and cycling trips have doubled in the city.

Lead by example – share our expertise and be a positive
influence for improvements for cycling within and beyond
our boundaries.

Changing attitudes to cycling since 2007:
• NSW Government and NRMA now support separated
cycleway infrastructure.
• Transport for NSW has part-funded the City’s cycling
projects since 2015.

15
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

Our actions
Priority 1 | Connecting the network
1.1

1.10 Advocate to the NSW Government to complete 		
the Sydney City Centre Access Strategy
bike network

Complete the 11 regional bike routes, and 		
substantially complete the local bike network

1.2		 Build the regional routes as separated cycleways
where feasible and necessary

1.11 Advocate for Transport for NSW to fully fund their
portion of the network and pursue multi-year 		
funding agreements

1.3		 Add local wayfinding signs
1.4		 Improve safety and access throughout our area,
for example by providing new contra-flow
provisions, kerb ramps, reducing through traffic 		
and speed on local streets

1.12 Investigate improved intersection designs and 		
reduce delays for people riding
1.13 Investigate opportunities for more children’s riding
areas and learn to ride tracks

1.5		 Continue to provide bike parking in the public 		
domain on request, including on-street bike 		
parking corrals in suitable high demand locations,
and for public schools in our area
1.6		 Work with the NSW Government and developers
for safe, connected and comprehensive bicycle
infrastructure for large developments and
precincts, including Waterloo, Central to Eveleigh,
the Bays Precinct and Barangaroo
1.7		 Provide shared paths on, and alternative routes for,
state roads where the City is not currently
permitted to reallocate road space
1.8		 Investigate and respond to the community’s
suggestions and comments about the bike
network, to improve safety, access and comfort
1.9		 Advocate to the NSW Government for lower
speed limits

16
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Executive Summary

Priority 2 | Supporting people to ride
2.1

Target activities in areas where existing and new
infrastructure is connected

2.2		 Provide opportunities for people to build skills
and capabilities
2.3		 Distribute information about our bike network, 		
including maps and digital navigation
2.4		 Ensure our programs are informed by a strong 		
evidence base that address local community 		
needs and barriers
2.5		 Ensure our programs and communications are 		
inclusive and respond to the needs of our diverse
community
2.6		 Support children, school communities and families
to ride safely
2.7		 Stimulate people to have positive conversations
with their peers about riding and encourage their
friends to ride, through events and programs
2.8		 Create and support events that incorporate
bike riding
2.9		 Work to improve relations between road users and
encourage people to look out for each other
2.10 Monitor and evaluate our effectiveness and
incorporate learnings in future programs

17
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

Priority 3 | Supporting businesses
3.1

Work with businesses to encourage cycling,
particularly in locations with job growth and
change and where new cycling infrastructure
is built

3.2		 Work with the tourism, entertainment and 		
accommodation sector to encourage cycling
by visitors
3.3		 Deliver public, connected, end-of-trip facilities
in the city centre
3.4		 Share information on best practice and case studies
3.5		 Provide information and support for businesses 		
wanting to set up a bike fleet or encouragement 		
programs
3.6		 Support a bicycle friendly workplace accreditation
scheme
3.7		 Support and encourage bike based or related 		
enterprises or activities and work with operators
to maximise beneficial outcomes for Sydney
3.8		 Work with the bike industry to increase the range
of bikes available, to meet varying needs.

18
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Executive Summary

Priority 4 | Leadership and advocacy
4.1

Lead by example in encouraging our staff to ride
to work and for work trips

4.10 Advocate for more action from state and national
governments

4.2		 Continue to integrate cycling throughout our 		
organisation’s policies, operations and
community planning

4.11 Encourage the NSW Government to facilitate
successful operation of bike share

4.3		 Share knowledge and expertise with other 		
councils, cities and agencies

4.12 Advocate for changes to practices, legislation and
technical guidance which will improve and
increase cycling

4.4		 Support research and innovation, including for 		
service and delivery in the city centre

4.13 Advocate for more NSW government action on 		
driver education and road safety

4.5		 Build the community’s capacity to contribute to, 		
and advocate for, improved cycling conditions
and culture
4.6		 Identify and advocate for higher capacity 		
separated cycleways along the most direct and flat
routes with priority at intersections
4.7		 Pursue funding and implementation of the Inner 		
Sydney Regional Bike Network
4.8		 Push for integration between cycling and public 		
transport operations, incorporation of cycling 		
into transport projects and for building paths 		
alongside rail lines
4.9		 Advocate for fairer prioritisation of street space and
allocation of time at signals

19
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

Four priorities
to increase cycling

20
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Executive Summary

21
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

Sydney needs infrastructure
and programs that support a
growing population and keep
our city moving.

The City’s Sustainable Sydney 2030 vision for a green,
global, connected city calls for a safe and attractive
walking and cycling network. This helps reduce traffic
congestion, improve health and wellbeing, and reduce
air pollution and greenhouse gas emissions.
Our Sustainable Sydney target of 10 per cent of all trips
in the city to be made by bike by 2030 is ambitious and
challenging. We have four priorities to achieve this.

Sydney is Australia’s largest global city. Light rail, the
Sydney Metro and increased bus, ferry and train services
will help meet increasing travel demand, but they are
not sufficient to serve our rapidly growing population.
Walking and cycling remain the most efficient and
sustainable ways to make short trips to work, schools,
shops and parks in our area. This is especially true
in a constrained and crowded inner city environment.
More people riding bikes for transport frees up space
on the road for deliveries and services, and space on
busy public transport, particularly in the city centre.

22
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

23

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

Connecting the network

We are building a safe bike
network connecting people
and destinations, suitable for
all ages and abilities, within
250 metres of all residents.
It will serve workers, students,
residents and visitors
travelling in, to or through
the city.

Our approach
There is strong evidence showing safe connected cycling
infrastructure is essential to making bike riding a viable
transport option for the majority of the population.
Providing a connected bike network is the most
important thing we can do to encourage more people
of all ages and abilities to ride safely, both in the city
centre and surrounding areas.
Our bike network features separated cycleways, shared
paths, bike lanes, and light and slow traffic streets.
These all contribute to create safe, comfortable and
convenient journeys.
Our benchmark is a bike network that is safe enough for
a 12 year old to ride alone.
We actively engage our community to help address
challenges and improve the quality of our projects.

City of Sydney’s planned bike network
Our cycling infrastructure safely links the inner city,
homes, schools, businesses and other destinations.
The planned network of local and regional routes
underpins the City’s transport and environmental goals.
The regional routes are the main corridors, which bring
larger flows of people into the city from across the inner
Sydney area. The local routes are the connections,
bringing people closer to the doors of homes and
businesses.

24
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Priority 1 | Connecting the network
Berrys
Bay

Lavender
Bay

EY
H

AR
BO

SYDNEY HARBOUR

UR
B

R.

To North Sydney

SY

DN

Walsh
Bay

TUNNEL

Barangaroo
Reserve

WATSON
RD
Circular
Quay

T

BON

RO
ADW
AY
WYLD
E ST

F
A ST

NG
AR
DE
RO
SLY

ST
VICTORIA

BA

EP
AR

ST

KE ST

ST
RILEY

BOUR

Moore
Park

KE ST
BOUR

CL

EV

EL

AN

CHARLE

S ST

D

The
Entertainment
Quarter
LAN
ST
SOUTH
DOWLIN
G

DACEY AVE

To UNSW

L AVE

BO

O’DEA AV

GADIGA

E

To UNSW

SE

TLA

ND

ST

AV
E

EPSOM RD

RIA

ST

RV
E

ZE

JUGLEOR
IUS GE
AV
E

AN
RD ST

PO

RE

HANSA

RTM

KE

ST

BO
UR

DO
X

ST

RD

AD

Y

ST

M

LE

Sydney Bike Network
Completed
Planned

AVE

NING

BER
Y
ROSE

H ST

BOTA
NY

T

RALP

DO
OD
YS

To Randwick

Regional Bike Network

Local Bike Network

BO

UR

KE

RD

RD

D

DUN

LR

AVE

VICTO

Y
W
H
S
CE
IN
PR

To Centennial Park

D

Moore
Park

U
RK

ST

RD
EU
ST
ON
HU

Sydney
Park

EL

CRYSTA
L ST

YOUNG
ST

ST

PARK RD

NT

PB

ST

Moore Park
Golf Course

E

N

MA

EN

SYDNEY

CA
M

ST

LACHLA
N

RD

LE

DIB

Y
TAN
BO

ST

D

BE
LM
ON
TS
T

BRID
GE ST

GE ST

ST

Y
VO

CE

M

W
BO

EY

ST

FLORA ST

GR

ST

CO

To St Peters

RL

SHORT ST
ALLEN ST

N

ST

HA

I
TA

MACDON
ALD

N

CO

UN

RD

Erskineville
E ST Park

ASHMOR

D

Sydney
Cricket
Ground

ST

ZAMIA ST

GEOR

ST

ST

FO

To Marrickville

ST
VOY
MCE

ST

PDE

LIPS

BRAY

N ST

RD

OU
OR
A ST

Redfern
Park

NGTO

O

KR

LB
MA
ST
TELOPE

DANKS

WELLI
ST
ND
KLA
BUC Alexandria
Park

XF

ANZAC

ST
DE

P
AY
ILW

RA

O

MO
OR

GH

ST

UR

T

To Bondi

YOUNG

N ST

PHIL

REN
HENDERSON RD

NS

VICTORI

KE ST

RILEY ST

DA
RLIN
GH
UR
ST
RD

AV
E
R
TW
O

ST
TO
N
ST W
IL
WALKER

REDFER

BUR

To Stanmore

AVE
OM
RC

ST

ST

GIB

ST

W

ST

GEORGE

ST

S ST

T
ST

To Edgecliff

E
AV

DRIVER AVE

NS

N
ILSO

BELVOIR ST

AND ST

NAPIER

OY
S

TH

WELLS ST
TURNER

ZR

ST

ST
REGENT

PHE
SHE

ST

GTO

NELL

BUCK

KIN

ST

AH

ER

M
WO

C PDE
ANZA

LAWSON

RIN

G ST

FIT

AR

Prince
Alfred
Park

CLEVEL

D
CO

CARILLON AVE

BURTON

EN

ST

HE
ITC
M

ST

IN
H
JO

D

R

N

H

EN

O

D

N

PK

SE

TY

CI

RD

S

IS

M

D

R

MYRTLE ST

RPA
Hospital

ST

GREENS RD

ST

ER

RD

D

RS ST

T

INE

SS

SL

NE

N

CO
OP

RD

The University
of Sydney

R

FLINDE

D
OO

EG

TH

JO

TIO

ST

BROADWAY

Victoria
Park

O

CAMPBELL ST

Belmore
Park

LEE

LL

ST

ST

SS

NC

SCIENCE

RD
ATTA

XF

TH

CASTLEREAG

IS

ST

R

PITT ST

GEORGE ST

RR

RO

JU

TAIN ST

RW

T

MA

O

ST

NN

A
RY

T

KELLY ST

ST

DE

EN

RAM

PAR

DIS

HA
SS

E

NE

RD

S

HN

JO

EB

HAY ST

JO

GL

RD

MOUN

ST

BAY ST

.
BR

RM

PY
R

To Leichhardt

ERN

R

ST

ST

T
ON

AD

DR
XAN

LIVERPO
OL ST

GD

D
LD

BR

I

W

RD

GREENK
NOWE
AVE
HUGHES
ST

M ST

KENT ST

LIN

TR

T

S
RY

AR
QU

IE

I

W

CR

GE
ID

ST

Elizabeth
Bay

A

WILLIA

SF

OGU
E

RD N
L
AM
GR

M

Hyde
Park
PARK

The
Domain
A
R
YS
R
D

M

W PER W H

BOUR

MURRAY

DRUITT ST

R
DA

ST

FIG

ST

COLLEGE ST

Darling
Harbour

ST

IN

E
TTL
WA

PO

ST
AN

M

MIN

.

NT

D
AR
AR
LW

GE
ID
BRWentworth
Park

E

N

VI

A
GR

WE
ST

ONT BR

O
RM
PY

BU

RD

EB

RD

LE

IA

OR
CT

Blackwattle
Bay

CO

H ST

PYRM

ST

ST

CASTLEREAG

LER

MIL

ST

H ST

UNION

AM ST

GRANTH

W

.

ST

AL

Jubilee
ND
Park
PE

Woolloomooloo
Bay

TH ST

ST

AC B
R

GL

CHAPMAN RD

LL
RI

The
Royal
Botanic
Gardens

ST

ELIZABE

K

.

N

. BR

Rozelle
Bay

To Lilyﬁeld

NT

MACQUARIE
ST

BE IS

ANZ

BE

KING ST
BA

GLE

To Rozelle

KENT ST

SUSSEX ST

To Bays

ALE

RD
HICKSON

Tumbalong
Bay

White
Bay

CAHILL EXPY

Planned

ES

PI

E

AV
E

HARCO

To Domestic Airport & Mascot

URT PD

E

SE AV
E

RD

LL

Recreational Routes
Completed

PRIMRO

AL

N
CA

To Int’l Airport & Cooks River

Completed
GI

To Eastlakes

Planned
0

250

500

750

Scale: 1:22,000 at A3

25
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

1000m

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

Actions
We will:
1.1

Complete the 11 regional bike routes, and 		
substantially complete the local bike network

1.2	Build the regional routes as separated cycleways
where feasible and necessary
1.3

Add local wayfinding signs

1.4	Improve safety and access throughout our area,
including:
• replace bicycle shoulder lanes
• add new contra-flow provisions
• lower speeds and reduce traffic on local streets
• install kerb ramps at road closures
• upgrade stormwater grates to be bike-safe
• maintain road surfaces and coordinate with
utility authorities
• regular asset inspections, and street cleaning
and maintenance of our bike network and signs
1.5	Continue to provide bike parking in the public
domain on request, including on-street bike
parking corrals in suitable high demand locations,
and continue to provide bike racks for public
schools in our area

1.6	Work with the NSW Government and developers
on the planning and delivery of safe, connected
and comprehensive bicycle infrastructure for large
developments, foreshore and state government
planning precincts, including Waterloo, Central
to Eveleigh, the Bays Precinct and Barangaroo
1.7	Provide shared paths on, and alternative routes
for, state roads where the City is not currently
permitted to reallocate road space
1.8	Investigate and respond to suggestions and
comments from our community about the bike
network to improve safety, access and comfort
1.9	Advocate to the NSW Government for lower
speed limits
1.10	Advocate to the NSW Government to complete
the Sydney City Centre Access Strategy bike
network
1.11	Advocate for TfNSW to fully fund their portion
of the network and pursue multi-year funding
agreements with Transport for NSW
1.12	Investigate improved intersection designs and
reduce delays for people riding
1.13	Investigate opportunities for more riding areas
and learn to ride tracks for children

26
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Priority 1 | Connecting the network

Case study

Case study

Bourke Street

Working with our communities

In 2011 the City completed a 3.2 kilometre separated
cycleway along Bourke Street, part of a seven-kilometre
route between Mascot and Sydney Harbour. The project
included upgraded footpaths and services, and added
new street lighting, street furniture, raingardens and
additional trees. The upgrade saw Bourke Street
transform into one of Surry Hills’ most attractive streets
with the cycleway regularly featuring in real estate
advertisements.

We consult our community for big and small projects,
from new shared paths to separated cycleways.
Community engagement can include letters,
doorknocking, information sessions and newsletters.
We share plans with local residents and businesses so
they can have their say on the design of new projects.
This ensures our work reflects the needs of our
community.
In 2012, the City consulted 6,700 residents and
organisations about the 2.4 kilometre city to Green
Square cycleway along George Street in Redfern.

There are now five times as many bike trips on Bourke
Street than before the cycleway was built, with around
1,700 bike trips each weekday. Some of those trips are
by children, riding to Bourke Street and Crown Street
public schools.

Redfern Fire Station employees had some concerns
about the original George Street separated cycleway
design. The station did not have adequate space to
clean fire trucks and staff parked the trucks on the
footpath to wash them. This meant people walked out
onto the road. The City worked closely with the fire
station and changed the plans to extend the footpath
and provide new space to clean the fire trucks into our
new design.

Bourke Street School principal, Peter Johnston, said
“About 80 per cent of the school’s pupils walk, ride or
scooter to and from school every day. The kids enjoy it
because they can ride along the bike lane to the school
gate. Riding is seen as a fun, social activity rather than
any sort of chore. And with parents joining in too, getting
to school becomes a real family event”.

The project delivered a high-quality project, improving
safety for people walking and helping local firefighters.

The cycleway won a Sydney Design Award and an
Australian Institute of Landscape Architects Award. It is
featured in the NACTO Global Street Design Guide as a
best practice case study.

27
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

Supporting people to ride

We support people to ride
by understanding their
challenges and providing
them with the right tools and
solutions.

We target high return opportunities, like places with
connected bike routes and where changes are disrupting
travel patterns.
Normalising riding
While many people ride in Sydney, there is still some
way to go before bike riding becomes a popular way
to travel. Some people may hesitate to start riding, and
others who already ride may be reluctant to talk about
the benefits.

While the City works on building a connected bike
network, a parallel behaviour change program
encourages more people to try riding.

Communicating the diversity of riding helps dispel
the myth that ‘bike riding is not for me’ by showing
the range of people who ride and the benefits they
enjoy. The City’s programs and communications
represent different people who ride in the city, from
children learning to ride and families with cargo bikes,
to employees riding to work and retirees and tourists
exploring the city.

Our approach
The City designs programs based on social research,
surveys, observation, pilot projects, and international
best practice. We apply this evidence to a people-centred
design process so that our programs are robust and have
a high chance of success.

Social relationships are important to spread positive
messages about riding, since people are more likely to
keep riding if they have friends who ride.

Environmental, personal and social factors influence
how people choose to travel, their habits and their
attitudes. These include:

Encouraging safe and respectful behaviour

• connections between areas where people live and work

The City’s 2017 social research found many people
have a fear of riding in traffic. Around 59 per cent of
women think that generally, it is ‘dangerous to ride on
the road’. In inner Sydney, ‘too much traffic, making it
dangerous’ discourages 48 per cent of men and 63 per
cent of women.

• infrastructure like separated cycleways and signs,
and improvements such as shade trees
• popularity and perceived safety of different travel types
• the accessibility of transport options
• cost and convenience

The City promotes ‘gracious’ behaviour by all road
users. This encourages people driving, riding and
walking to be considerate of one another, and have
positive interactions. If all people using the road look
out for one another, people are more likely to feel riding
is a safe, acceptable, easy and quick way to get around.

• physical fitness, skills, knowledge and lifestyle
• previous experiences, familiarity and feelings
• beliefs about group and individual identity
• integration with other modes of transport

28
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Priority 2 | Supporting people to ride

Increasing bike riding skills and confidence
Helping people to become confident to ride in Sydney
is critical to increasing the number of people riding
bikes. There are many ways to build confidence,
including through riding skills courses, personalised
advice and knowledgeable friends.

Actions
We will:
2.1	Target activities in areas where existing and new
infrastructure is connected

We provide maps, route advice, digital navigation tools
and wayfinding signs to highlight the best way to travel
by bike, so people know how to safely get around.

2.2	Provide opportunities for people to build skills
and capabilities
2.3	Distribute information about our bike network,
including maps and digital navigation
2.4	Ensure our programs are informed by a strong
evidence base that address local community
needs and barriers
2.5	Ensure our programs and communications
are inclusive and respond to the needs of our
diverse community
2.6	Support children, school communities and
families to ride safely
2.7	Stimulate people to have positive conversations
with their peers about riding and encourage their
friends to ride, through events and programs
2.8	Create and support events that incorporate bike
riding
2.9	Work to improve relations between road users
and encourage people to look out for each other
2.10	Monitor and evaluate our effectiveness and
incorporate learnings in future programs

29
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

Case study
Share the Path

A survey in 2015 of more than
500 people at nine shared path
locations found 88 per cent of
people walking feel extremely,
very or moderately safe
compared with 80 per cent
in 2012.

As more people ride in Sydney, mutual respect between
people walking and riding on shared paths is more
important than ever. Share the Path is a face-to-face
education program held four times a week where City
staff talk to people walking and riding about courteous
behaviour.
We remind people to always give way to people walking,
slow down, pass at a safe distance, and ‘ring their bell
early’ as a courtesy when passing. We also remind
people walking to be alert to people on bikes, listen out
for bells and keep left. A smile or wave is a bonus!
Twice a week bike mechanics offer free tune-ups to
engage bike riders in longer conversations. We also
distribute bells, maps and information about events,
projects and cycling courses. We share photos of people
holding chalkboard messages on social media, to create
a sense of a community.
In 2017, we ran 133 Share the Path sessions, distributing
4,145 maps and 1,050 bells.
A survey in 2015 of more than 500 people at nine shared
path locations found 88 per cent of people walking feel
extremely, very or moderately safe compared with
80 per cent in 2012.
Our Share the Path program has been emulated
in other areas including Parramatta, Inner West, North
Sydney, City of Melbourne, City of Adelaide and County
of Marin in California.

30
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Priority 2 | Supporting people to ride

Case study
Think of the Impact car dooring campaign
Car dooring happens when a driver or passenger
opens a car door into the path of someone riding a bike.
It’s a major cause of injuries to people riding in the city.
The Think of the Impact campaign was developed to
raise awareness and help reduce the frequency of
incidents.

Pre and post campaign research revealed two thirds
of drivers would be likely to check for bike riders after
seeing the campaign, up from just over half before the
campaign began. Among bike riders, there was a big
jump from 39 per cent to 52 per cent who said they
would be more likely to ride wide of the door zone after
seeing the campaign.

The campaign targeted people who drive and people
who ride, encouraging drivers to look for bike riders
before opening a door and bike riders to ride wide of
the door zone. The NRMA was a campaign partner and
helped the City reach out to its large network of drivers.

Reducing the incidence of car dooring is a long-term
behaviour change objective for the City of Sydney.

Messaging took place through SydneyCycleways social
media and e-newsletter channels, and advertising
on bus back posters, taxi back posters and roadside
billboards near locations with a higher incidence
of doorings.
Stickers were designed to be placed inside car doors
and on bikes to remind people to look out for each other.
There were 1,310 online requests for stickers and more
than 23,000 were distributed. Survey data showed that
most people ordered stickers for both themselves and
a friend.
The survey found that 69 per cent of recipients were
more likely to look before opening their car door, and 68
per cent of recipients were more likely to ride wide of the
door zone after receiving the stickers.

31
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

Supporting businesses
We support employers to
encourage staff to ride for
health and productivity, and
we support bike related
enterprises.
Businesses are key partners in achieving our goals and
were the catalyst for the City’s first cycling strategy in 2007.

Actions

Employers recognise that Sydney needs to keep up with
other global cities to provide the lifestyle their employees
demand, including easy mobility and opportunities to be
active. They also understand time lost in traffic means
lost productivity and a healthy workforce is better for the
bottom line.

We will:
3.1	Work with businesses to encourage cycling,
particularly in locations with job growth and
change and where new cycling infrastructure
is built

Record investment in end-of-trip facilities have made
secure bike parking, lockers and showers increasingly
common in Sydney workplaces. This makes riding a bike
more convenient for many employees, and can
help overcome barriers such as concerns about personal
appearance at work.

3.2	Work with the tourism, entertainment and
accommodation sector to encourage cycling by
visitors
3.3	Deliver public, connected, end-of-trip facilities in
the city centre
3.4	Share information on best practice and case
studies

Our approach
We work with employers to help them to encourage
more riding. The City has developed a range of support
mechanisms and resources, as each workplace has
different needs. Employees can also participate in bikefocused forums, rides and other workplace programs.

3.5	Provide information and support for businesses
wanting to set up a bike fleet or encouragement
programs
3.6	Support a bicycle friendly workplace
accreditation scheme

Several changes in the market today did not exist when
our first cycling strategy was written, including dockless
bike share and app-based food delivery by bicycle. The
City has worked with new businesses where possible
to provide guidelines, particularly around safety and
community concerns. There will be further changes to
this landscape, particularly around in-app mapping,
consolidated last-kilometre delivery by bicycle, and the
increasing use of electric assist and cargo bikes. Each
new change will present challenges and opportunities.

3.7	Support and encourage bike based or related
enterprises or activities and work with operators
to maximise beneficial outcomes for Sydney
3.8	Work with the bike industry to increase the range
of bikes available, to meet varying needs

We welcome new businesses and will work with them to
ensure they are aware of their local impact, safety and the
legislative landscape.

32
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Priority 3 | Supporting businesses

Case study
Working with other organisations
The City is not alone in championing healthy streets.
The Heart Foundation wants Australians to have the
best cardiovascular health in the world, and actively
campaigns for urban environments that encourage
people to be active.

“Physically active people live longer; have better
managed weight, lower blood pressure and healthier
cholesterol levels. They are also likely to feel more
confident, happy, relaxed and sleep better,” said
Mitchell.

“People tell us they’d cycle more if they felt safer on the
road,” explains NSW Director of Cardiovascular Health
at the Heart Foundation, Julie Anne Mitchell. “That’s why
we support bicycle infrastructure that helps people feel
safe and confident to ride a bicycle and make an active
transport choice.”

The Heart Foundation partners with the City to promote
healthy heart information at events, including the Suit
Ride and Sydney Rides Challenge.

“There is great potential for
getting more people riding for
health and helping to tackle
Australia’s obesity crisis.
Organisations such as ours,
businesses and government
agencies all have a role to
play to get more Australians
moving”.

The Heart Foundation commissions surveys into cycling
participation and incentives, advocates for better
infrastructure, promotes active travel to school, and
makes the business case for more people cycling.
The Heart Foundation’s 2014 ‘Blueprint for an active
Australia’ found the built environment can effect how
much physical activity people undertake each day, and
how likely they are to choose active travel options like
walking and cycling. The report suggests streets that
invite people to walk and cycle more can decrease the
incidence of coronary heart disease, obesity and type
2 diabetes.

33
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

“Modern global businesses
know the cities that
provide world class cycling
infrastructure and encourage
active transport are the ones
that attract highly sought-after
talent. There’s good reason
that businesses in London,
Paris and New York have
embraced cycling, and it’s
great Sydney businesses are
doing the same.”

Copyright Daniel Munoz - Fairfax Syndication

Dr Tim Williams, Committee for Sydney CEO, 2017

Case study
End-of-trip facilities
Barangaroo South is home to the largest bike end-of-trip
facility in the southern hemisphere. Westpac’s section
alone includes 1,120 bike parking spaces, 1,240 lockers
and 110 showers for staff. Westpac surveyed staff before
moving to the new office space and overwhelmingly staff
wanted a greater focus on wellbeing, including end-oftrip facilities to support riding.

Private sector investment in end-of-trip facilities has
skyrocketed as a result of tenant and employee demand,
and a growing connected bike network.
A 2015 survey of 280 tenants by commercial property
managers Colliers International found tenants value
bicycle parking and end-of-trip facilities over car parking
in their office buildings.

Westpac employee Sally McGeoch is among those
making the most of the world class facility. Sally rides
her e-bike to the city each day, dropping her kids to
school along the way.

In 2017, Great Places to Work surveyed employees
about end-of-trip facilities at their workplace. Seventy five
per cent of respondents had bike racks at work and a
quarter said the racks were typically 75 to 100 per cent
full. Three in four workplaces also provided showers and
more than 85 per cent of people surveyed used them at
least weekly.

“I ride from Randwick every day and use the cycleways
along Bourke, Liverpool and Kent streets. It’s by far the
quickest, most enjoyable and most reliable way to get in
and out of town quickly as a working mum”, Sally said.

More than 35 customised end-of-trip facilities worth over
$30 million have been installed in Sydney over the past
three years alone. End-of-trip facility design specialists
Five At Heart CEO Mark Rossiter said businesses
support bike riding because they know active, healthy
staff are more productive and that directly contributes to
their bottom line.
“Employers have to cater to the demands of the modern
worker and now more than ever, that includes an active
lifestyle to support their time spent in the office. Stateof-the-art facilities are being rolled out by landlords
nationwide, encouraging a healthier and more
focused workplace.”

34
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

35

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

Leadership and advocacy

Our organisation, staff and
facilities set a leading example
for bike riding in Sydney. We
share our expertise and we
are a positive influence for
improvements within and
beyond our boundaries.

We continue to integrate cycling into the City’s policies
and practices. For example:
• our hoardings and scaffoldings guidelines protect
cyclewaysas well as footpaths
• our fleet drivers get extra training on driving safely
around people riding, and we run ‘exchanging places’,
events to enable our truck drivers and the public to
exchange views and experiences
• our cycleways are prioritised in the regular street
cleansing schedule
• our sustainability programs incorporate and encourage
riding, for example Smart Green Apartments provides a
guide for retrofitting bicycle parking facilities.

The City’s leadership role in bike infrastructure design
and ongoing partnerships with other councils and
agencies supports people to ride in our area and
beyond.

City staff have access to good end-of-trip facilities to
encourage them to ride to work. Our well-used bike fleet
is available for staff to save time getting to meetings, site
visits and errands, and a monthly lunchtime ride provides
encouragement and practice for staff new to finding their
way around by bike.

Our approach
We actively collaborate with others, to develop working
relationships and positive outcomes. We have regular
seminars to build capacity among professional and
community networks.
Through creative thinking, innovation and being
responsive to others, we are able to progress problem
solving on the many levels required to effect meaningful
change, not just within our own local area and
jurisdiction.

36
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Priority 4 | Leadership and advocacy

Actions
We will:
4.1	Lead by example in encouraging our staff to ride
to work and for work trips

4.7	Pursue funding and implementation of the Inner
Sydney Regional Bike Network

4.2	Continue to integrate cycling throughout
our organisation’s policies, operations and
community planning

4.8	Push for integration between cycling and public
transport operations, incorporation of cycling
into transport projects and for building paths
alongside rail lines

4.3	Share knowledge and expertise with other
councils, cities and agencies
4.4	Support research and innovation, including for
service and delivery in the city centre
4.5	Build the community’s capacity to contribute to,
and advocate for, improved cycling conditions
and culture
4.6

Identify and advocate for higher capacity
separated cycleways along the most direct and
flat routes with priority at intersections

4.9	Advocate for fairer prioritisation of street space
and allocation of time at signals
4.10	Advocate for more action from state and national
governments
4.11	Encourage the NSW Government to facilitate
successful operation of bike share
4.12	Advocate for changes to practices, legislation
and technical guidance which will improve and
increase cycling
4.13	Advocate for more NSW government action on
driver education and road safety

37
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

Working with others in the future
Potential new connections:

As the bike network expands and demand for active
transport increases, the City, state government agencies
and neighbouring councils will need to work together
even more. Supporting future demand for more walking
and cycling in Sydney will include closing gaps in the
network, providing new connections and increasing
capacity.

• Active transport path along the southern boundary
of Moore Park Golf Course between O’Dea Avenue
cycleway and Anzac Parade as part of an improved
connection between Green Square and University of
NSW
• The Domain to Kings Cross – a direct connection
aligned with the rail viaduct, over the steep
Woolloomooloo valley.

Filling gaps in the network:
• Active transport connection between Surry Hills and
Chippendale across the Central station rail lines north
of Cleveland Street
• Active transport connection(s) at Eveleigh across the
rail lines between Macdonaldtown and Redfern as part
of a Redfern station upgrade.
Provide greater active transport capacity:
• Central to Eveleigh active transport link – alongside the
rail corridor, as part of the Central to Eveleigh project,
to reduce pressure on public transport and traffic
networks.
• Improved active transport links where lack of capacity
is impacting safety, such as the connection between
Pyrmont Bridge and King Street and the Sydney
Harbour Bridge cycleway.
• Grade separated active transport crossings at key
major intersections to reduce delay for all road users.
• Improved active transport access to the re-established
Glebe Island Bridge connection, to cater for increased
demand (such as from the future City West Cycle Link)

38
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Priority 4 | Leadership and advocacy

Case study
An Inner Sydney Regional Bike Network
Sydney’s population and jobs growth will lead to a
40 per cent increase in trips within 20 years if unabated.
This trip growth could be higher still around the city
centre. Cycling is a highly efficient and cost-effective
solution for shorter trips. It helps to free up much needed
capacity on public transport to accommodate growth
and pressure on our roads for services and delivery.

Since 2009, the City of Sydney has led and advocated
for the Inner Sydney Regional Bike Network,
collaborating with councils and the NSW Government.
Covering 10 council areas and a 10-kilometre catchment
around the city centre, the proposed network will
complete the remaining 136km of the 191km planned to
make cycling a safe, viable and time-competitive option
for trips in inner Sydney. This will help relieve worsening
congestion on the transport system in Australia’s most
productive urban area.

A business case of the Inner Sydney Regional Bike
Network for Infrastructure Australia conservatively
calculated a benefit to cost ratio of 2.65. The economic
benefit of $901 million, includes health savings of $1.2
billion and congestion savings of $85 million. Commuters
switching to cycling from car and public transport will
save on vehicle costs ($87 million), tolls ($3 million),
parking costs ($3.5 million) and fares ($226 million).

The Inner Sydney Regional Bike Network is the first bike
project to receive national backing as one of Australia’s
most important projects on the national infrastructure
priority list. The project is now included in the NSW
Government’s Future Transport Strategy and the Greater
Sydney Commission’s district plan. Transport for NSW
are now developing a similar regional bike network plan
for Parramatta.
The project has the potential to significantly reduce car
trips. More than two million car trips in Sydney each day
are less than two kilometres and nearly five million are
under five kilometres. Research shows more than
70 per cent of residents would ride if the infrastructure
were there to support them.

39
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

Measuring the outcomes
We will measure progress on and outcomes from the
cycling strategy at three levels:
• the Sustainable Sydney 2030 target of 10 per cent of all
trips in the city to be made by bike
• indicators of safety and growth in cycling
• indicators against actions in our four priority areas.
We will regularly report on our progress
implementing the strategy.

Monitoring progress against our target
We have developed the cycling strategy to work toward achieving the Sustainable Sydney 2030 target of 10
per cent of all trips in the city to be made by bike. Achieving this target depends on funding from the NSW and
Commonwealth governments.

Proportion of trips made by bike
Indicator

Baseline

Interim
targets

2030

Data source

Data
frequency

proportion of journeys to work by
bike by City residents

3.4%
(2016)

5% (2021)

10%

Census

Every 5 years

proportion of journeys to work by
bike by people working in the City

1.8%
(2016)

3% (2021)

10%

Census

Every 5 years

proportion of all trips under 10km
made by bike by residents of Inner
Sydney Statistical Subdivision

3.3%
(2012)

6% (2021)

10%

Sydney Cycling Survey (Transport
for NSW)

tbc by TfNSW

40
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Measuring the outcomes

Monitoring progress indicators
These indicators provide a measure of progress towards our target.

People feel safe to ride
Indicator

Baseline

Interim
targets

2030

Data source

Data
frequency

Proportion of people who ride who
feel somewhat and very safe riding
in inner Sydney

53%
(2017)

60% (2023)

80%

Active transport survey

Every 3 years

Crashes involving people riding in
our council area

108
(2015)

85 (2021)

50

RMS crash database

Annually

Indicator

Baseline

Interim
targets

2030

Data source

Data
frequency

Number of bikes counted at
intersections in our council area

tbc (2018)

+50%
(2024)

+100%

Intersection counts (75 sites)

Twice yearly
from March
2018

Number of bikes at key counter
sites in our council area

tbc (2018)

+50%
(2024)

+100%

Permanent bike counters
(18 sites)

Monthly

Proportion of City residents
who rode a bike in the past week/
past year

20% (2017)
32% (2017)

25% (2021)
40% (2021)

30%
>50%

National cycling participation
survey

Every 2 years

More people riding

Monitoring progress against our four priorities
The cumulative and combined effect of actions in all four priority areas will help towards achieving the target.
They will be monitored using these measures.

Priority 1 – Building a connected network
Measure

Baseline

Interim
targets

2030

Data source

Data
frequency

Percentage of regional routes
completed*

48%

80%

100%

Measured

Annually

Percentage of local network
completed*

18%

35%
2024

60%

Proportion of residents living within
250m of completed bike network

62%

72%
2024

94%

Generated from GIS map and
Census data

Every 5 years

* Based on the NSW Government providing full level of funding for projects which are eligible, and the City achieving cost efficiencies of 10-30%
(route dependent)

Priority 2 – Supporting people to ride
Measure

Baseline

Interim
targets

2030

Data source

Data
frequency

Number of people attending events
and rides

20,875
(2017)

Increase
2024

+100%

Measured

Annually

Proportion riding regularly 3
months after cycling course

69%

75%
2024

75%

Survey

Quarterly

Proportion of riders who feel
confident when riding in Sydney

75%
(2017)

77%
2024

80%

Active transport survey

Every 3 years

41
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan
Priority 3 – Supporting businesses to encourage cycling
Measure

Baseline

Interim
targets

2030

Data source

Data
frequency

Proportion who say their workplace
encourages people to ride

tba

+10%
(2022)

tba

Survey

Annually

Number of workplaces with
end-of-trip facilities

194
(2012)

+10%
(2022)

+50%

Floorspace and employment
survey

Every 5 years

Number of employees in those
buildings

104,500
(2012)

Priority 4 – Leadership and advocacy for cycling
Measure

Baseline

Interim
targets

2030

Data source

Data
frequency

Attendance at capacity building
seminars & forums

240 (2017)

300 (2022)

400

Counts

Annually

Staff bike fleet use
(km travelled p.a.)

950km/m

1000km
(2022)

1200km

Internal records

Monthly

42
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

More cycling delivers broader goals

More cycling delivers
broader goals

Sustainable Sydney 2030
10 strategic directions

Cycling supports the City’s strategies
Cycling contributes to making Sydney green, global and
connected and to all of the City’s strategic directions.
It also aligns with our key strategies and policies.
A City for All: Social Sustainability Policy
Cycling contributes to social wellbeing and resilience
in many ways. It supports social connectedness by
providing opportunities for casual and organised
interactions among diverse individuals and communities.
Along with walking, cycling is a key contributor to
healthy, active lifestyles in an urban environment,
bringing both physical and mental health benefits.
Cycling can foster people’s sense of place and
belonging through providing a richer, more fine-grain
experience of our city and its neighbourhoods than carbased travel.

1

A globally competitive and
innovative city

2

A leading environmental performer

3

Integrated transport for a
connected city

4

A city for walking and cycling

Resilient Sydney Cycling infrastructure can contribute
to a city’s resilience as it diversifies transport options,
especially when there are failures or strains in transport
systems. Cycleways are used by emergency vehicles
when motorised traffic is blocked. Bikes are useful in
disaster emergency response.

5

A lively, engaging city centre

6

Vibrant local communities and
economies

7

A cultural and creative city

8

Housing for a diverse population

9

Sustainable development, renewal
and design

A City for All: Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan
2017–2021 Our cycling services and events offer
opportunities for people with disability to be more active.
For example, specialised personal training in tandem
riding for people with low vision, and a balance bike
clinic for children on the autism spectrum. Separated
cycleways provide a smoother alternative than footpaths
for people with wheelchairs or mobility scooters.

10
43
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Implementation through effective
governance and partnerships

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

Walking Strategy and Action Plan Many actions and
programs in the walking and cycling strategies overlap or
complement each other. Examples include: safer routes
to schools and the Share the Path program.

Environmental Strategy and Action Plan 2016–2021
An increase in people riding for transport reduces
emissions and improves air quality. The strategy will
help the City meet our environmental targets.

Economic Development Strategy Cycling has a strong
role in building a liveable and accessible city and helps
businesses seeking the best talent, particularly for the
knowledge and finance sectors. It is increasingly
important for tourism. Cycling projects create more jobs
per dollar than other transport projects. Cycling also
offers a way of exploring our villages and neighbourhoods,
and supporting their art galleries, specialty retailers,
cafes and restaurants.

The City’s target is to reduce 2006 emissions by 70
per cent by 2030 and for net zero emissions across
our area by 2050. Today most emissions are from the
energy used by buildings, but these emissions are
falling as buildings become more efficient and there
is more renewable energy in the grid. Emissions from
transport are now 13 per cent of the total council area’s
emissions and growing. Reducing emissions from the
transport sector will be essential to meet the City’s
targets. Active transport and in particular cycling has
many benefits including reducing local air pollution
and greenhouse gas emissions. There are 62,000 car
trips less than five kilometres long taken each working
day in the city centre, creating more than 12,000
tonnes C02 each year. If even half of these trips were
done by cycling or walking instead it would make a
significant contribution to reducing emissions.

Making Sydney a Sustainable Destination Encouraging
visitors to walk or ride helps address the transport aspect
of improving sustainability in the tourism, entertainment
and accommodation sector.

This strategy supersedes the City’s Cycle Strategy and
Action Plan 2007–2017. Any reference to the previous
strategy in the City’s planning controls now refers to this
Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018–2030.

44
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

More cycling delivers broader goals

Cycling supports broader strategies
Australian Government:

Increasing cycling is key to the success of the following
strategies and policies of external stakeholders:

• National Cycling Strategy

NSW Government:

• Walking, riding and access to public transport:
supporting active travel in Australian communities,
Ministerial statement

• Future Transport 2056
• Sydney’s Cycling Future and Sydney City Centre Access
Strategy

• Australia’s Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour
Guidelines

• Cycling Safety Action Plan, NSW Road Safety Plan 2021
and Towards Zero

• Smart Cities Plan

• NSW Planning – A Plan for Growing Sydney

• National Cities Performance Framework

• NSW Office of Preventative Health – NSW Active Travel
Charter for Children

And:
• NRMA Cycling Strategy (2015)

• Greater Sydney Commission – The Greater Sydney
Region Plan

• Committee for Sydney – 2017–2018 Priorities; Making
Great Places; A Fork in the Road (on congestion
management); City of Choice: Sydney as a Global
Talent Hub

• NSW Government Architect – Better Placed

45
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Global cities are cycling cities

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

46
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Cycling in the city: progress since 2007

Cycling in the city:
progress since 2007

In the last decade, trips
by bike have doubled and
attitudes to cycling have
shifted significantly.

A developing bike network

• NSW Government and NRMA now support
separated cycleways.

The first separated cycleway opened in 2009 on King
Street in the city centre. We’ve built around 13 kilometres
of separated cycleways and another nine kilometres are
underway.

Our bike network consists of local and regional routes
along separated cycleways, shared paths, bike lanes
and low-traffic streets. These connect to destinations
in and beyond our area. The 10 priority regional routes
are now 32 per cent complete and have comprehensive
wayfinding signs.

• Transport for NSW has part-funded the City’s bike
network since 2015.

More than 60 kilometres of shared paths provide
important network links through parks, plazas, road
closures and alongside roads where we haven’t
been permitted to allocate road space for separated
cycleways.

• Infrastructure Australia has listed the Inner Sydney
Regional Bike Network on the National Infrastructure
Priority List.
• All our neighbouring councils have started building
a connected network of separated cycleways.

Low-traffic streets and local access improvements knit
the network together, connecting regional and local
routes to the doors of our residents and businesses.

• Riding a bike is an increasingly popular way for
children to get to school.
• Positive images of people cycling are widely used
to market real estate and products.

It is now possible to ride, separated from traffic, all
the way from North Sydney through the city centre to
Pyrmont or Central Station. Safe cycling infrastructure
along George Street in Redfern and Bourke Street
connects the densely populated Green Square with the
city centre.

• Workplace end-of-trip facilities are a high priority for
city employers (they’ve invested over $30 million in
the city centre in the last three years alone).
• Innovation in mobile technology has prompted the
private sector to provide share bikes and deliver food
by bicycle.

Some of the city cycleways carry more commuters in the
morning peak than an adjacent motorised traffic lane,
such as on Kent Street.

47
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

48
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Cycling in the city: progress since 2007

Comprehensive behaviour change program
Complementing the city’s bike network, our behaviour
change program is helping to build a bike-friendly
city with courses, events, grants, campaigns and
other projects. The program also targets safety, using
education and information.

• Skills courses have given confidence to thousands
of people to take up riding or ride more often. There
are courses for people who have not been on a bicycle
for many years, while others are focused on women
or families to develop and improve skills.

In 2010, we commissioned the StreetShare strategy to
boost riding among inner Sydney residents and improve
relations among people riding, walking and driving.
It underpins our ongoing behaviour change programs.

• A popular personalised route planning service has
helped thousands of people find better routes to reach
their destinations.

Improved safety

• The Sydney Rides Festival is an annual event that
showcases bike riding as a normal and fun activity and
helps give a presence to bike riding for existing and
potential riders. The festival features nearly 30 events
attended by over 20,000 people.

Importantly, the infrastructure and programs to support
cycling have helped make bike riding safer. The number
of bicycle crashes has dropped since the first few
cycleways opened in 2010 while bike trips doubled over
that time. We have run safety awareness and education
programs for all road user groups.

• The Connecting Schools program promotes active and
safe travel to school. Cycle skills courses aimed at 8 to
10 year olds are free for schools within 10 kilometres
of the city centre, and the City supports annual Ride to
School Day.
• Guided rides, including chocolate, foodie, art and
market rides show how easy it is to ride in Sydney.
They promote riding for leisure, recreation and
shopping, and attract new people to riding a bike
for transport.
• We run face-to-face outreach to encourage people
riding and walking on shared paths to be considerate
of one another. Signs and education sessions on
shared paths remind people riding to give way to those
walking, to ride appropriately and use their bell
when passing.

49
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

Draft Cycling Strategy and Action Plan

Building on success
The Roads Act should be reviewed to explore the
delegations to local government, ensuring each power
is delegated to the right level of government; and the
decision making processes are fit for purpose and reflect
the complexity of different issues.

The City of Sydney has made good progress, given the
often challenging environment, differing opinions, and
political, media and community attitudes at times. Being
collaborative is key for success.
Like the NSW Government, we believe it is important to
take a ‘movement and place’ approach to road planning.

Cutting red tape for local road infrastructure and a
stronger state financial commitment would progress
Sydney’s bike network and provide a viable and cost
effective long-term solution to reduce congestion and
improve health across Sydney. Priority 4 in this strategy
includes actions to address these concerns.

Only 14 per cent of peak hour travel into the city is by
car, but disproportionate road space is allocated to this
transport mode. Meanwhile our footpaths and public
transport services are nearing capacity.
The NSW Government has highlighted constrained
capacity on Sydney’s street network as a key issue
for growth and development in our city. The Sydney
City Centre Access Strategy (NSW Government 2013)
showed that over the previous 10 years, the majority of
growth in travel to the city centre had been carried by
public transport, and that walking and cycling trips in the
morning peak hour had more than doubled from 5,000
to 11,000 trips.
Sydney’s Cycling Future (NSW Government 2013)
recognises the need for increased cycling and walking
and outlines a priority bike network. NSW Government
funding for active travel has been at unprecedented
levels in recent years and is a step in the right direction.
However, additional funding, potentially from several
sources, is needed to build an effective network.

50
Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

51

Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

52

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Item 3.
Public Exhibition - Draft Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 225 to 279
Broadway, Glebe
File No:

X001999

Summary
This report seeks Council approval to exhibit a draft development control plan for land at
225-279 Broadway, Glebe. The land forms part of a prominent block that has the opportunity
to contribute to important business, health and education uses in the area, while responding
to surrounding heritage buildings and Victoria Park.
On 19 March 2018, Council resolved to request Gateway Determination from the Greater
Sydney Commission to exhibit a planning proposal to amend the planning controls for the
land at 225-279 Broadway. Council also resolved that the planning proposal exhibition
should be accompanied by a draft development control plan to provide additional design
direction.
The draft development control plan contains additional design direction for building heights
and form, transition to the heritage conservation area at Glebe Point Road, active frontages,
and overshadowing of the public domain.
The report recommends Council approve the draft development control plan for public
exhibition alongside the planning proposal.

Recommendation
It is resolved that:
(A)

Council approve Draft Development Control Plan 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe shown
at Attachment A to the subject report, for public exhibition alongside the Planning
Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe, shown at Attachment B to the subject report;
and

(B)

authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor amendments
to the Draft Development Control Plan 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe to ensure
consistency with the Gateway Determination for the planning proposal.

1

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Attachments
Attachment A.

Draft Development Control Plan: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

Attachment B.

Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

Attachment C.

Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe - Urban Design report

Attachment D.

Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe - Heritage report

Attachment E.

Resolution of Council of 19 March 2018 - Planning Proposal: 225 to 279
Broadway, Glebe

2

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Background
1.

The City regularly reviews its planning controls to achieve local and State planning
objectives. The sites at 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe (the site) present opportunities for
revitalisation and to deliver on the City’s and the State’s planning objectives related to
the Ultimo-Camperdown health and education precinct, tourism, heritage and
sustainability.

2.

On 19 March 2018, Council resolved to request a Gateway Determination from the
Greater Sydney Commission to allow public exhibition and public agency consultation
for a planning proposal for land at 225 to 279 Broadway Glebe. The resolution of
Council is at Attachment C to this report. The planning proposal seeks to incentivise
strategically important uses through a floor space incentive. It identifies a new heritage
item and includes height controls to respond to heritage items and the adjacent
heritage conservation area and protect sun access to Victoria Park.

3.

Council also resolved that City officers prepare a draft development control plan to
accompany the planning proposal on public exhibition. The draft development control
plan provides further design guidance and gives additional clarity to the development
outcomes sought in the planning proposal. This report seeks approval of the draft
development control plan to be placed on public exhibition alongside the planning
proposal.

Site, context and proposed development control plan
4.

The site is located along Broadway, from the corner of Glebe Point Road to the Former
Grace Bros building, and comprises 13 lots. It has a southern frontage to Broadway,
and a northern frontage to Grose Street. It adjoins the Glebe Point Road heritage
conservation area. The site is shown outlined on Figure 1.

Figure 1: site location

3

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

5.

The draft development control plan will provide more detailed design guidance to
complement the controls in the planning proposal. It establishes considerations for the
design of elements that may impact on heritage values, including at the interface of the
site and the Glebe Point Road heritage conservation area. This guidance includes
materials suitable to be used in development, and the general arrangement of
windows and openings to reflect the vertical composition of the existing subdivision
pattern. It also seeks to promote street activation along both Broadway and Grose
Street, including the requirement for active street frontages and for separate entries for
each tenancy.

6.

The draft development control plan provides additional guidance to complement the
RL 38.0 AHD street frontage height limit in the planning proposal. This includes
clarifying the relationship between the proposed new height and the parapets of
prominent heritage buildings, and that development is to maintain some views over the
site from Victoria Park and not be visible from immediate public domain areas.

Key Implications
Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 Vision
7.

Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This plan is aligned with the
following strategic directions and objectives:
(a)

Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City - the draft development
control plan and planning proposal incentivise land uses that will contribute to the
Camperdown-Ultimo health and education collaboration area.

(b)

Direction 9 - Sustainable Development, Renewal and Design - the draft
development control plan establishes a built form that responds to the heritage of
the area and protects sun access to public open space.

Relevant Legislation
8.

Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979, Division 3.6

Public Consultation
9.

If Council approves the draft development control plan, it will be placed on public
exhibition alongside the Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe. Public
exhibition will be in accordance with the requirements set out by the Greater Sydney
Commission in the Gateway Determination for the planning proposal.

4

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

10.

18 June 2018

The City will notify the public of the exhibition on the City's website, in newspapers that
circulate widely in the area and in writing to relevant landowners, relevant community
groups and stakeholders near the site. Exhibition documents will be made available on
the City's website and at the One Stop Shop at Town Hall House.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM
Director City Planning, Development and Transport.
David Fitzpatrick, Senior Planner

5

Attachment A
Draft Development Control Plan:
225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

6

Draft Development Control Plan: 225 to 279 Broadway,
Glebe
This development control plan amends Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 by
inserting the following into Section 6.3: Specific site controls prepared as part of a
Planning Proposal and identifying 225-279 Broadway on Figure 6.1 Specific sites map.
The following objectives and provisions apply to 225-279 Broadway, Glebe as shown in
Figure 6.1 Specific Sites map.
Broadway is a prominent and busy street and entry to Central Sydney. The following
provisions define a built form that recognises and protects the significant heritage
elements along Broadway.
The provisions encourage suitable strategic land use for the surrounding area and aim to
renew the active street frontage to Broadway and establish a new active street frontage
to Grose Street.
Objectives
(a) To deliver a high quality built form that responds to heritage items along Broadway
and the Glebe Point Road Conservation Area.
(b) To set building heights and frontage alignments compatible with the local context.
(c) To promote uses compatible with the busy road environment.
(d) To deliver retail and commercial uses at ground level to provide active frontage to
both Broadway and Grose Street.
Provisions
Built Form
To ensure the built form responds to significant heritage items along Broadway, respects
the local context and mitigates noise impacts:
(1) Development must be designed with a street wall to a height datum of RL38.0
AHD. This will align with the predominant parapet datum of neighbouring heritage
items as shown in Figure 6.X – Street wall height; University Hall, 255
Broadway and the Former Grace Brothers Building (Broadway Shopping Centre).
(2) Development is to be built to the street property boundary with no setback (0m)
fronting both Broadway and Grose Street from ground level to a height of RL38.0
AHD.
(3) All built elements above RL38.0 AHD are to be setback from the Broadway street
frontage so as not to be at all visible from points A, B and C as shown in Figure
6.X where:

7

•
•
•

A is RL 20.54 AHD (includes pedestrian eye level height of 1.5
metres)
B is RL 18.62 AHD (includes pedestrian eye level height of 1.5
metres)
C is RL 15.52 AHD (includes pedestrian eye level height of 1.5
metres)

(4) Development is not to obstruct views from Victoria Park to Central Sydney above
RL 42.0 AHD.
(5) Development must minimise the impact of noise from Broadway and Glebe Point
Road and adjacent plant and equipment through the careful internal layout of
sensitive uses within the development and the design and physical fabric of the
façades.

Figure 6.X – Street wall height

8

Figure 6.X – Points to establish visibility from the public domain
Heritage and Character
(1) New buildings, whilst being contemporary, should respond sympathetically to the
local character and context of Glebe Point Rd Heritage Conservation Area,
neighbouring heritage items; University Hall, 255 Broadway and the Former
Grace Brothers Building (Broadway Shopping Centre) and the existing lot
subdivision pattern.
(2) Sympathetic design is to be expressed through:
a. wall and window arrangement and architectural language that has vertical
proportion that relates to the existing subdivision pattern, and
b. predominantly solid masonry facades (rendered and painted or face
brick).
(3) Development visible from Glebe Point Road is to be of high quality in relation to
its massing, materials and architectural details and is not to reduce the heritage
values of the conservation area.
Overshadowing
(1) All built elements above RL38.0 AHD are not to create any additional
overshadowing of Victoria Park on the 21st of June.
Active Frontages
Development is to maximise active frontages at both Broadway and Grose Street by
providing only retail or commercial uses at ground level.
(1) Separate entries are to be provided from Broadway for each use within the
development to maximise activity to Broadway.

9

(2) Vehicular access is not to be provided from Broadway.

10

Attachment B
Planning Proposal:
225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

11

Planning Proposal:
225 to 279 Broadway,
Glebe
Amendment to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012

12

City of Sydney
Town Hall House
456 Kent Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Contents
Executive Summary .................................................................................................. 2
Background............................................................................................................... 3
Part 1: Objectives and intended outcomes .............................................................. 14
Part 2: Explanation of provisions ............................................................................. 14
Part 3: Justification .................................................................................................. 16
Part 4: Mapping....................................................................................................... 31
Part 5: Community consultation .............................................................................. 34
Part 6: Project timeline ............................................................................................ 34
Appendix A: Urban Design Analysis – City of Sydney and Architectus
Appendix B: Heritage Assessment – 255 Broadway, Glebe

1 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

13

Executive Summary
The City of Sydney (the City) has prepared this Planning Proposal to change the
planning controls for the land at 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe (the site).
This Planning Proposal explains the intent of and justification for proposed
amendments to the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (LEP). This Planning
Proposal is prepared in accordance with Division 3.4 of the Environmental Planning
and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) and the relevant Department of Planning and
Environment guidelines including ‘A Guide to Preparing Planning Proposals’ and ‘A
Guide to Preparing Local Environmental Plans’.
The site consists of 13 lots totalling about 4,750 square metres in area. The site
extends west from the corner of Glebe Point Road and Broadway to the Former
Grace Bros Building (now the Broadway Shopping Centre). The site has its northern
frontage to Grose Street which is used as a service road by Broadway Shopping
Centre. Most lots have buildings of two to four storeys in height. Two heritage listed
items are located nearby including the University Hall, to the west, and the Former
Grace Brothers Building to the east. The site is within the Camperdown-Ultimo health
and education precinct as defined by the Greater Sydney Commission’s Draft
Eastern City District Plan.
The site is currently zoned B2 Local Centre and has a maximum floor space ratio of
2:1 and a maximum building height of 18m. The Glebe Point Road Conservation
Area partly overlaps the western end of the site and extends north-west along Glebe
Point Road.
The Planning Proposal aims to encourage development that will revitalise the
precinct and support the Camperdown-Ultimo precinct. The proposed increased
building height will provide an appropriate transition in height from the Glebe Point
Road Conservation Area to Broadway, establish a street wall and setback levels that
respect heritage items, retain sun access to Victoria Park and establish a strong
urban form. The proposed floor space ratio incentive encourages strategic uses
which support the Camperdown-Ultimo Health and Education Precinct, such as
commercial premises, health services facilities, educational establishment, hotel
accommodation, entertainment premises, light industry, information and education
facility and boarding houses used for student accommodation.
The proposed changes to the controls are:


Increase the maximum building height from 18m to various specific RLs ranging
from RL 28.3m to RL 40m to enable four storey buildings with a setback upper
level and transition to the adjoining conservation area.



List the building at 255 Broadway as a Heritage Item under Schedule 5 of the
Sydney LEP 2012.



Insert a new site-specific clause allowing the floor space ratio to exceed the
maximum by up to:
–

1.6:1 for development that is wholly for a commercial premises, educational
establishment, entertainment premises, health services facility, hotel or motel
accommodation, information and education facility or light industry; and

–

1:1 for development that is for boarding houses used for the purposes of
student accommodation;

–

Provided the development does not include other forms of residential
accommodation, achieves a NABERS energy rating of 5.5 stars for

2 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

14

commercial office development and 4.5 stars for hotel development and
considers the activation of Grose Street.

Background
1.1. Introduction
The City of Sydney (the City) has prepared this Planning Proposal to change the
planning controls for the land at 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe (the site).
This Planning Proposal explains the intent of and justification for proposed
amendments to the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (LEP). This Planning
Proposal is prepared in accordance with Division 3.4 of the Environmental Planning
and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act) and the relevant Department of Planning and
Environment guidelines including ‘A Guide to Preparing Planning Proposals’ and ‘A
Guide to Preparing Local Environmental Plans’.
It is proposed to change the height and floor space ratio controls for the site and list
one building as a heritage item. Appendix A includes urban design studies that
support the proposed controls and Appendix B includes a heritage assessment of
the proposed heritage item.

1.2. Site description
The site consists of 13 lots totalling about 4,750 square metres in area. The lots
range in size from 151 square metres to 1,216 square metres. The site extends west
from the corner of Glebe Point Road and Broadway to the Former Grace Bros
Building (now the Broadway Shopping Centre). The site has its northern frontage to
Grose Street which is used as a service road by Broadway Shopping Centre. The
site has a number of heavily modified older buildings used for a variety of retail and
commercial uses. Buildings range from two to four storeys in height. Their
architectural styles are varied, ranging from Victorian to Art Deco. All buildings are
built to the Broadway frontage and some have a setback to Grose Street. Most lots
within the precinct are under individual ownership with the exception of 257-259
Broadway, 263 Broadway and 233-245 Broadway which are multiple lots under
single ownership.
The precinct comprises thirteen separate parcels (from east to west) as follows:


225 Broadway Glebe, Part Lot 29, DP 65096



229 Broadway Glebe, Lot B, 75814



231 Broadway Glebe, Lot A, DP 75814



2 Grose Street Glebe, Part Lot 26, Sec 1, DP977071, Lot 25, DP 1151351



4-8 Grose Street Glebe, Lot 260, DP 1070749



233 Broadway Glebe, Lot 1, DP 540373



243-245 Broadway Glebe, Lot 1, DP 81755



247-253 Broadway Glebe, Lot 1, DP 958122, Lot 1 DP 77602



255 Broadway Glebe, Lot 1, DP 930503



257 Broadway Glebe, Lot 1, DP 61170



259 Broadway Glebe, Lot 1, DP 770367

3 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

15



261 Broadway Glebe, Lot 1, DP 569515



263-279 Broadway Glebe, Lot 100, DP 1067149, Lot 101, DP 1067149, Lot 102,
DP 1067149

The site is shown in Figures 1 through 8.
Figure 1: The site outlined in blue

Figure 2: Aerial photograph of site outlined in blue

4 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

16

Figure 3: The site outlined in red looking west along Broadway

Figure 4: Western end of the site showing properties at 279 to 259 Broadway

Figure 5: Eastern end of the site showing properties at 253 to 225 Broadway

5 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

17

Figure 6: Central part of the site showing properties at 257 to 233 Broadway
including proposed heritage item at 255 Broadway (4 storey red brick building)

Figure 7: 279 (left) and 263-277 Broadway on corner of Glebe Point Road and
Broadway. 279 Broadway is a contributory building within the Glebe Point
Road conservation area.

6 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

18

Figure 8: View west along Grose Street with rear elevations of the site on the
left

1.3. Site context
The site is at the intersection of Broadway and Glebe Point Road, a prominent
gateway to the city and Glebe Point Road. Broadway is a major arterial road,
carrying high volumes of vehicular and pedestrian traffic and providing potential for a
highly visible and active frontage. Grose Street is a narrow street and currently used
as a service road by the adjacent Broadway Shopping Centre.
The site is well connected to the University of Sydney, the University of Technology,
the University of Notre Dame, Sydney Institute of Technology, TAFE Ultimo and the
Sydney CBD, with convenient access to a wide range of employment, transport,
retail, entertainment, medical, education, cultural, sporting, recreation and other
services and amenities. Surrounding land uses in the vicinity of the precinct
comprise a mix of educational and institutional, retail, commercial and residential
uses.
Victoria Park is opposite the site across Broadway. It features a row of large fig trees
along the Broadway frontage. The land falls sharply from the level of Broadway down
to Lake Northern. Victoria Park then rises to the pool and Sydney University to the
south and west.
The Glebe Point Road retail area and heritage conservation area starts at the
western end of the site. Glebe Point Road is characterised by two storey, fine grain
Victorian and Federation retail buildings.
Broadway Shopping Centre to the north occupies most of the block between Grose
Street and Francis Street, with additional buildings north of Francis Street. It has a
height of about 25m consisting of four large commercial storeys. The main loading
and servicing docks for the centre front Grose Street. The Former Grace Brothers
Building adjoining the eastern end of the site is also part of the Shopping Centre.

7 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

19

The precinct is located within the Camperdown to Ultimo health and education
precinct as identified by the Greater Sydney Commission’s Draft Eastern City
District Plan. The area is one of the largest and most comprehensive health and
education precincts in Greater Sydney. In addition to the major universities and
health facilities, the area has a number of research institutes, including the Baird
Institute, Brain and Mind Research Institute, Centenary Institute of Cancer –
Medicine and Cell Biology, George Institute for Global Health and the Woolcock
Institute of Medical Research, Sydney Research. The district is home to many
students and industry partners who take advantage of the knowledge and innovation
that exists around tertiary institutions through collaboration between universities,
research institutes and specialised health professionals.
The state heritage listed University Hall Building is on the opposite corner of Glebe
Point Road to the west and shown at Figure 9. The Former Grace Brothers Building
(part of Broadway Shopping Centre) adjoins the eastern end of the site and is also
state heritage listed. It is shown at Figure 10.

Figure 9: State heritage listed University Hall to the west of the site across
Glebe Point Road

8 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

20

Figure 10: State heritage listed Former Grace Brother Building (Broadway
Shopping Centre) to the east of the site on the corner of Broadway and Bay
Street

Figure 11: View east along Broadway with the site outlined

9 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

21

Figure 12: View north towards 255 to 225 Broadway from Victoria Park with the
site indicated by the dashed line

Figure 13: View East along Grose Street showing Broadway Shopping Centre
loading docks on the left with the site on the right

10 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

22

1.4. Existing planning controls
1.4.1. Zoning
The site is zoned B2 Local Centre under the LEP, as shown in the extract at Figure
14. The objectives of the zone include providing a range of retail, business,
entertainment, community and residential uses so as to encourage employment
opportunities, maximise public transport usage and support the vitality of local
centres. The zoning permits a broad range of uses to support the zone objectives.
This Planning Proposal does not seek to change the zoning.
Figure 14: Extract from Sydney LEP 2012 Zoning Map

1.4.2. Floor Space Ratio
The site has a maximum floor space ratio control of 2:1. An extract of the floor space
ratio map is shown in Figure 15.
Surrounding development comprises buildings constructed to a significantly higher
scale and built form than permitted under the existing planning controls including:


University Hall with an FSR of approximately 4.5:1



1-9 Glebe Point Road which abuts the subject site directly to the west with an
FSR of approximately 4.5:1 and



255 Broadway with an FSR of approximately 4:1

11 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

23

Figure 15: Extract from Sydney LEP 2012 Floor Space Ratio Map

1.4.3. Building Height
The precinct has a maximum building height control of 18m, as shown in Figure 16.
This is equivalent to four to five commercial storeys. Due to the fall of land from
Broadway to Grose Street, meeting the height control would require buildings to be
stepped down despite their being little impact due to the orientation of the site. The
fall of land and effect of the control is shown in Figure 17.
Figure 16: Extract from Sydney LEP 2012 Building Height Map

12 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

24

Figure 17: Diagram showing the effect of the 18m height control due to the fall
of land between Broadway and Grose Street

1.4.4. Heritage
The Glebe Point Road Heritage Conservation Area (C29) extends from the western
end of the precinct and includes part of the site. Two heritage listed items are located
nearby including the University Hall, to the west of the precinct, and the Former
Grace Brothers Building to the east of the precinct. An extract of the Heritage Map is
shown at Figure 18.
Figure 18: Extract from Sydney LEP 2012 Heritage Map

13 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

25

Part 1: Objectives and intended
outcomes
This planning proposal will enable the redevelopment of the buildings in Broadway
and intends to:


Set development standards that facilitate appropriate renewal of the precinct



Incentivise development for strategic land uses including commercial, health,
education, retail, hotel, entertainment, light industry and student housing which
support the Camperdown-Ultimo Health and Education Precinct



Protect the heritage of the area by listing 255 Broadway as a heritage item and
ensure the scale of development responds sympathetically to heritage items and
areas.

Part 2: Explanation of provisions
Explanation of provisions
To achieve the intended outcomes, this planning proposal seeks to amend Sydney
Local Environmental Plan 2012 as follows:
1. Amend the Height of Building Map Sheet 9 as shown at Part 5 of this Planning
Proposal to increase the maximum building height for:
a. 263-279 Broadway to 28.3m RL at the street wall increasing to 32.3m RL
behind a 4 metre setback and 38m RL behind an 8 metre setback
b. Other lots to 38m RL at the street wall increasing to 39.30m RL behind a 4
metre setback and 40m RL behind an 8 metre setback
2. Insert a site specific local provision that allows the floor space ratio for the site to
exceed the maximum by up to:
a. 1.6:1 for development that is for commercial premises, educational
establishment, entertainment premises, health services facility, hotel or motel
accommodation, information and education facility or light industry; or
b. 1:1 for development that is for boarding houses that is used for the purposes
of student accommodation; and
c. Provided the development:
i.

does not include any other forms of residential accommodation; and

ii. achieves a NABERS energy rating of 5.5 stars minimum for any
commercial office development; or 4.5 stars for any hotel development;
and
iii. the consent authority has considered whether the development will
activate the Grose Street frontage.
d. exclude from the calculation of gross floor area any floor space below the
level of Broadway.
3. List the building at 255 Broadway as a heritage item in Schedule 5 of the LEP
and amend Heritage Map Sheet 9 as shown in Part 5 of this Planning Proposal
14 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

26

Example clause
Division 5 Site Specific Provisions
Clause 6.41 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe
1. The objective of this clause is to provide for additional floor space to encourage
commercial, education, health, cultural and tourism sectors and associated
industries in the Camperdown-Ultimo Health and Education Precinct and
sustainable development.
2. This clause applies to the land at 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe being Part Lot 29,
DP 65096; Lot B, 75814; Lot A, DP 75814; Part Lot 26, Sec 1, DP977071, Lot
25, DP 1151351; Lot 260, DP 1070749; Lot 1, DP 540373; Lot 1, DP 81755; Lot
1, DP 958122, Lot 1 DP 77602; Lot 1, DP 930503; Lot 1, DP 61170; Lot 1, DP
770367; Lot 1, DP 569515; Lot 100, DP 1067149; Lot 101, DP 1067149; and Lot
102 DP 1067149.
3. Notwithstanding Clause 4.4, the floor space ratio of development that does not
include floor space for the purpose of residential or serviced apartments may
exceed the existing maximum floor space ratio by:
a. 1.6:1 for development for commercial premises, educational establishment,
entertainment premises, health services facility, hotel or motel
accommodation, information and education facility or light industry; and
b. 1:1 for development for a boarding house used for the purposes of student
accommodation.
4. Development consent must not be granted under clause (3) for development that
results in a mixed use development that includes residential accommodation
other than a boarding house.
5. Development for a commercial premises or hotel or motel accommodation is not
eligible for the amount of floor space under clause (3) unless the building
achieves a NABERS energy rating, where a rating tool is available, of:
a. 5.5 stars for any commercial development; or
b. 4.5 stars for any Hotel or Motel accommodation development.
6. Before granting consent to development under clause (3) the consent authority is
to consider whether the development activates Grose Street.
7. For the purpose of this clause, any floor space below the level of Broadway
along the frontage of the site may be excluded from the calculation of gross floor
area.
Schedule 5
Locality Item
Glebe

Address

Former International
255
Harvester Company of
Broadway
America Warehouse and
Showroom

15 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

27

Property
description

Item
Significance No

Lot 1 DP
930503

Local

I664A

Part 3: Justification
The proposed controls create an opportunity to revitalise this prominent block in a
way that responds to surrounding heritage buildings, transitions to the Glebe Point
Road conservation area, protects Victoria Park from overshadowing and contributes
to the important business, education and health uses in the identified CamperdownUltimo health and education precinct.
The proposed height and floor space ratio controls are based on the urban design
analysis undertaken by the City and Architectus at Appendix A. The proposed
heritage listing of 255 Broadway is based on the heritage assessment at Appendix B.

Height and built form
The proposed height controls aim to set a street wall height consistent with heritage
buildings, enable setback upper level development that does not detract from the
street wall, protect Victoria Park from overshadowing and manage the substantial fall
in land from Broadway to Grose Street. The intended built form is shown in Figures
19 to 22.
Figure 19: Proposed built form envelope with the site shown white

Glebe Point Road

Victoria Park

16 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

28

Figure 20: Proposed building envelope looking east from the corner of
Broadway and Glebe Point Road

Figure 21: Proposed building envelope looking south along Glebe Point Road

Figure 22: Proposed building envelope looking west along Broadway from City
Road

17 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

29

Consistency with heritage buildings
The proposed street wall height is set at 38 RL on Broadway, which is consistent
with the heights of heritage buildings at 281-285 Broadway (University Hall), 255
Broadway (Former International Harvester Company of America Building) and 213
Broadway (Former Grace Brothers Building), which range from 37.61m to 38.75m.
This approach establishes a strong corner presence and gateway to Glebe Point
Road and a consistent street wall along this part of Broadway. The proposed street
wall height is similar, but higher, than the existing 18m height control. The existing
and proposed height controls are illustrated in Figure 23.

Figure 23: Existing and proposed height controls

Street wall and overshadowing
The heights for an upper storey then setback 4 metres to 39.3m RL and another 4
metres to 40m RL in order to ensure the upper level does not detract from the
prominence of the street wall and heritage buildings.
Both the street wall and setback level heights protect sun access to Victoria Park
with minor encroachment of shadows to the footpath and Broadway edge of the park
in mid-winter from mid-afternoon. This edge features the large fig trees which
currently shade the area but will still receive sun.

18 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

30

Conservation area transition
The building heights have also been stepped down and setback at the western end
of the site at 263-279 Broadway to provide a transition to the two storey scale of the
Glebe Point Road Heritage Conservation Area. The setbacks and heights have
taken into account the neighbouring development and views south along Glebe Point
Road. The proposed setbacks and heights also allow 279 Broadway to be retained
as it is a contributory item in the Glebe Point Road Conservation Area. Figure 24
below shows the setbacks and heights at the transition to Glebe Point Road.
Figure 24: Setbacks and heights at the transition to Glebe Point Road with the
subject site shown in white

Managing the fall of land
The heights are proposed to be an RL, or a fixed level above sea level, and not a
relative height in metres above ground level. This is to manage the change in levels
between Broadway and Grose Street as shown in Figure 25. A height in metres
control is measured from the ground level so the maximum height is relatively less
on the Grose Street frontage despite there being no impact from the height in that
location. The proposed RL is similar to the existing 18m height but will enable
reasonable development on the Grose Street frontage and also establish the
consistent street wall on the Broadway frontage.

19 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

31

Figure 25: Section comparing existing and proposed height control showing
the change ground level

Land use and floor space ratio
The proposed floor space ratio controls retain the existing mapped control of 2:1 and
provide additional floor space as an incentive for land uses that support the aims for
the Camperdown-Ultimo Collaboration Area and the City’s objectives for cultural,
night-time and creative uses. The Greater Sydney Commission’s Draft Eastern City
District Plan includes actions 25 and 26 to support innovation corridors and health
and education precincts through:


the supply of affordable and scalable spaces



co-location and increased business-to-business interaction



access to affordable, diverse and multi-purpose housing options



supporting a strong night time economy and



attracting businesses, industries and research associated with health and
education.

The proposed incentivised land uses include commercial premises, educational
establishment, health services facility, hotel or motel accommodation, retail
premises, light industry, information and education premises and boarding houses
used for the purposes of student accommodation and will support the innovation
corridor and health and education precinct.
The floor space incentive will enable approximately 4:1 to be achieved consistently
within the proposed height control and across all lots in the block inclusive of any
other bonuses, such as up to 10 per cent design excellence, that may be awarded.
The FSR is based on urban design testing and exclude any floor space below the
level of Parramatta Road to accommodate changing levels. The incentive for
boarding houses is less because a 20 per cent bonus is possible under the NSW
Government’s State Environmental Planning Policy (Affordable Rental Housing)
2009. Given the location, it is considered appropriate that any boarding house use
be reserved exclusively for the purposes of student accommodation. The floor space
incentive will only be awarded where the development meets relevant sustainability

20 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

32

targets and the proposal has considered the activation of Grose Street. The total
floor space ratio achievable is shown in the table below.
Proposed Floor Space Ratio Controls
Current
FSR

Proposed
Bonus

Affordable
Housing
SEPP

Design
Excellence

Total

Commercial, hotel,
education, health,
light industry,
entertainment

2

1.6

N/A

10%

3.96

Boarding House

2:1

1

20%

10%

3.96

Residential

2

N/A

N/A

10%

2.2

Land use

Residential accommodation, except for boarding houses, is excluded from the
incentive. The site’s suitability for long term residential accommodation is
significantly affected by road noise from Broadway, plant and servicing noise from
Broadway Shopping Centre and the limited sun access given the height of Broadway
Shopping Centre and the narrow width of Grose Street. Urban design testing found
that little additional floor space could be achieved if a residential development was to
meet the requirements of the Apartment Design Guide.

Heritage
As discussed, the proposed height controls establish a built form that is sympathetic
to the nearby heritage items and transitions to the Glebe Point Road Conservation
Area.
In addition, it proposed to list the building at 255 Broadway as a heritage item. 255
Broadway, or the Former International Harvester Company of America Warehouse
and Showroom, is a five storey former warehouse constructed in 1906 in the
Federation Free Style. The building features three distinct bays with arched tops, a
rock faced stone base and brick piers. The building is currently used for retail, office
and educational uses. A photo of the building is at Figure 26.

21 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

33

Figure 26: Proposed heritage item at 255 Broadway

A heritage assessment of the site, included at Appendix B, has found that the
building has local historic, aesthetic and representative significance. The statement
of significance for the site is:
No. 255 Broadway, Glebe, has local historic and aesthetic significance as part of
the pattern of warehouses and stores that characterised the western part of the
City of Sydney in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Design by
Robertson and Marks, one of the leading commercial architects of the period and
built c.1906 it is a good example of the Federation Free style, with finely detailed
Romanesque Style entrance.
The existing building has limited opportunity to increase its height or floor space as it
exceeds the existing height and is similar to the proposed height control. Also, the
existing floor space ratio is estimated to be about 4:1. Despite the proposed listing,
given the existing building form, it is unlikely the building would have been able to
take advantage of the proposed new planning controls.
An internal inspection was not undertaken during the assessment. It’s assumed at
least some structure remains and modern office fit outs have been constructed. At
this time, it is proposed to include the interiors in the listing however this may be
reviewed if further information is provided during exhibition.

22 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

34

Need for the planning proposal
Q1. Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report?
No, the planning proposal and review of the controls arises from a resolution of
Council and submissions by land owners.
Q2. Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or
intended outcomes, or is there a better way?
The proposed height control is the best means of managing the fall of the land and
implementing a height that responds to heritage in the area. An incentive for specific
uses is the best means of supporting strategic outcomes, zone objectives and
ensuring development manages the environmental conditions of the precinct.

Relationship to strategic planning framework
Q3. Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the
applicable regional or sub-regional strategy (including the Sydney
Metropolitan Strategy and the exhibited draft strategies)?
This Planning Proposal responds to and is consistent with the Revised Draft Eastern
City District Plan and the Draft Greater Sydney Region Plan.
The Greater Sydney Commission’s revised draft Eastern City District Plan sets a
vision, priorities and actions for the development of the Eastern City District of
Greater Sydney. The Eastern City District includes the local government areas of
Bayside, Burwood, City of Sydney, Canada Bay, Inner West, Randwick, Strathfield,
Waverley and Woollahra.
The plan is a 20-year plan to manage growth in the context of economic, social and
environmental matters to achieve the 40-year vision for Greater Sydney to be a
global sustainability leader, managing growth while maintaining and enhancing the
district’s liveability, productivity and attractiveness for residents and visitors. Priorities
and associated actions for productivity, liveability and sustainability seek to deliver
this vision.
The subject site is within the Camperdown-Ultimo health and education precinct as
shown in Figure 27. The proposed incentive for strategic uses supports the
Camperdown-Ultimo health and education precinct and is consistent with actions 25
and 26 of the Draft District Plan and objective 21 and action 7 of the Draft Regional
Plan.

23 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

35

Figure 27: Camperdown-Ultimo Health and Education Precinct (Source: Draft
Eastern City District Plan, Greater Sydney Commission, 2017)

The Camperdown-Ultimo health and education precinct includes the Royal Prince
Alfred Hospital, the University of Sydney, University of Technology, University of
Notre Dame, TAFE Ultimo, and medical research institutions. The plan identifies this
area as a health and education precinct and an important location for knowledgeintensive jobs, innovation and service delivery.
The plans suggest providing opportunities to partner with the relevant institutions and
agencies, including NSW Health, councils and NSW Government agencies, to grow
the health and education offerings of the super precinct and investigating
opportunities to improve pedestrian connectivity between clusters of activity located
in, and surrounding, four key nodes in the super precinct, being Ultimo,
Camperdown, Redfern Station and Central Station. The planning controls create
opportunities for, and encourages, business and associated services that contribute
to the cluster of economic activity.

24 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

36

Q4. Is the planning proposal consistent with a council’s local strategy or other
local strategic plan?
Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City,
as well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This planning proposal is
aligned with the following SS2030 strategic directions and objectives:


Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City – the planning proposal
incentivises strategic land uses that will contribute to the Camperdown-Ultimo
health and education collaboration area.



Direction 2 provides a road map for the City to become A Leading Environmental
Performer – the planning proposal encourages improved environmental
performance by applying NABERS ratings for commercial and hotel uses.



Direction 7 - A Cultural and Creative City - the planning proposal incentivises
strategic land uses that support cultural, night-time and creative uses.



Direction 9 - Sustainable Development, Renewal and Design – the planning
proposal establishes a built form that responds to the heritage of the area,
conserves a significant building and protects the sun access to public open
space.

Q5. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable State Environmental
Planning Policies (SEPPs)?
The planning proposal is consistent with all relevant SEPPs and Regional
Environmental Plans. Comments on relevant SEPPs are provided in the table below.
Consistency with State Environmental Planning Policies
State Environmental Planning Policy (SEPP)
SEPP No 55—
Remediation of Land

The Planning Proposal is not changing land uses at the
precinct and there are no additional sensitive uses on the
precinct.

SEPP No 65—Design Development outcomes for the site are capable of
Quality of Residential achieving the SEPP 65 principles.
Flat Development
SEPP No 70—
Affordable Housing
(Revised Schemes)

Consistent.

SEPP (Affordable
Rental Housing) 2009

Consistent. The proposed FSR control accommodates the
potential for bonuses under the SEPP.

SEPP (Infrastructure)
2007





Pursuant to clause 104, as the precinct does not have
direct vehicular access to a classified road or to a road
that connects to a classified road, and the precinct will
not introduce 300 or more dwellings.
Pursuant to clause 101(2), as the development has a
frontage to a classified road, vehicular access is
provided by another road.

25 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

37

State Environmental Planning Policy (SEPP)


The increase in height and FSR will not reduce the
safety, efficiency, and ongoing operation of the
classified road. Further detail on design and location to
ameliorate potential traffic noise or vehicle emissions
within the precinct of the development will be provided
at DA stage.

Q6. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions
(s.117 directions)?
The Planning Proposal is consistent with the Ministerial Directions as described in
the table below.
Consistency with Ministerial directions
Ministerial Direction

Comment

1 Employment and Resources
1.1 Business and Industrial
Zones

Consistent. The proposal is consistent with this direction.
The planning proposal introduces the potential for
additional Floor Space for non-residential development.
This is expected to encourage additional employment
uses at the precinct.

1.2 Rural Zones

Not applicable.

1.3 Mining, Petroleum
Production and Extractive
Industries

Not applicable.

1.4 Oyster Aquaculture

Not applicable.

1.5 Rural Lands

Not applicable.

2 Environment and Heritage
2.1 Environment Protection
zones

Not applicable.

2.2 Coastal Protection

Not applicable.

2.3 Heritage Conservation

Consistent. The area has a strong heritage context.



The planning proposal sets height controls to respect
heritage items and transition to the adjoining
conservation area.
The property at 255 Broadway is recommended as
an additional listed item in Schedule 5 of the LEP as

26 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

38

Ministerial Direction

Comment
it has historic, aesthetic and representative heritage
values.

2.4 Recreation Vehicle Areas

Not applicable.

2.5 Application of E2 and E3
zones and Environmental
Overlays in Far North Coast
LEPs

Not applicable.

3 Housing, Infrastructure and Urban Development
3.1 Residential zones

Not applicable.

3.2 Caravan Parks and
Manufactured Home Estates

Not applicable.

3.3 Home Occupations

Not applicable.

3.4 Integrating Land Use and
Transport

Consistent.





The precinct is well located in terms of access to
existing public transport with major bus and rail
services within close walking distance as well as
future light rail.
The Planning Proposal will allow development with a
density commensurate with the precinct’s prominent
location and access to transit;
This Planning Proposal is consistent with the aims,
objectives and principles of Improving Transport
Choice – Guidelines for planning and development
(DUAP 2001), and The Right Place for Business and
Services – Planning Policy (DUAP 2001).

3.5 Development Near Licensed
Aerodromes

Not applicable.

3.6 Shooting Ranges

Not applicable.

4 Hazard and Risk
4.1 Acid Sulfate Soils

Consistent. The proposal is considered to be of minor
significance as the form of development that may affect
acid sulfate soils is already permitted under the current
planning controls. Development under the planning
proposal is no more likely to affect acid sulfate soils.

4.2 Mine Subsidence and
Unstable Land

Not applicable.

27 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

39

Ministerial Direction

Comment

4.3 Flood Prone Land

Consistent. This planning proposal does not affect
application of flood prone land provisions in Sydney LEP
2012.

4.4 Planning for Bushfire
Protection

Not applicable.

5 Regional Planning
5.1 Implementation of Regional
Strategies

Consistent. This planning proposal is consistent with the
draft Regional and District Plans as described above.

5.2 Sydney Drinking Water
Catchments

Not applicable.

5.3 Farmland of State and
Regional Significance on the
NSW Far North Coast

Not applicable.

5.4 Commercial and Retail
Development along the Pacific
Highway North Coast

Not applicable.

5.8 Second Sydney Airport:
Badgerys Creek

Not applicable.

5.9 North West Rail Link
Corridor Strategy

Not applicable.

5.10 Implementation of Regional Not applicable.
Plans
6 Local Plan Making
6.1 Approval and Referral
requirements

Consistent. This planning proposal does not include any
concurrence, consultation or referral provisions nor does
it identify any development as designated development.

6.2 Reserving Land for Public
Purpose

Consistent. This planning proposal will not affect any
land reserved for public purposes.

6.3 Site Specific Provisions

Division 5 of the LEP contains site-specific provisions for
various sites across the City. This Planning Proposal
involves introducing site-specific controls into the LEP to
ensure that additional floor space is used to incentivise
strategic land uses consistent with the Draft District
Plan.

7 Metropolitan Planning
28 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

40

Ministerial Direction

Comment

7.1 Implementation of a Plan for
Growing Sydney

Consistent. The proposal is consistent with the draft
Regional Plan as described above.

7.2 Implementation of Greater
Macarthur Land Release
Investigation

Not applicable.

7.3 Parramatta Road Corridor
Urban Transformation Strategy

Not applicable.

7.4 Implementation of North
West Priority Growth Area Land
Use and Infrastructure
Implementation Plan
7.5 Implementation of Greater
Parramatta Priority Growth Area
Interim Land Use and
Infrastructure Implementation
Plan
7.6 Implementation of Wilton
Priority Growth Area Interim
Land Use and Infrastructure
Implementation Plan

Not applicable.

Not applicable.

Not applicable.

Environmental, social and economic impact
Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species,
populations or ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely
affected as a result of the proposal?
The subject site is located in an urbanised area and does not contain any known
critical habitat or threatened species, populations, ecological communities or
habitats.
Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning
proposal and how are they proposed to be managed?
The planning proposal has been developed to ensure heritage, urban design,
massing and overshadowing issues are addressed as described previously in this
planning proposal.
Traffic and Transport
The site is located on Broadway which offers good connectivity for both public and
private transport options. Pedestrian crossings along Broadway are located at the
intersections of Glebe Point Rd, City Rd, Mountain and Abercrombie Streets. Bus
stops are located on Broadway, Glebe Point Road and City Road, providing direct
access to the City as well as Sydney’s western and south-western suburbs.
The site is well serviced by transport and has many retail, commercial, education
and health services within walking distance. The site is identified as Category D
under the Public Transport Accessibility Level Map of the LEP. This means that the
29 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

41

precinct has the highest level of transport accessibility available for non-residential
land uses and therefore is subject to more restrictive car parking controls relative to
other sites located further away from public transport services.
Q9. Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic
effects?
This planning proposal is likely to have positive economic effects by encouraging the
revitalisation of the block and supporting key industry sectors including commercial,
education, health, tourism and cultural uses.

State and Commonwealth interests
Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal?
The precinct in Broadway is well serviced by public transport and public utilities
including electricity, telecommunications, water, sewer and stormwater. It is expected
that these services would be upgraded by the developer if needed. Social
infrastructure close to the precinct includes retail, commercial, community services
and facilities along Broadway, Glebe Point Road, Bay Street and Francis Street. The
site is located opposite Victoria Park.
Q11. What are the views of state and commonwealth public authorities
consulted in accordance with the Gateway determination?
The Gateway Determination will advise the public authorities to be consulted as part
of the Planning Proposal process. Any issues raised will be incorporated into this
Planning Proposal following consultation in the public exhibition period.

30 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

42

Part 4: Mapping
The planning proposal amends the following maps as shown below:


Height of Buildings Map - Sheet HOB_009 – to introduce new maximum building
heights as RLs



Heritage Map - Sheet HER_009 – to identify 255 Broadway as a heritage item

The changes to the maps are shown below.

31 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

43

32 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

44

33 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

45

Part 5: Community consultation
The planning proposal will be publicly exhibited in accordance with the Gateway
Determination. The Gateway Determination will set the minimum number of days for
public exhibition. Under Schedule 1 clause 4 of the Environmental Planning and
Assessment Act 1979 the notification period will be 28 days unless a different period
is specified in the Gateway Determination.
The City will notify the public of the exhibition on the City’s website, in newspapers
that circulate widely in the area and in writing to the landowners, relevant community
groups and stakeholders near the site. Exhibition documents will be made available
for viewing on the City of Sydney website and at the One Stop Shop at Town Hall
House.

Part 6: Project timeline
It is estimated that this amendment to the LEP will be completed by November 2018.

Stage

Timing

Submit Planning Proposal to Department of Planning and
Environment seeking a Gateway Determination

March 2018

Receive Gateway Determination

May 2018

Public exhibition and public authority consultation of Planning
Proposal

June 2018

Review of submissions received during public exhibition and
public authority consultation

July to August
2018

Council and Central Sydney Planning Committee consideration
of Planning Proposal

September
2018

Drafting of LEP amendment and finalisation of mapping

October 2018

LEP amendment is made and published

December
2018

34 / Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

46

Attachment C
Planning Proposal:
225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe Urban Design Report

47

Appendix A: Urban Design Analysis –
City of Sydney and Architectus

/ Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

48

49

Proposal to amend the
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012

Urban Design
Study
225-277 Broadway,
Glebe

DRAFT

Sydney2030/Green/Global/Connected

50

5

3. Key Issues Addressed by City

Design Study 225-277 Broadway, Glebe

5. Recommendations

February 2018

8

6-7

4

2. Key Findings Arising from Architectus Study

4. Glebe Point Rd Interface

3

1. Background

Contents

51
January
Ja
J
anu
a
nu
n
ua
arry 2
201
20
2018
01
18
8

Design Review Study 225-277 Broadway, Glebe

3

February 2018

This addendum summarises the key findings from the Architectus study, how the City refined them
further and why the proposed built form option addresses suitable height and density increase.

This is in consideration of the study area being located in a noise affected environment that is
strategically located next to Glebe’s B2 Local Centre Zone in close proximity to two major universities,
Victoria Park and Broadway Shopping Centre.

In March 2015, Architectus was engaged by the City to undertake an urban design study that
reviewed the planning controls. The review defined the key urban environment considerations for
the area highlighting that new and medium density residential development was not a suitable or
strategic use for the study area.

The City has reviewed the height and FSR controls for the land fronting Broadway between Glebe
Point Rd and Broadway Shopping Centre, this is a result of council resolution and the City receiving
multiple planning proposals from landowners on the subject land.

1. Background

255 Broadway
Parapet
+37.98

STUDY AREA

Fig 1. Architectus, Broadway Review of Planning Controls pg. 9, Existing East Elevation - Broadway

University Hall
+38.14

52

Design Review Study 225-277 Broadway, Glebe

Broadway Shopping
Centre (Turret)
+39.13

0 4

10

20

50m

4

February 2018

Scale 1:1,000 @ A3

3. Detailed height and setbacks to the corner ‘gateway’ site 263-279 Broadway to manage the
interface with Glebe Point Rd Heritage Conservation Area.

2. Additional height and setback options for new development above heritage parapet datum.

1. FSR testing of commercial and hotel/student housing to determine suitable future density
compatible with the primary findings above.

Some issues identified were not fully resolved in the Architectus study and required further analysis:

Further Analysis

4. The corner site 263-277 Broadway is a ‘significant gateway’ entrance to Glebe Heritage
Conservation Area and needs to address the interface between Broadway and Glebe Point Rd.

- Preservation of views from Victoria park, Glebe Point Rd South and Broadway to the study area

- Minimisation of overshadowing to Victoria Park

- The lower, 2 storey scale of Glebe Point Rd Heritage Conservation Area

3. Height increase needs to address:

2. Heritage buildings in the immediate vicinity of the study area establish a datum for development.
These buildings include University Hall, 255 Broadway and Broadway Shopping Centre at RL 38, as
shown in Fig 1 East Elevation of Broadway.

1. Significant amenity restrictions of sun, natural ventilation and major noise sources from Parramatta
Rd and Broadway Shopping Centre make the study area unsuitable for residential development.

Architectus found that:

Key findings

2. Key Findings Arising from the
Architectus Study

53

Fig 3. Broadway Rd (East End)

Fig 2. Glebe Point Rd

Fig 1. Broadway Rd (West End)

Final Proposed Built Form Option

Grose
Lane

VOID

Broadway

19.28

40.00
39.30
38.00

Design Review Study 225-277 Broadway, Glebe

Fig. 4 Section Diagram - Hotel/Student Housing

4m high

3.1m high

3.1m high
3.1m high

3.1m high
3.1m high

4m

8 metre setback

Grose
Lane

Broadway

19.28

40.00
39.30
38.00

5

February 2018

Fig. 5 Section Diagram - Commercial

4m high

3.8m high

3.8m high

3.8m high

3.8m high

4m

8 metre setback

- Stepping street wall height from 4-5 levels at Broadway to 2 levels at 279 Broadway to address the
two-storey scale of Glebe Point Rd conservation area scale change. Additional detail on this transition
is in section 4.

- Setback testing to lot 279 Broadway

This study addressed the important interface between Broadway and Glebe Point Rd Conservation
Area with site specific testing to the ‘gateway’ corner lots 263-279 Broadway, this included:

3. Glebe Point Rd and Broadway interface

The two proposed setbacks (Fig 4 and Fig 5) at the additional upper level maintain a 4-5 level frontage
at Broadway. This aligns new development with the 4 existing floor levels of Heritage item 255
Broadway.

View impact testing at Broadway (Fig 1) Glebe Point Rd (Fig 2) and Victoria Park (Fig 3) show
additional height setbacks at 4 and 8 metres are minimally visible from key views.

2. Additional height and setbacks

By including additional height to Grose Street, using increased setbacks to Broadway and not
calculating FSR below Broadway at ground level a more consistent FSR is established across the
entire study area.

- Including 1 level additional height above RL38 with setbacks to create consistent FSR calculation
across all lots on study area

- Excluding floor space below Broadway street level to create consistent FSR calculation across all lots
on study area

- Calculating floor space with one central core and one without, depending on use

- Efficiency testing of 90% for commercial and 85% for hotel/student housing

Strategies used for testing across entire study area:

1. FSR testing for commercial and hotel/student housing typologies

The City undertook detailed studies of the outstanding issues. In summary:

3. Key Issues Addressed by City

54

- Retain height RL 28.30 of contributory item 279 Broadway

- No additional height above RL 38.00 to reduce dominance to University Hall

- Setback at RL 38.00 of 13.2 metres to reduce dominance to University Hall

- Setback at RL 32.5 of 3.7 metres to meet existing 2 level building height along Glebe Point Rd

To reduce visual impact on the surrounding context these strategies were used:

Multiple options were tested as shown in Figures 6 to 9. The preferred option in Figure 9 manages
visual impact with detailed setback requirements.

3. The key stepping point in scale from a predominantly low rise conservation area at Glebe Point Rd
to an increased street wall height of 5 levels at Broadway.

2. The built form’s ability to impact the ‘gateway’ entrance to Glebe Point Rd and the requirement for
it to address a scale and form that is compatible with both University Hall and Glebe Conservation
Area.

1. In close proximity to three heritage items, including ‘University Hall’, ‘Jubilee Fountain’,‘Australian
Gas Light Co Showroom’ as well as the Glebe Point Rd Heritage Conservation Area.

The location is significant due to it being:

The significant location of the corner lot 263-279 Broadway instigated further form testing

4. Glebe Point Rd Interface

Design Review Study 225-277 Broadway, Glebe

6

February 2018

Fig 7. Setback with 1 additional level

1 - RL 32.5, setback ~3.7m

Existing - RL 28.23

Glebe Point Rd Interface

Fig 6. Height to existing contributory item

55
Design Review Study 225-277 Broadway, Glebe

3 - RL 32.5, setback ~3.7m
RL 38, setback ~13.2m

5 - RL 38, setback 3.0m

7

February 2018

Fig 9. Preferred setbacks and heights

Fig 8.Setback with multi-level height

ce

Pla

56

tr ee t

Fra n
kly n
S

28.3 RL

32.5 RL

eet

et

40 RL

Fra ncis Str

et
Gro se Stre

38 RL

38 RL

Fig 1. Indicative LEP Map with proposed RLs

De
rb
y

Gre ek Stre

39.3 RL

El im P
la ce

Bay Str eet
Knox Street

St Barn aba s Stre

et

Design Review Study 225-277 Broadway, Glebe

8

February 2018

Detailed setbacks to Glebe Point Rd and Glebe Heritage Conservation Area as described in section 4.

Grose Lane Wall height at RL 40.00

Mid Setback height at RL 39.30

Streetwall height to Broadway at RL 38.00

2. Height

Maximum 4:1 including bonuses and excluding FSR below Broadway level

1. FSR

The City’s study resulted in the following recommendations:

5. Recommendations

57

For City of Sydney
September 2016

Review of
Planning Controls
225-277 Broadway, Glebe

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

www.architectus.com.au

Architectus Melbourne
Level 7 250 Victoria Parade
East Melbourne VIC 3002
Australia
T +61 3 9429 5733
F +61 3 9429 8480
Melbourne@architectus.com.au
Managing Director Melbourne
Mark Wilde

Architectus Sydney
Level 3 341 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Australia
T +61 2 8252 8400
F +61 2 8252 8600
Sydney@architectus.com.au

Nominated Architect
Managing Director Sydney
Ray Brown
NSWARB 6359

Architectus Group Pty Ltd
ABN 90 131 245 684

58
2

59

Opportunities and Constraints

1.13

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Study Area Existing Built Form

1.12

Development Controls Summary

1.8

Broadway Building Datums

Building Height

1.7

1.11

Figure Ground

1.6

Heritage

Access and Connectivity

1.5

Noise

Land Use

1.4

1.10

Precinct Character and Context

1.3

1.9

Study Area Overview

Current Planning Proposals

30

29

28

27

26

22

21

20

19

18

12

10

8

7

Analysis

1

1.2

4

Executive Summary

1.1

3

Contents

Contents

4.4

4.3

4.2

4.1

4

3.7

3.6

3.5

3.4

3.3

3.2

3.1

3

2.1

2

Summary of Areas

Exploratory Options Testing

Sectional Studies

Generic Typology Studies

Appendix: Design Development

Public Interface Analysis

Shadow Analysis

Option 4 – Non-Residential Uses

Option 3 – Additional Height

Option 2 – Lot Amalgamation

Option 1 – Heritage Integration

Options Tested

Built Form Options

Urban Design Principles

Urban Design Principles

3

97

90

87

84

83

78

74

66

58

50

40

38

37

34

33

A key issue in the viability of new medium and high
density residential dwellings in Sydney is noise affected
environments. This study tests the suitability of residential
uses on a challenging group of sites through an integrated
combination of urban design and architecture strategies.
The approaches and systems adopted in this study area
may be used as a precedent for development in similarly
noise-affected urban areas.

The study area nominated by the City of Sydney presents
a range of complex and interrelated challenges for
redevelopment. The study area is a composite of multiple,
fragmented and irregular lots, largely under separate
ownerships with potential heritage items. The area is also
flanked on both sides by major sources noise.

Executive Summary

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

60
– Option 4 - Non-Residential Uses

– Option 3 - Amalgamation (with height)

– Option 2 - Amalgamation

– Option 1 - Heritage

– Identify three residential development options and one non-residential
option that can be tested for positive public and private outcomes.
These options include:

4

This study has worked to identify and address the issues of amenity which
arise as a result of proposing residential development along noisy roads.
It has also explored a number of methodologies in design, construction
and acoustic engineering in an attempt to mitigate their impact. While it
is noted that residential uses are permissible and plausible propositions
within the study area, development would have to be contingent on
addressing the key constraint of noise in addition to other issues related
to amenity. Furthermore, the study has illustrated that the constraints
inherent to residential development coupled with constraints of the study
area itself would indicate that non-residential uses would be more suitable
in terms of amenity and overall floor space yield.

Key Outcome

– Activation of public and private frontages and spaces

– Noise attenuation strategies

Acoustic Constraints

– Contributory features

– Understand constraints and opportunity for development, and develop
urban design principles to guide the design process.

– Character areas

– Analyse the subject sites, their location within the wider urban context,
applicable development controls, and desired future character.

– Heritage items

Heritage Features

– Indicative floor space yield

– Residential apartment design, including SEPP 65 considerations, such
as daylight access, cross and natural ventilation that mandate a level of
design quality.

– Streetscape as public interface

Study Objectives:

The study area currently has two current Planning Proposal interests and
requests which seek to alter the planning controls.

The study area defined by the City of Sydney comprises approximately
4650 square metres over 13 separate lots, which range in size from 151 to
1216 square metres.

Area of Study

The aim of this study is to investigate and test the delivery of a consistent
strategic planning outcome for the properties identified in the study area.

Aim of Study
Built Form

The study area is located in a prominent city gateway location. It is
elongated east-west with noise and shadowing impacts to the north and
south. It also features a number of Victorian, Federation and Inter-war
period commercial buildings within the site and is located adjacent to
a conservation area. The report seeks to successfully address each of
these criteria in order to evaluate the possibility of creating high quality
places for living and working, while also contributing to the character of
the surrounding urban environment.

Architectus has been commissioned by the City of Sydney to undertake a
review of the existing planning controls for a block of properties, from 225
to 277 Broadway.
It is understood that this document could be used as supporting
documentation for investigation to justify potential for additional density
and capacity on this site.

Key Considerations

The Purpose of this Report

61

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

The University
of Sydney

Parramatta Road

Victoria
Park

d

oa

tR

oin

Darlington

eP

STUDY AREA

oad

Forest
Lodge

Gl
eb

yR
Cit

Glebe

nd Stree
t

Clevela

Redfern

Chippendale

Broadway

Ultimo

et
re
St
s
rri
Ha

eet
Abercrombie Str

t
ee
Str
le
t
t
Wa

5

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

62
6

63

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

1 Analysis

7

Study Area Overview

The northern boundary of the study area is bound by Grose Street, which
is currently used as a service road by the adjacent Broadway Shopping
Centre. Although the road provides vehicular access to the study area,
the adjacent shopping centre loading dock is a major source of noise
pollution.

The built form across the study area is typically composed of street
wall buildings which range from two to four storeys in height. Their
architectural language can best be described as varied, with architectural
styles ranging from Victorian to Art Deco. A small portion of the western
section of the study area is partially located within the Glebe Conservation
area (see Section 1.8).

The existing study area is made up of 13 individual lots and stretches from
the corner of Glebe Point Road and Broadway to the former Grace Bros
building (now the Broadway Shopping Centre). Most lots are currently
occupied by one or more buildings on the site and vary greatly in their
frontages to Broadway and their subsequent size.

Study Area Composition

1.1

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Planning Proposal requests

There are current planning proposal requests for the development of 253
Broadway and 263-279 Broadway (see Section 1.2).

Current Planning Proposal Requests

The development options in this report are based on some lot
amalgamations, as explained in Section 3.1.

Most lots within the study area are under individual ownership with the
exception of 257-259 Broadway and 233-245 Broadway which are multiple
lots under single ownership.

Lot Ownership

64
0 4

10

20

Scale 1:1,000 @ A3

8

50m

65
225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

University Hall
+38.14

North Elevation - Broadway

2-12 Broadway (University Hall)

1-9 Glebe Point Road

279 Broadway

263-253 Broadway (Park View )Building

261 Broadway
255 Broadway
Parapet
+37.98

STUDY AREA

257-259 Broadway

255 Broadway

247-253 Broadway
243-245 Broadway
233-241 Broadway
229 -231 Broadway
225-227 Broadway
Broadway Shopping
Centre (Turret)
+39.13

Broadway Shopping Centre

Uni Lodge Student Accommodation

0 4
10
20

Scale 1:1,000 @ A3

9

50m

Current Planning Proposals

The Concept Design retains the function of the existing building which
is a hotel and retail use at ground floor. The hotel is currently housed in
a poorly maintained period Art Deco building. The new design assumes
the demolition of the existing building on site to make way for the new
building. The Concept Design proposes a seven storey, 79 room hotel
with a central atrium and rooftop bar.

The indicative Concept Design by a+ Design Group for 253 Broadway
was developed to support a request to prepare a Planning Proposal for
the site which sought to amend the height and floor space ratio allocated
for the site. Similar to adjacent sites, the subject site is zoned B2 (Local
Centre). The Concept Design for the site proposed an increase in the
maximum floor space ratio for the current site from 2.0:1 to 4.0:1. It was
unclear in the concept from the drawings, the height of the proposed
building.

253 Broadway, Glebe

1.2

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

66
10

67

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

The indicative design features a partial retail level on ground floor to
the Broadway frontage and a central courtyard above ground where
apartments or commercial floor space are arranged. The site is currently
zoned under B2 Local Centre.

The request for a Planning Proposal seeks to increase the maximum floor
space ratio for the current site from 2.0:1 to 3.5:1 (mixed use commercial
and residential use) or 4.5:1 (mixed use retail and residential use). The
Proposal also seeks an amendment to the prescribed building height from
18.0m to 27.0m when measured from Grose Street

SJB Architects have undertaken an indicative design for a five (5) to six
(6) storey mixed use development as part of a request for a Planning
Proposal for the site. The new building proposes the demolition of all
buildings on site, replacing them with a single building.

263-279 Broadway, Glebe

11

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Buildings at 253 Broadway (APGS) and 255 Broadway (Art Deco Hotel), potential heritage items

The northern boundary of the study area is bound by Grose Street, which
is currently used as a service road by the adjacent Broadway Shopping
Centre. Although the road provides vehicular access to the study area,
the adjacent shopping centre loading dock is a major source of noise
pollution.

The built form across the Study Area typically composed of street
wall buildings which range from two to four storeys in height. Their
architectural language can best be described as varied, with architectural
styles ranging from Victorian to Art Deco. A small portion of the western
section of the study area is partially located within the Glebe Conservation
area (see Section 3.1)

View from Grose Street of vehicular entry to 255 Broadway

Precinct Character and Context

The existing study area is made up of 14 individual lots and stretches from
the corner of Glebe Point Road and Broadway to the former Grace Bros
building (now the Broadway Shopping Centre). Most lots are currently
occupied by one or more buildings on the site and vary greatly in their
frontages to Broadway and their subsequent size.

Study Area

1.3

68
Commercial building at 4-8 Grose Street

12

View from Grose Street of loading dock to Broadway Shopping Centre

View from Broadway looking south to the intersection of City Road

View from Broadway looking south to the intersection of Glebe Point Road

69

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

More recently an increased demand for housing close to the city along
with the development of University sites along Broadway has seen a
dramatic change in the road’s built form character. The most visible of
these changes can be seen at the eastern end of Broadway. The One
Central Park building on the former CUB site and the UTS Building 9 both
rise to meet the previously constructed UTS tower to reinforce Broadway
as a ‘gateway’ into central Sydney.

A number of educational institutions are located along or around
Broadway, including the University of Technology, Sydney Institute of
Technology and Notre Dame University.

The stretch was also a hub for major retailers in the early 20th century
and previously home to the Grace Brothers department store (now the
Broadway Shopping Centre).

Broadway is a locality around the road of the same name, which borders
the suburbs of Ultimo, Chippendale and Glebe. The road is historically
significant as it is one of the first roads built in New South Wales,
connected George Street and Parramatta Roads. Broadway is lined by a
number of heritage buildings on both sides ranging for 2 to 5 storeys in
height and marked by a number of infill buildings

Broadway

13

Village character - view looking north east down Glebe Point Road

Village character - view looking north east down Glebe Point Road

The northern end to City Road is framed by the prominent clock towers of
the Broadway Shopping Centre and marks the intersection of the road to
Broadway.

The scale of development to the Chippendale edge of City Road is
relatively low density, characterised by terrace houses and small scale
shops.

The road previously was served by the Sydney Tram service until its
removal in the 1950’s and was replaced by the bus services, all of which
still run today. For the most part, the road forms the suburban boundary
between Chippendale and Victoria Park.

City Road is a major road located off the corner of Broadway and
Parramatta Road. The road extends from north to south, along Victoria
Park through to the University of Sydney and becomes King Street as it
enters the suburb of Newtown.

City Road

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Glebe is well served by public infrastructure. Its high street, Glebe Point
Road is served by buses that run regularly to central Sydney. It is also
served by two local light rail stations and several public schools are
located within the area.

It is a culturally vibrant community and home to a diverse mix of
residents which include young families, university students and young
professionals. While the suburb has undergone a gradual gentrification
over a period of time, a large proportion of residents live in public housing
estates to the south-eastern end of the suburb.

Glebe is a suburb which is surrounded by Blackwattle and Rozelle Bays,
inlets of Sydney Harbour, in the north. The suburb consists of a diverse
mix of single dwellings, terraces, apartments and public housing estates.

Glebe

70
Terrace house development typical to Glebe

Department of Housing development from the 1980’s

Victoria Park edge to City Road

Fine grain street edge development to City Road

14

Village character - view looking north east down Glebe Point Road conservation area

View from City Road looking south - west to the University of Sydney

View from City Road looking north to the intersection of Broadway (Victoria Park to the left)

71

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Glebe Point Road is also a significant transport corridor for the local area,
connecting Glebe and surrounding areas to the Broadway Shopping
Centre to Rozelle Bay to Alexandria, Coogee and the city centre.

The street is known as a boutique shopping strip famous for its numerous
restaurants, cafés and bars. It is a destination for many in Sydney, with
Glebe Point Road being seen as critical to a vibrant village atmosphere.

The street is characterised by a series of low rise Victorian Federation
shops and terrace houses which gives the street a village feel. It is
protected by the Glebe Point Road Heritage Conservation Area listing.

Glebe Point Road is the main road of the inner city suburb of Glebe. The
road begins at the north-eastern corner of Victoria Park, where Broadway
becomes Parramatta Road.

Glebe Point Road

Village character - view down Glebe Point Road conservation area featuring 2-3 storey retail shops

15

View from the intersection of Glebe Point Road and Francis Street

View from Broadway looking south to the intersection of Glebe Point Road

In more recent history, the neighbourhood has undergone gradual
gentrification with considerable redevelopment of former industrial
buildings for both residential and commercial uses. Examples of this
include the Broadway Shopping Centre, former home of the Grace
Brothers department store.

The suburb was previously known as a centre for industrial activity within
the city with its close proximity to the former working wharfs of Darling
Harbour providing worker housing and storage facilities for goods. As
a result, Ultimo is composed of a rich mix of masonry large industrial
warehouse buildings of various styles and smaller terrace row houses.

Ultimo is located 2 kilometres south-west of the Sydney central business
district and is bound by Glebe to the west, Chippendale to the south and
Pyrmont to the north.

Ultimo

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

The University of Notre Dame Australia sits along the northern border
with campus buildings scattered through the suburb. The University of
Technology, Sydney and the University of Sydney have campuses nearby.

The western flank of Chippendale is largely residential with businesses
interspersed in some parts of the precinct. More recently with the
development of the Central Park precinct, Chippendale has seen a drastic
and rapid transformation. Once a largely neglected part of the inner city,
the suburb is now undergoing rapid gentrification and is the new focus for
a rapidly growing arts and food culture within Sydney.

Chippendale is located between Broadway to the north and Cleveland
Street to the south, Central railway station to the east and the University
of Sydney to the west. The suburb is one of the smallest in metropolitan
Sydney and is characterised by a mix of tightly knit residential terrace
houses, and multi-storey brick industrial buildings. Its narrow street
network and relative lack of open green space creates a hard edged
urban environment in which to work and live.

Chippendale

72
View looking north down Mountain Street

View from Shepherd Street - warehouse and terrace house typologies

View from Small Street - new student housing development

16

View from Buckland Street and Blackfriars UTS Campus (left)

View looking west from Kelly Street warehouse conversion , typical to area

73

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

The park also contains a number of historic structures that provide a
reference to the park’s heritage. These include the entrance gates on
Parramatta Road and the Gardener’s Lodge off City Road (which has
now been adapted to house a café). These and other items within the
parkland are heritage-listed along with the University and its grounds.

The nine hectare park is used regularly by residents as a place of
gathering on occasion and for recreational uses. It is characterised by
large grassy fields criss crossed by a number of pathway networks that
lead to and from the Sydney University grounds. A number of mature
trees are located in and around the park grounds along with a small
picturesque lake (Lake Northam). A swimming pool complex is also
located within the parkland which is used regularly by local residents.

Victoria Park is situated on the corner of Broadway and City Roads,
adjacent to the grounds of University of Sydney and across Parramatta
Road from the area of study.

Victoria Park

View of ceremonial axis from Sydney University Grounds to city centre

Heritage Item - The Gardeners Lodge

17

View of study area looking from Victoria Park across Lake Northam
View of study area looking from Victoria Park

View of Victoria Park looking east from Broadway

Land Use

Victoria Park, located to the south of the site, provides local residents,
students and visitors with a large, open green space and additional
facilities such as the Victoria Park pool and gym. The site provides
expansive views of the park and Sydney University beyond.

The Broadway shopping centre is composed of two large singular
buildings which occupy two entire blocks to the north of the site and are
up to six storeys in height. The shopping centre itself is designed to be
inward looking and is devoid of external windows or openings. With the
exception of car park and loading entries at street level, the centre does
little to respond and engage with its immediate context.

The Broadway precinct is characterised by a variety of uses which range
from education and recreation to retail and residential. The subject site
is flanked by Broadway Shopping Centre to the north and Victoria Park
to the south. The surrounding suburbs of Chippendale and Glebe are
primarily low density residential areas with a mix of traditional Victorian
terrace houses, adaptive re-use buildings and infill housing. A number
of educational institutions line Broadway including the University of
Technology and the University of Notre Dame along with a large number
of small retail shops and restaurants.

1.4

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

While the site is located partially within a Heritage Conservation area, no
heritage buildings are currently identified on site. A number of heritage
listed items are located nearby including the former Grace Bros. Building
(currently part of Broadway Shopping Centre) which is located on the
eastern boundary of the site.

74
Land Use and Character

0 10 20

50

100

Scale 1:3,000 @ A3

18

150m

75

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

There are no dedicated cycleways adjacent to the site although Glebe
Point Road is classified as being ‘bicycle-friendly.’

Broadway experiences a high volume of foot traffic as it is the main road
connecting Sydney University, UTS and the University of Notre Dame
and its proximity to Broadway Shopping Centre. Pedestrian crossings
along Broadway are located at the intersections to Glebe Point, City Rd,
Mountain and Abercrombie Streets.

The site is also served by Grose Street which is a one way street located
on the northern boundary, adjacent to the Broadway Shopping Centre.
Grose street lacks amenity and is used primarily as a service road to
access parking for existing uses as well as the shopping centre loading
docks and car park.

Vehicular and Pedestrian Connectivity on Broadway

Access and Connectivity

The subject site is located on Broadway (a major arterial road connecting
Sydney with Parramatta) which offers good connectivity for both public
and private transport options. Bus stops are located on Broadway, Glebe
Point Road and City Road providing direct access to the City as well as
Sydney’s western and south-western suburbs.

1.5

0 10 20

50

100

Scale 1:3,000 @ A3

19

150m

In the street blocks to the east of the study area, the
northern edge of Broadway is defined by a continuous
street wall built form that is broken only by the northsouth streets.

Beyond the immediate study area, the built form along
Glebe Point Road generally appears finer and more
permeable than the buildings on Broadway.

To the north of the site, the Broadway Shopping Centre
is a dominant feature on the landscape. All of the
buildings have a footprint equivalent to the site and
provides little or no permeability between blocks.

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

By contrast, the southern side of Broadway is generally
composed of much smaller lots and finer scale
built form which includes the St. Benedict’s church
grounds.

Figure Ground

Figure Ground

The figure ground diagram clearly shows the density of
development in and around the study area. The study
area itself is shown to be heavily developed with only a
small portion of unoccupied open space.

1.6

76

0 10 20

50

100

Scale 1:2,500 @ A3

20

150m

77

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

By contrast, the southern side of Broadway is generally
composed of much smaller lots and finer scale built
form which includes the St. Benedict’s church grounds

In the street blocks to the east of the study area,
the northern edge of Broadway is characterised by
buildings which are 3 storeys and above. The tallest
built form, at 8 storeys is set back from the street.

Beyond the immediate study area, the built form
along Glebe Point Road generally feature a uniform
2-3 storey terrace style buildings with awnings and
balconies fronting the street.

Immediately north of the study area, the Broadway
Shopping Centre features prominently standing at a
height of 5-7 storeys across two blocks to the north of
the study area.

Building Height

Building Height

The building height mapping diagram clearly shows
the density of development in and around the study
area. The study area itself is shown to be composed
of two to four storey buildings which vary in scale and
height.

1.7

Glebe Point Road features a generally
uniform 2 storeys of terrace buildings with
retail ground floors.

Relatively large commercial and light
industrial blocks north of Broadway
display a wide variety of scale and height.

0 10 20

A distinct 3-5 storey street wall on the north
side of Broadway contrasts with the mix of
1 to 6 storey buildings on the south side.

50

100

Scale 1:2,5000 @ A3

3-5 heritage street wall with taller
contemporary buildings set back from
Broadway.

21

150m

Residential towers north of
Broadway are the tallest
buildings in the precinct

Development Controls Summary

Land Zoning

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Permissible land uses in the B2 zone allow for child care and medical
centres, commercial premises, community, educational and entertainment
facilities, in addition to tourist and visitor accommodation and shop top
housing.

All lots within the study area are located in Zone B2 Local Centre.
The objectives of this zone aim to provide a variety of retail, business,
entertainment and community uses to support people who live in, work
and visit the area. Other key objectives of the zone include encouraging
accessible employment opportunities, active transport participation
maximising public transport patronage, and facilitating appropriate
residential uses that support the vitality of the local centre, in this case
being Glebe.

The study area is subject to a maximum Floor Space Ratio control of 2:1.
This density supports a gradual transition from the built environment and
open space; from 2.5:1 to the north and east side of the site, to 1.5:1
to the north-west of the site along Glebe Point Road and to the south to
Victoria Park.

Floor Space Ratio

Sydney Local Environment Plan (LEP) 2012 Planning Instruments

1.8

78
The height controls of the site ensure future built form complements
existing heritage buildings, is of a scale that supports the vibrant mix of
uses and passive surveillance along Glebe Point Road, in addition to
minimising adverse overshadowing impacts on the street and adjacent
Victoria Park.

22

An 18m maximum building height limit applies to all lots in the subject
site. This corresponds with other properties along the north side of
Broadway. A 15m height limit applies to the shopping centre north of the
site, while a series of height limit transitions (15m and then 12m) step
down from Broadway to a uniform 9m maximum building height along
Glebe Point Road.

The objective of the height of building control is to ensure the height
of development is appropriate to the site and context. The maximum
height control of the site ensures appropriate height transitions between
new development and existing heritage items and buildings in heritage
conservation areas, promote the sharing of views.

Height of Buildings

79

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

The site at the corner of Broadway and Glebe Point Road (263-279
Broadway) is located within a Heritage Conservation Area, and as
such, future development must be considered against the specific
characteristics of this Heritage Conservation Area. (The Building Heritage
Contribution, from the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012, is
explained on the following page).

Adjacent to the east end of the subject site is the Local Heritage listed
former Grace Bros department store (213 Broadway). To the west of the
site, opposite Glebe Point Road, is the State Heritage listed University Hall
and Colleges building (281-285 Broadway, Glebe).

To the south side of Broadway is the Local Heritage listed Victoria Park.
Future developments of the site will need to consider the impact of the
proposed development on these items, as well as other heritage items in
the vicinity.

None of the lots within this subject site are heritage items, however there
are heritage issues to consider for some of these properties.

Heritage

The subject site is listed as Category A under the Land Use and Transport
Integration plan, and Category D under the Public Transport Accessibility
Level plan. This means that the site has the highest level of transport
accessibility available, and therefore is subject to more restrictive car
parking controls relative to other sites located further away from public
transport services.

Public Transport Accessibility Level

Land Use and Transport Integration

23

Height in Storeys

Sydney Development Control Plan (DCP) 2012

A continuous awning is to be provided above the footpath to shelter
pedestrians and support activity along the Broadway and Glebe Point
Road frontages of this site.

Section 3.2.1.1 of the DCP on ‘Sunlight to Publicly Accessible Spaces’
requires:

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

(2) Shadow diagrams are to be submitted with the development
application and indicate the existing condition and proposed shadows at
9am, 12 noon and 2pm on 14 April and 21 Jun. If required, the consent
authority may request additional detail and assess the overshadowing
impacts.

(1) Overshadowing effects of new buildings on publicly accessible open
space are to be minimised between the hours of 9am and 3pm on 21 June

Footpath Awnings and Colonnades:

An active frontage is to be provided along the southern boundary of
all lots in the study area. This will contribute to the continuous active
frontage proposed along Broadway and Glebe Point Road between Bay
Street and Francis Street.

Active Frontages:

Footpath Awnings and Colonnades

Active Frontages

The study area is elongated in an east-west direction, and is located to
the north of Victoria Park. Any development of this site must minimise
overshadowing of this publicly accessible space.

Sunlight to Publicly Accessible Spaces

The Sydney DCP 2012 provides a five storey height control for all lots
within the subject site. This is compatible with the 18m height limit as
prescribed by the Sydney LEP 2012.

80
24

Glebe Point Road is identified as a pedestrian priority street. The study
area’s frontage to Glebe Point Road and Broadway has a significant role
to play in supporting or enhancing the vibrancy of street life as well as
connecting pedestrians in Glebe Point Road with transport, shopping,
employment, and recreation opportunities in Broadway, Ultimo, Victoria
Park, and Chippendale. Vehicle movements generated by the subject site
should be directed away from Glebe Point Road to discourage increased
vehicular access to this people-oriented place.

Pedestrian Priority

81

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

The subject site is part of the Broadway-centred “City Living Area”, a
place with an evolving consideration for night time entertainment. This
may involve considerations for the management and trading hours of
night time activities on the site.

Late Night Trading Areas

The subject site has been assessed for its contribution to heritage areas,
and 263-279 Broadway has been determined as providing a neutral effect
on the heritage sites on Glebe Point Road. Should this site redevelop, its
contribution should either be enhanced to “contributory” or remain neutral
– it should not detract from the special characteristics of the Heritage
Conservation Area.

Building Heritage Contribution

tR
oa

d

Mountain
Street

25

The area is to continue to provide a diverse and sustainable mix of uses
in adaptively reused warehouse buildings or in new buildings at bulk and
scale complementary to existing. Views through the precinct to Wentworth
Park are to be retained and access to open space improved.

Mountain Street

Glebe Point Road is encouraged to develop as a focus for cultural, artistic,
health and well-being uses. Thus development is to be consistent with
19th Century streetscape consisting of fine grain small scale, 2-3 storey
buildings, supporting diverse and vibrant uses. Pedestrian focussed
interfaces and considered street plantings are important.

Glebe Point Road

The site is subject to two local character areas – Glebe Point Road and
Mountain Street.

eP
oin

Gl
eb

Local Character Areas

Heritage

The subsequent development options in this report (in particular option 1)
has been adapted to reflect an outcome where a partial retention of these
buildings has been explored.

The heritage report also identifies a number of properties within the study
area as having a ‘contributory’ value to the heritage value of Broadway.
These potentially include 4-8 Grose Street, 225-227, 247-253, 255, 261
and 263 Broadway.

Within the study area itself, the heritage report undertaken by heritage
consultants RPS, following advice from the City of Sydney, considers each
lot’s contribution to heritage attributes of the area – specifically to the
Glebe Point Road Heritage Conservation Area at the western end of the
study site, and more generally in close proximity to other City of Sydney
Heritage Conservation Areas.

The study site is bookended by the former Grace Bros. Building
(Broadway Shopping Centre) located on the eastern boundary and the
Glebe Point Road Heritage Conservation Area on the western boundary.
The western edge of the study area is part of the Glebe Point Road
conservation area.

Heritage Considerations

1.9

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

82

Contributory
Neutral
Neutral
Neutral
Contributory
Contributory

4-8 Grose Street

Contributory

255 Broadway
247-253 Broadway
243-245 Broadway
233-241 Broadway
229-231 Broadway
225-227 Broadway

Contributory
Contributory
Neutral

Potential Contribution to
Streetscape
Contributory
Neutral

263 Broadway
261 Broadway
257-259 Broadway

279 Broadway
263-277 Broadway

Address

Heritage Contribution Assessment

0 4

10

20

Scale 1:1,000 @ A3

26

50m

Early 20th Century Federation Anglo-Dutch style with attractive Dutch gable.
Early 20th Century Federation freestyle classical styling with prominent banded pilasters.
Estimated late Victorian / early Federation building with classical window proportions and
dressed sandstone frontage to Grose Street.
Large Federation warehouse featuring a distinctive arched facade with dressed sandstone
detailing.
Inter-war Art Deco building with horizontal articulation and prominent stepped bay feature.
Inter-war building with limited architectural significance.
Inter-war building with limited architectural significance.
Estimated Victorian buildings with moulded parapet and pediment details.
Double bay terrace Ca. 1886 with highly modelled facade, classically detailed window
surrounds, and strong course and parapet detailing.
Estimated mid 19th Century / early Victorian / old Colonial building of restrained form and
scale.

Federation freestyle design with prominent archway and articulated parapet.
Ca. 1939-41 inter-war functionalist building with restrained detailing and curved frontage
addressing the Glebe Point Road corner.

Description

83

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

– Restricting the height of proposed buildings on Grose Street such that
it does not exceed that of Broadway, allowing for one building to shield
the other.

– Placing all circulation spaces including lifts, lobbies and corridors to the
outer perimeter of the building adjacent to major roads.

– Orientating all habitable rooms and operable fenestration in apartments
inwards to address the central courtyard and to provide natural
ventilation.

– Adopting a perimeter building typology with a central courtyard.

Following a further investigation of the built form envelopes, the following
key recommendations were made for development sites tested:

While these measures assisted in the mitigation of noise it was noted
that no single solution could alleviate noise to within acceptable levels
as outlined in the report. A combination of these measures could be
implemented to provide an acceptable acoustic outcome.

– Acoustically treated bulkheads and ventilators.

– Acoustically treated winter gardens was possible to alleviate road
noise to Broadway, however this potentially would add significant
cost to a residential development and may significantly dictate the
aesthetic of the building.

– Internal apartment layout and orientation

– Built form configuration - perimeter block buildings with operable
fenestration facing into central courtyards and street setbacks (to
option 1 only).

The report took into consideration the following measures to maximise the
performance of the proposed built form envelopes within the study area.
These measures included:

The study area is exposed to major sources of noise along its two major
elevations - Grose Street to the north and Broadway to the south. The
acoustic assessment undertaken by Acoustic Logic presents a summary
of existing conditions on site and a review of potential natural ventilation
measures that minimise the impact of road traffic noise in residential
development.

Noise Considerations

1.10 Noise

The report also noted that for all scenarios, the noise from the mechanical
plant from the Broadway Shopping Centre on Grose Street will need to
be addressed given its immediate impact to the north façades of the
study area. This may be addressed through the application of acoustic
attenuation. The report noted that this process would require negotiation
with the appropriate land holders which may or may not be proven not be
proven feasible.

attenuated at source.

27

Note: Study images
assume Broadway
Shopping Centre noise is

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

University Hall
+38.14

Broadway - North Elevation

2-12 Broadway (University Hall)

1-9 Glebe Point Road

279 Broadway
Park View Building 257 Broadway
+31.8
+26.5

263-253 Broadway (Park View) Building

261 Broadway

255 Broadway
+37.99

STUDY AREA

257-259 Broadway
255 Broadway

247-253 Broadway
243-245 Broadway
233-241 Broadway

1.11 Broadway Building Datums

84
229 -231 Broadway
225-227 Broadway
Broadway Shopping
Centre Turret
+39.13

Broadway Shopping Centre

Uni Lodge Student Accommodation

0 4
10
20

Scale 1:1,000 @ A3

28

50m

85

P O I N T

R O A D

2-12 Broadway
(University Hall)

279

263-277

R

255

G

S

y
tud
S

E

R
T
S 4-8

E

243-245
247-253

O

ea

Ar

T

B

O

A

D

Y

Victoria Park

R

W

A

225-227
229-231
233-241

E

255
Y
I T

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

G L E B E

1-9 Glebe
Point Road

257
259
261

Broadway Shopping
Centre

1.12 Study Area Existing Built Form

C
R O
A D
29

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

13 Existing buildings currently within the study area that have Heritage
significance will need to be considered when looking at redevelopment options.

12 Any new development will need to ensure the preservation of existing
views across the site from Victoria Park to Sydney CBD.

11 Any future development above the existing line of buildings may
cause overshadowing to Victoria Park.

10 Vehicular traffic along Broadway is a major source of noise and
emissions pollution.

9 The Broadway Shopping Centre’s current building height (six storeys)
limits solar access to the site. The plant rooms located on the centre’s
roof is also a major source of noise pollution on site.

8 Grose Street is largely neglected and used as a service road for the
adjacent Broadway Shopping Centre’s loading docks.

7 Heritage buildings within the immediate vicinity of the site including
University House and Grace Bros. Building provide a pre-established
datum for potential podium development.

6 The diversity of lot sizes across the site may affect permeability and
result in inconsistent development along the street over time as
smaller sites are unlikely to develop for non-residential uses.

Constraints

5 The site has good access to city views above the Broadway Shopping
Centre.

4 The intersection of Broadway and Glebe Point Road is a significant
ceremonial gateway marking the entry into the suburb of Glebe.

3 Broadway provides potential for a highly visible and active frontage.
The road is a major arterial which carries high volumes of both
vehicular and pedestrian traffic.

2 Close proximity to major education institutions including – Sydney
University, UTS, Notre Dame University + Sydney Institute of
Technology.

1 The site has a clear and unobstructed view to Victoria Park and
Sydney University precinct.

Opportunities

1

Opportunities and Constraints Plan

2

1.13 Opportunities and Constraints

86
7

12
2

4

7
8

11

10

13

9

6

3

7

5

0 10 20

50

100

Scale 1:3,000 @ A3

2

2

30

150m

87

88

89

2 Urban Design
Principles

/$.(1257+$0

9,&725,$3$5.

%52$':$<

*526(675((7

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

– Develop a sympathetic built form response which respects the existing
heritage interfaces around the area of study. These include the Glebe
Heritage Conservation area to the north, the Grace Bros. building to the
east, and University Hall to the west.

/$.(1257+$0

9,&725,$3$5.

%52$':$<

– Seek out opportunities to integrate through site connections between
Broadway and Grose Street to increase permeability and encourage
movement across the site.

*526(675((7

2. Site Connectivity

$

/$.(1257+$0

– Encourage uses along Grose Street to develop a level of ‘fine grain’
development and a new point of activation.

– Develop a coherent street wall facade to Broadway and Glebe Point
Road that provides continuity of built form while responding to local
character.

34

– Develop uses (retail or otherwise) which maintain an edge to Broadway
which is vibrant and active.

$

3. Built Form Continuity + Active Frontage

*526(675((7

1. Heritage Interfaces

%52$':$<

Urban Design Principles

9,&725,$3$5.

2.1

90

91

/$.(1257+$0

9,&725,$3$5.

%52$':$<

*526(675((7

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

– Develop built form solutions which assist in achieving natural cross
ventilation

– Develop built form design solutions which maximise solar access to
each dwelling while minimising the impact of overshadowing on Victoria
Park.

/$.(1257+$0

9,&725,$3$5.

%52$':$<

– Determine the feasibility of residential and non-residential uses on this
site. A summary of the acoustic report undertaken by Acoustic Logic
into the effects of residential development within the study area is
located on page 25 of this report.

– Explore built form solutions that mitigate the impacts of noise emanating
from Broadway and the Broadway Shopping Centre roof plant.

*526(675((7

5. Noise

6. Views

9,&725,$3$5.
%52$':$<

35

– Maximise where possible views to Victoria Park, Lake Northam and the
University of Sydney to the south and the city centre to the north and
east.

*526(675((7

4. Solar Access & Natural Cross Ventilation

/$.(1257+$0

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

92
36

93

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

3 Built Form Options

37

Option 2 – Amalgamation

Option 2 – Amalgamation Plan

Option 1 – Amalgamation Plan

Options Tested

Option 1 – Heritage Integration

3.1

– Amalgamation into a total of 6 development lots as shown in the plan
above.

\

\

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

S
6LWH$UHD
*)$$FKLHYHG
$JJUHJDWH)65$FKLHYHG

Yield Summary:





– Amalgamation into a total of 7 development lots as shown in the plan
above.

– Maximum height of development limited to RL 37.98 to match the
heritage building at 255 Broadway.

– Step-down in street wall height from Broadway to Glebe Point Road.

Yield Summary:
S
6LWH$UHD
*)$$FKLHYHG
$JJUHJDWH)65$FKLHYHG

Yield Summary:
S
6LWH$UHD
*)$$FKLHYHG
$JJUHJDWH)65$FKLHYHG





– Amalgamation into a total of 6 development lots as shown in the plan
above.

– Maximum height of development limited to RL 37.98 to match the
heritage building at 255 Broadway.

\

– Maximum height of development limited by avoiding excessive
overshadowing impacts on Victoria Park.

– Continuous street wall height from Broadway to Glebe Point Road.

\

– Continuous street wall height from Broadway to Glebe Point Road.

– Existing building at 225 Broadway has heritage value.

– Existing buildings at 225 Broadway and 4-8 Grose Street have heritage
value.

– The façades of 225-227, 247-253, 261, 263, and 279 Broadway have
heritage value.

– Existing building at 225 Broadway has heritage value.

– Zero setbacks to all boundaries create street walls along Broadway,
Glebe Point Road, and Grose Street.

\

\




– Zero setbacks to all boundaries create street walls along Broadway,
Glebe Point Road, and Grose Street.

Assumptions:

– Zero setbacks to all boundaries create street walls along Broadway,
Glebe Point Road, and Grose Street.

Assumptions:

Option 3 – Amalgamation Plan

Option 3 – Amalgamation (With Additional Height)

Assumptions:

94
38

95





225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

2SWLRQD6WXGHQW+RXVLQJ
6LWH$UHD
*)$6WXGHQW+RXVLQJ
$JJUHJDWH)65$FKLHYHG





2SWLRQE&RPPHUFLDOUHWDLO
*)$&RPPHUFLDOUHWDLO E 
$JJUHJDWH)65$FKLHYHG E 

2SWLRQF+RWHO
*)$+RWHO F 
$JJUHJDWH)65$FKLHYHG F 

– The narrow courtyard building type is based on a commercial/education
building - The L5 Building at the University of New South Wales which
is located in a similar urban context fronting Anzac Parade, a busy main
road with similar acoustic issues.

– Amalgamation into a total of 6 development lots as shown in the plan
above.

– Maximum height of development limited by avoiding excessive
overshadowing impacts on Victoria Park.

– Continuous street wall height from Broadway to Glebe Point Road.

– Existing building at 225 Broadway has heritage value.

– Zero setbacks to all boundaries create street walls along Broadway,
Glebe Point Road, and Grose Street.

Assumptions:

Option 4a - 4c – Amalgamation Plan

Option 4a - 4c – Non-Residential Uses

Typical floor plate measurements:
BEA - 830m2
GFA - 580m2

– Multi-floor student housing type
comprising four to six bedroom
configurations with communal
kitchen and recreational facilities on
each floor.

70%

85%

90%

75%

Indicative Efficiency

39

These efficiency percentages may be used as rules of thumb to determine the yield of development options based on use. They are derived from
evidence based research which has analysed similar building typologies and uses. It is to be used as an approximation tool and is non-binding. Each
subject site to more detailed design and investigation of sites.

University of Newcastle Student Housing (Architectus)

Student Housing

Typical floor plate measurements:
BEA - 720m2
GFA - 615m2

Parkroyal Parramatta (Architectus)

Hotel
– Multi-storey hotel/short stay
accommodation with single aspect
rooms and enclosed gallery access.

Typical floor plate measurements:
BEA - 990m2
GFA - 900m2

– Small / narrow floor plate
commercial buildings suitable for
strata office or education/seminar
uses with lift and stair access.

Typical floor plate measurements:
BEA - 1510m2
GFA - 1150m2

– Single aspect multi-level apartment
building with gallery access and
ground floor entry. (Galleries in
reference assumed to be enclosed
for purposes of comparison and
counted as Gross Floor Area)

Planning Proposal for 263-279 Broadway (SJB Architects)

City-West Housing Apartments, North Everleigh(Architectus)

Residential

Commercial/retail

Reference

Building Use

The building envelopes proposed has the potential for a variety of uses. In order to arrive at a plausible Gross Floor Area (GFA) for each use, a
efficiency factor has been assigned. This factor is expressed as a percentage and can be applied to the Building Envelope Area (BEA) to obtain an
approximate GFA. The nominated building use, efficiency factor specific precedent on which the factor is based is outlined below:

Efficiency of Built Form Envelopes

Option 1 – Heritage Integration

Option 1 – Built Form Model

3.2

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

96
40

97

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Option 1 – Typical Section

0

1

2

4

Scale 1:200 @ A3

41

10m

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Retail/ Commercial

Option 1 – Commercial Ground Floor Plan (West)

98
Retail/ Commercial

Retail/ Commercial

42

99

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Retail/ Commercial

Option 1 – Commercial Ground Floor Plan (East)

Retail/ Commercial

Retail/ Commercial

Ground Floor Courtyard

4-8 Grose Street

0

1

2

Retail/ Commercial

4

Scale 1:200 @ A3

43

10m

Option 1 – Typical Residential Floor Plan (West)

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

100
44

101

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Option 1 – Typical Residential Floor Plan (East)

0

1

2

4

Scale 1:200 @ A3

45

10m

Option 1 – Upper Residential Floor Plan (West)

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

102
46

103

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Option 1 – Upper Residential Floor Plan (East)

0

1

2

4

Scale 1:200 @ A3

47

10m

Option 1 – View Analysis

View of Broadway from Lake Northam, Victoria Park

View south-east along Glebe Point Road towards Victoria Park

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

View north-west across Broadway from City Road

View east along Broadway from Sydney University

104
View of Broadway from the south side of Victoria Park Pool

View west along Broadway from Buckland Street

48

105

Advantages
– A high degree of residential amenity is provided for the majority of apartments through a protected internal
series of courtyards, some of which feature openings to the north, allowing increased solar access and
natural ventilation.

Advantages

– All street frontages incorporate heritage and potential heritage buildings or facade elements.








5HV










 









*)$ P

P 








%($

*)$ P

&RP5HW

*URVH

P 

%URDGZD\

%($

&RP5HW

5HV

*)$ P










 

*)$ P








P 

%($

*URVH








&RP5HW

5HV
*)$ P










 

*)$ P








P 

%($

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls







5HV








*)$ P










 

*)$ P

&RP5HW

%URDGZD\

Conversions from Built Envelope Area (BEA) to Gross Floor Area (GFA) vary depending upon proposed
building use. Efficiency factors used are located on page 39 for reference.

*URXQG%URDGZD\
/
/
/
/
/
6XEWRWDO
7RWDO*)$
6LWH$UHD
)65

/HYHO

S

Indicative Yield Schedule
P 

%($






5HV








*)$ P









 

*)$ P

&RP5HW

%URDGZD\

P 

%($







5HV
*)$ P









 

*)$ P

&RP5HW

%URDGZD\









P 

%($







5HV








*)$ P









 

*)$ P

&RP5HW

%URDGZD\

P 

%($















*)$ P









 

*)$ P

&RP5HW

%URDGZD\

– The universal limit to building height facilitates a high degree of residential amenity to apartments throughout the study area by sharing solar access and limiting noise ingress.

– The visual prominence of the important Broadway and Glebe Point Road corner is reduced by the stepping back of the fourth and fifth floors away from Glebe Point Road.

– The retention of existing heritage and contributing buildings and facade elements can facilitate the continuation of this area’s local character.

Conclusion

5HV

49

2SWLRQ6LWH:LGH.H\6XPPDU\
6LWH$UHD

*)$$FKLHYHG

$JJUHJDWH)65$FKLHYHG


– Depending on development order, some apartments are not shielded by road noise (due to dog leg lot
configuration).

– Integrating new built forms and facade elements adds complexity to design and construction.

– The fourth and fifth storey step back from Glebe Point Road detracts from this street wall frontage by limiting
built form continuity northwards from the Broadway intersection and presenting a weak corner across from
University Hall.

Disadvantages

Disadvantages

– Overshadowing of Victoria Park is minimised.

– The street wall transitions in scale, stepping from the five storey Broadway frontage down to the three storey
Glebe Point Road frontage in recognition of the local character and scale of each place.

Private

Public

Summary

Option 2 – Lot Amalgamation

Option 2 – Built Form Model

3.3

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

106
50

107

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Option 2 – Typical Section

0

1

2

4

Scale 1:200 @ A3

51

10m

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Retail/ Commercial

Option 2 – Commercial Ground Floor Plan (West)

108
Retail/ Commercial

Retail/ Commercial

52

109

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Retail/ Commercial

Option 2 – Commercial Ground Floor Plan (East)

Retail/ Commercial

0

1

2

Retail/ Commercial

4

Scale 1:200 @ A3

53

10m

Option 2 – Typical and Upper Residential Floor Plan (West)

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

110
54

111

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Option 2 – Typical and Upper Residential Floor Plan (East)

0

1

2

4

Scale 1:200 @ A3

55

10m

Option 2 – View Analysis

Option 2 – View of Broadway from the south side of Victoria Park Pool

Option 2 – View of Broadway from the south side of Lake Northam,
Victoria Park

Option 2 – View south along Glebe Point Road

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Option 2 – View west along Broadway from Buckland Street

Option 2 – View north across Broadway from City Road

Option 2 – View east along Broadway from Sydney University

112
56

113

Advantages
– A considerable degree of residential amenity is provided by the continuous internal courtyards, which
are protected from direct transmission of noise from external sources by developments along each side.
Reasonable solar access is achievable for the internal courtyard and Broadway building over the continuous
six storey Grose Street building.

Advantages

– The coherent five storey street wall to Broadway creates visual continuity between the Broadway Shopping
Centre, 255 Broadway, and University Hall.

P 

%($








5HV

%($

5HV

*)$ P
*)$ P
















 

&RP5HW

%URDGZD\

*)$ P
*)$ P
P 





















 

&RP5HW

%URDGZD\

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Conversions from Built Envelope Area (BEA) to Gross Floor Area (GFA) vary depending upon proposed
building use. Efficiency factors used are located on page 39 for reference.

/HYHO
*URXQG%URDGZD\
/
/
/
/
/
6XEWRWDO
7RWDO*)$
6LWH$UHD
)65

S

Indicative Yield Schedule
P 

%($







5HV

%($
*)$ P
*)$ P
P 






















 

&RP5HW

%URDGZD\

5HV

%($

5HV

%($

5HV
*)$ P
*)$ P
















 

&RP5HW

%URDGZD\
*)$ P
*)$ P
P 






















 

&RP5HW

%URDGZD\
*)$ P
*)$ P
P 






















 

&RP5HW

%URDGZD\

– The universal limit to building height facilitates a high degree of residential amenity to apartments throughout the study area by sharing solar access and limiting noise ingress.

– The visual prominence of the important Broadway and Glebe Point Road corner is increased by the continuous five storey street wall curving around the corner.

– The existing heritage building at 255 Broadway may be retained as a distinct and high quality component of the Broadway street frontage character.

Conclusion

– Continuing the five storey street wall through to the end of the study area necessitates that another property
(ideally 1-9 Glebe Point Road) provides a height transition from Broadway to Glebe Point Road.

57

2SWLRQ6LWH:LGH.H\6XPPDU\
6LWH$UHD

*)$$FKLHYHG

$JJUHJDWH)65$FKLHYHG


– Depending on development order, some apartments are not shielded by road noise (due to dog leg lot
configuration).

– The loss of the heritage building at 4-8 Grose Street allows a continuity in the block fronting Grose Street,
which limits solar access into and natural ventilation of the internal courtyard relative to Option 1.

– Only 255 Broadway is retained as a heritage building – the other potential heritage elements are lost.

– The fourth and fifth storey step back from Glebe Point Road detracts from this street wall frontage by limiting
built form continuity northwards from the Broadway intersection.

Disadvantages

Disadvantages

– Overshadowing of Victoria Park is minimised.

– The five storey street wall curves around the corner to Glebe Point Road, creating a positive relationship with
the University Hall building opposite, and a distinct ‘threshold’ entry space into Glebe.

Private

Public

Option 2 – Summary

Option 3 – Additional Height

Option 3 – Built Form Model

3.4

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

114
58

115

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Option 3 – Typical Section

0

1

2

4

Scale 1:200 @ A3

59

10m

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Retail/ Commercial

Option 3 – Commercial Ground Floor Plan (West)

116
Retail/ Commercial

Retail/ Commercial

60

117

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Retail/ Commercial

Option 3 – Commercial Ground Floor Plan (East)

Retail/ Commercial

0

1

2

Retail/ Commercial

4

Scale 1:200 @ A3

61

10m

Option 3 – Typical and Upper Residential Floor Plan (West)

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

118
62

119

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Option 3 – Typical and Upper Residential Floor Plan (East)

0

1

2

4

Scale 1:200 @ A3

63

10m

Option 3 – View Impact Analysis

Option 3 – View of Broadway from the south side of Victoria Park Pool

Option 3 – View of Broadway from the south side of Lake Northam,
Victoria Park

Option 3 – View south along Glebe Point Road

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Option 3 – View west along Broadway from Buckland Street

Option 3 – View north across Broadway from City Road

Option 3 – View east along Broadway from Sydney University

120
64

121

– The internal courtyard is almost completely enclosed by buildings, shielding this space and the apartments
that front onto it from road noise and service noise.
– The taller Grose Street building offers a higher degree of residential amenity, with good solar access,
ventilation, and district views available.
Disadvantages

– The coherent five story street wall to Broadway creates visual continuity between the Broadway Shopping
Centre, 255 Broadway, and University Hall.

– The five storey street wall curves around the corner to Glebe Point Road, creating a positive relationship with
the University Hall building opposite, and a distinct ‘threshold’ entry space into Glebe.

– Overshadowing of Victoria Park is minimised.
Disadvantages

– Depending on development order, some apartments are not shielded by road noise (due to dog leg lot
configuration).

– The scale of enclosure of the internal courtyard may limit the effectiveness of natural ventilation for
apartments that front onto this space.

– The Grose Street buildings are located along the north side of the internal courtyard, and produce significant
shadowing impacts upon the courtyard space and the apartments in the Broadway building. This
significantly reduces amenity for a majority of apartments in the complex.

%($
P 

%URDGZD\
&RP5HW
5HV
*%$
*)$ P
*)$ P
P 




















 

%URDGZD\
&RP5HW
5HV
*)$ P
*)$ P




















 

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Conversions from Built Envelope Area (BEA) to Gross Floor Area (GFA) vary depending upon proposed
building use. Efficiency factors used are located on page 39 for reference.

/HYHO
*URXQG%URDGZD\
/
/
/
/
/
6XEWRWDO
7RWDO*)$
6LWH$UHD
)65

S

Indicative Yield Schedule
%($
P 

%URDGZD\
%URDGZD\
&RP5HW
5HV
%($
&RP5HW
5HV
*)$ P
*)$ P
P 
*)$ P
*)$ P



































 
 









%($
P 

%URDGZD\
%URDGZD\
&RP5HW
5HV
%($
&RP5HW
5HV
*)$ P
*)$ P
P 
*)$ P
*)$ P








































 
 

65

2SWLRQ6LWH:LGH.H\6XPPDU\
6LWH$UHD

*)$$FKLHYHG

$JJUHJDWH)65$FKLHYHG


– The nine storey Grose Street building impacts negatively on residential amenity as it may experience direct noise transmission from existing services on the Broadway Shopping Centre rooftop, while excessively overshadowing
neighbouring residences and the internal courtyards to the south.

– The five storey street wall to Broadway and Glebe Point Road provides continuous protection of internal apartments from road noise.

– The visual prominence of the important Broadway and Glebe Point Road corner is increased by the continuous five storey street wall curving around the corner.

– The existing heritage building at 255 Broadway may be retained as a distinct and high quality component of the Broadway street frontage character.

Conclusion

– Continuing the five storey street wall through to the end of the study area necessitates that another property
(ideally 1-9 Glebe Point Road) provides a height transition from Broadway to Glebe Point Road.

– The Grose Street buildings rise several storeys above the Broadway Shopping Centre rooftop, exposing
these apartments to noise from existing building services.

Advantages

Advantages

– Only 255 Broadway is retained as a heritage building – the other potential heritage elements are lost.

Private

Public

Option 3 – Summary

Options 4 – Non-Residential Uses

Option 4 – Built Form Model

3.5

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

122
66

123

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Option 4 – Typical Section

0

1

2

4

Scale 1:200 @ A3

67

10m

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Retail/ Commercial

Option 4 – Commercial Ground Floor Plan (West)

124
Retail/ Commercial

Retail/ Commercial

68

125

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Retail/ Commercial

Option 4 – Commercial Ground Floor Plan (East)

Retail/ Commercial

0

1

2

Retail/ Commercial

4

Scale 1:200 @ A3

69

10m

Option 4 – Typical and Upper Non-Residential Floor Plan (West)

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

126
Light well Below

70

127

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Option 4 – Typical and Upper Non-Residential Floor Plan (East)

Light well Below

0

1

2

4

Scale 1:200 @ A3

71

10m

Option 4– View Analysis

Option 4 – View of Broadway from the south side of Victoria Park Pool

Option 4 – View of Broadway from the south side of Lake Northam,
Victoria Park

Option 4 – View south along Glebe Point Road

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Option 4 – View west along Broadway from Buckland Street

Option 4 – View north across Broadway from City Road

Option 4 – View east along Broadway from Sydney University

128
72

129
Option 4 – View of Broadway from the south side of Victoria Park Pool

Option 4 – View of Broadway from the south side of Lake Northam,
Victoria Park

Option 4 – View south along Glebe Point Road

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Option 4 – View west along Broadway from Buckland Street

Option 4 – View north across Broadway from City Road

Option 4 – View east along Broadway from Sydney University

Option 4 - View Analysis (+2 storeys to Grose Street)

73

Option 4 - View Analysis (+4 storeys to Grose Street)

Option 4 – View of Broadway from the south side of Victoria Park Pool

Option 4 – View of Broadway from the south side of Lake Northam,
Victoria Park

Option 4 – View south along Glebe Point Road

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Option 4 – View west along Broadway from Buckland Street

Option 4 – View north across Broadway from City Road

Option 4 – View east along Broadway from Sydney University

130
74

131












%($
P 

%($
P 

%URDGZD\
+RWHO
*)$ P














 

%URDGZD\
&RP5HW
*)$ P














 












225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Conversions from Built Envelope Area (BEA) to Gross Floor Area (GFA) vary depending upon proposed
building use. Efficiency factors used are located on page 39 for reference.

2SWLRQF +RWHO ,QGLFDWLYH6FKHGXOHRI$UHDV
%URDGZD\
%($
+RWHO
/HYHO
P 
*)$ P
*URXQG%URDGZD\


/


/


/


/


/


6XEWRWDO

7RWDO*)$

6LWH$UHD
)65
 

2SWLRQE &RPPHUFLDO ,QGLFDWLYH6FKHGXOHRI$UHDV
%URDGZD\
%($
&RP5HW
/HYHO
P 
*)$ P
*URXQG%URDGZD\


/


/


/


/


/


6XEWRWDO

7RWDO*)$

6LWH$UHD
)65
 

2SWLRQD 6WXGHQW+RXVLQJ ,QGLFDWLYH6FKHGXOHRI$UHDV
%URDGZD\
%URDGZD\
%($
&RP5HW
6WXGHQW
%($
&RP5HW
6WXGHQW
/HYHO
P 
*)$ P
*)$ P
P 
*)$ P
*)$ P
*URXQG%URDGZD\






/






/






/






/






/








6XEWRWDO


7RWDO*)$


6LWH$UHD
 
 
)65

Indicative Yield Schedule

%($
P 

%($
P 

%($
P 

%URDGZD\
+RWHO
*)$ P














 

%URDGZD\
&RP5HW
*)$ P














 












%($
P 

*%$
P 















%URDGZD\
+RWHO
*)$ P









 

%URDGZD\
&RP5HW
*)$ P









 













%($
P 

%($
P 

%URDGZD\
+RWHO
*)$ P















 

%URDGZD\
&RP5HW
*)$ P














 












%($
P 

%($
P 

%URDGZD\
+RWHO
*)$ P














 

%URDGZD\
&RP5HW
*)$ P














 












%URDGZD\
%URDGZD\
%URDGZD\
%URDGZD\
&RP5HW
6WXGHQW
%($
&RP5HW
6WXGHQW
%($
&RP5HW
6WXGHQW
%($
&RP5HW
6WXGHQW
*)$ P
*)$ P
P 
*)$ P
*)$ P
P 
*)$ P
*)$ P
P 
*)$ P
*)$ P
















































































 
 
 
 

75

2SWLRQF6LWH:LGH.H\6XPPDU\
6LWH$UHD

*)$$FKLHYHG

$JJUHJDWH)65$FKLHYHG


2SWLRQE6LWH:LGH.H\6XPPDU\
6LWH$UHD

*)$$FKLHYHG

$JJUHJDWH)65$FKLHYHG


2SWLRQD6LWH:LGH.H\6XPPDU\

6LWH$UHD
*)$$FKLHYHG

$JJUHJDWH)65$FKLHYHG


– The indicative visual study which tests an additional 2 and 4 storeys of height in excess of the 5 storeys indicated in the option demonstrates that the height and bulk are visible when the site is viewed from Victoria Park and
Glebe Point Road.

– The universal limit to building height facilitates a high degree of residential amenity to apartments throughout the study area by sharing solar access and limiting noise ingress.

– The five storey street wall to Broadway and Glebe Point Road provides continuous protection of internal apartments from road noise.

– The visual prominence of the important Broadway and Glebe Point Road corner is increased by the continuous five storey street wall curving around the corner.

– The existing heritage building at 255 Broadway may be retained as a distinct and high quality component of the Broadway street frontage character.

– Non-residential uses may be encouraged on this site. These uses are less sensitive to noise from Broadway and from the Broadway Shopping Centre, and may offer opportunities for local employment, education, or other
such functions that are highly appropriate for a local centre.

Option 4– Conclusion

Shadow Analysis

Shadow Analysis Considerations

June 21 9am

Existing Built Form

3.6

June 21 12noon

June 21 3pm

June 21 12noon

June 21 3pm

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

– Approximately half the space in the internal courtyards is overshadowed in winter, while residences facing the courtyard and residences facing Grose Street all receive extensive solar access.
76

– Shadowing impacts from this option upon Victoria Park are similar to those of the existing building at 255 Broadway. The shadowing of the public domain is largely on the street reserve. Overshadowing of the park is limited to
early and late hours of the day around the winter solstice, and occurs along the park edge where significant fig trees are located and away from usable lawn areas.

Option 1 Shadow Analysis Considerations

June 21 9am

Option 1

– The subject site does not present any significant overshadowing impacts upon surrounding properties.

– The heritage-listed Victoria Park features a row of large trees along the Broadway edge, as well as a variety of well-maintained garden beds, a lake, and grassy open spaces. Overshadowing impacts upon this public open
space is limited to 255 Broadway. Overshadowing occurs along the park edge where significant fig trees are located and away from usable lawn areas.

132

133
June 21 12noon

June 21 12noon

June 21 3pm

June 21 3pm

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

77

– The seven storey Grose Street buildings (with a six storey frontage to the internal courtyards) significantly increase overshadowing impacts upon the courtyard spaces as well as upon the proposed residences along Broadway.

– Shadowing impacts on Victoria Park in Option 3 are largely alike those in Options 1 and 2. The reason for this is that the seven storey Grose Street buildings are not tall enough to increase overshadowing of Victoria Park. The
five storey street wall along Broadway remains the primary shadowing feature to the north of the park.

Option 3 Shadow Analysis Considerations

June 21 9am

Option 3

– Shadowing impacts under Options 2 are alike those of Option 1.

Option 2 and 4 Shadow Analysis Considerations

June 21 9am

Option 2

Option 4 Shadow Analysis Considerations

June 21 9am

Option 4

June 21 12noon

June 21 3pm

June 21 12noon

June 21 3pm

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

– The seven storey Grose Street buildings (with a six storey frontage to the internal light well) significantly increases the overshadowing impacts upon the non residential spaces adjacent the light well.

– Shadowing impacts on Victoria Park in this option are largely alike those in Options 1 and 2 and 3. The reason for this is that the seven storey Grose Street buildings are not tall enough to increase overshadowing of Victoria
Park. The five storey street wall along Broadway remains the primary shadowing feature to the north of the park.

Option 4 (2+ Storeys to Grose Street) Shadow Analysis Considerations

June 21 9am

Option 4 (+2 storeys to Grose Street)

– The light wells receive some sun in winter, while the rearward portion of the buildings along Grose Street all receive extensive solar access.

– Shadowing impacts from this option upon Victoria Park are similar to those in Option 1. The shadowing of the public domain is largely on the street reserve. Overshadowing of the park is limited to early and late hours of the
day around the winter solstice, and occurs along the park edge where significant fig trees are located and away from usable lawn areas.

134

78

135

June 21 12noon

June 21 3pm

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

– The increased height of Grose Street buildings (with an eight storey frontage to the internal light wells) increases the overshadowing impacts upon the non residential spaces facing the light well more so than in Option 4 (2+
Storeys)

– Shadowing impacts on Victoria Park in this option are largely alike those in Options 1 to 3 and Option 4 (+2 Storeys). The reason for this is that the seven storey Grose Street buildings are not tall enough to increase
overshadowing of Victoria Park. The five storey street wall along Broadway remains the primary shadowing feature to the north of the park.

Option 4 (4+ Storeys to Grose Street) Shadow Analysis Considerations

June 21 9am

Option 4 (+4 storeys to Grose Street)

79

Public Interface Analysis

The Broadway – Glebe Point Road Corner

3.7

Developments around the Broadway / Glebe Point Road corner must
recognise and respond to the character elements of both places. This
involves a graduation between the taller and denser Broadway area to the
shorter, greener, and more fine grained nature of Glebe.

The avenue of trees and line of buildings that align Broadway between
City Road and the University of Sydney are distinctive elements in
the local urban landscape. Within this context, the Glebe Point Road
intersection with Broadway has a dual function:

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

– As a gateway entrance into Glebe.

– As a landmark on the journey along Broadway, and

Streetscape Considerations

A Significant Corner

136
80

The built forms on this corner may also contribute architectural gestures to
Broadway and to Glebe Point Road; an opportunity that may be explored
at a later stage in the design process.

– Transitioning in height from five to two storeys. (This step may be
positioned on Glebe Point Road, at the corner, or facing Broadway).

– Turning the corner, with a clear relationship to the curvaceous University
Hall building on the opposite corner to be further enhanced.

There are two important roles that this corner plays in linking Broadway
with Glebe Point Road:

Urban Design Strategies

137
View south along Glebe Point Road

View west along Broadway from Buckland Street

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

View north across Broadway from City Road

View east along Broadway from Sydney University

5 Storey Street Frontage to Broadway, 3 Storey Street Frontage to Glebe Point Road

81

– The fourth and fifth storeys retreat northwards back into the site relative
to Glebe Point Road, detracting from this street’s clarity in street wall
definition.

Glebe Point Road

– The step is located right on the corner, and a three storey street wall is
established leading into Glebe Point Road, providing a variation in scale
to suit the local character.

Height Transition

– The shape of the corner lacks clarity, as the first three storeys turn a
rounded corner, while the top two setback storeys turn a shaper corner.
This varied corner profile creates a weak counterpoint to the University
Hall building, but accentuates University Hall and 255 Broadway
buildings.

Street Corner

– The sense of opening to Glebe Point Road is revealed in the Broadway
facade by the setback fourth and fifth storeys to the west of 255
Broadway – even before the opening to Glebe Point Road is fully
revealed from the viewer’s position.

– The heritage building of 255 Broadway is utilised to provide definition
between the vertical street wall (bright orange) and the setback street
wall (light orange), where the fourth and fifth storeys are setback 3m.

Broadway

3m Setback from 255 Broadway to Glebe Point Road

View south along Glebe Point Road

View west along Broadway from Buckland Street

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

View north across Broadway from City Road

View east along Broadway from Sydney University

138

82

– The Glebe Point Road street wall of three storeys with the top two
storeys set back provides an appropriate contribution to the finer scale
character of this area.

– The five storey wide space at the entrance to Glebe Point Road, as
defined by the new study site building and University Hall, can function
as a ‘threshold’ into Glebe.

Glebe Point Road

– The five storey height continues along the length of the Broadway and
Glebe Point Road façades, necessitating that another building (ideally
1-9 Glebe Point Road) provides the step from five storeys down to two
or three storeys in a future development.

Height Transition

– A reasonably clear rounded corner is created as both the street wall and
the setback levels of the building facade transition from one street to the
next.

Street Corner

– The sense of opening to Glebe Point Road is revealed in the Broadway
facade by the setback fourth and fifth storeys to the west of 255
Broadway – even before the opening to Glebe Point Road is fully
revealed from the viewer’s position.

– The heritage building of 255 Broadway is utilised to provide definition
between the vertical street wall (bright orange) and the setback street
wall (light orange), where the fourth and fifth storeys are setback 3m.

Broadway

139
View south along Glebe Point Road

View west along Broadway from Buckland Street

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

View north across Broadway from City Road

View east along Broadway from Sydney University

Continuous Street Wall from Broadway to Glebe Point Road

83

– The five storey street wall to Glebe Point Road matches University Hall
as a marker to the Broadway intersection, but requires a well-designed
treatment for the exposed end party wall, and also that neighbouring
properties successfully negotiate the height transition from Broadway
into Glebe.

– The five storey wide space at the entrance to Glebe Point Road, as
defined by the new study site building and University Hall, can function
as a ‘threshold’ into Glebe.

Glebe Point Road

– The five storey height continues along the length of the Broadway and
Glebe Point Road façades, necessitating that another building (ideally
1-9 Glebe Point Road) provides the step from five storeys down to two
or three storeys in a future development.

Height Transition

– The entire five storey street wall curves around the Glebe Point Road
corner, matching the University Hall facade as directly as possible.
Together, these buildings will provide strong definition to the Glebe Point
Road gateway.

Street Corner

– Glebe Point Road is partially visible along Broadway as a rounded street
wall opening.

– A continuous five storey street wall extends along Broadway from the
Broadway Shopping Centre past the heritage 255 Broadway building to
Glebe Point Road. This provides a strong and distinct facade along the
Broadway (and Victoria Park) edge.

Broadway

140

141

4 Appendix:
Design Development

– Typical built form arranged around a central or side
core + circulation

– Ground floor to Broadway retained as commercial or
retail use.

Typical Characteristics:

– Heights capped at 4-5 storeys

– Area per lot ranges from 645 to 775 m2

– Frontages range from 19-23m

– Depth ranges from 33 to 34m (typical block)















1 

<

62/$5$&&(66 UHT

%8,/',1*6(3(5$7,21









7<3(6(&7,21

7<3( 5(6,'(17,$/02'(





225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

< 

&52669(17 UHT













&2857<$5'









$'* 5(6,'(17,$/

7<3( &200(5&,$/02'(











7<3( *5281'



&2857<$5'

– Open communal spaces are typically located in the
middle of the lot and elevated above the level of
Broadway and Grose Street.



&2857<$5'










7<3( &200(5&,$/02'(







1 
1 
<

&52669(17 UHT

62/$5$&&(66 UHT

%8,/',1*6(3(5$7,21

$'* 5(6,'(17,$/

7<3( &200(5&,$/02'(





<

%8,/',1*6(3(5$7,21



< 

62/$5$&&(66 UHT



< 

&52669(17 UHT

$'* 5(6,'(17,$/































7<3(6(&7,21

7<3( 5(6,'(17,$/02'(





7<3(6(&7,21

7<3( 5(6,'(17,$/02'(



&2857<$5'



%52$':$<

&2857<$5'

7<3( *5281'



*526(67



Assumptions:















&2857<$5'



1

%8,/',1*6(3(5$7,21



1 

62/$5$&&(66 UHT



< 

&52669(17 UHT

$'* 5(6,'(17,$/



7<3( &200(5&,$/02'(







7<3(6(&7,21





7<3( 5(6,'(17,$/02'(



&2857<$5'

&2857<$5'

%52$':$<





7<3( *5281'



*526(67



&2857<$5'

7<3( *5281'





< 
< 
<

&52669(17 UHT
62/$5$&&(66 UHT
%8,/',1*6(3(5$7,21

$'* 5(6,'(17,$/

7<3( &200(5&,$/02'(





7<3(6(&7,21

&2857<$5'

7<3( 5(6,'(17,$/02'(







7<3( *5281'






Podium Block Types



Generic Typology Studies



































4.1











&2857<$5'




 
















&2857<$5'






&2857<$5'



<
%8,/',1*6(3(5$7,21

< 
< 
<

&52669(17 UHT
62/$5$&&(66 UHT
%8,/',1*6(3(5$7,21

$'* 5(6,'(17,$/



1 
62/$5$&&(66 UHT



< 
&52669(17 UHT



7<3( &200(5&,$/02'(



$'* 5(6,'(17,$/






































7<3(6(&7,21





7<3(6(&7,21



&2857<$5'

7<3( 5(6,'(17,$/02'(



&2857<$5'



















%52$':$<







7<3( *5281'



*526(67












142









86

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

– Zero setback to front, rear and side boundaries.

– Apartments arranged around central core to maximise apartment
aspect.

– Residential apartments located above street-wall podium.

– Communal open space for residents located at podium rooftop level.

– Podium floor plates set back at side boundaries to provide natural light
to commercial spaces.

– Podium floors proposed as commercial use as strata offices with
dedicated vertical circulation.

– Ground floor to Broadway retained as commercial or retail use.

Typical Characteristics:

– Tower heights above podium may be varied according to
overshadowing requirements.

– Podium heights capped at 4-5 storeys

– Area per lot ranges from 760 to 1320m2.

– Frontages range from 22.5 to 39m









7<3( &200(5&,$/32',80






1 
1 
<

&52669(17 UHT
62/$5$&&(66 UHT
%8,/',1*6(3(5$7,21

$'* 5(6,'(17,$/

7<3( &200(5&,$/32',80



<

%8,/',1*6(3(5$7,21



1 

62/$5$&&(66 UHT



1 

&52669(17 UHT

$'* 5(6,'(17,$/


























7<3(6(&7,21

7<3( 5(6,'(17,$/02'(









7<3(6(&7,21

7<3( 5(6,'(17,$/02'(




 


– Depth ranges from 33 to 34m (typical block)









%52$':$<

*526(67





7<3( *5281'



7<3( *5281'























<
%8,/',1*6(3(5$7,21

7<3( &200(5&,$/32',80



1 
62/$5$&&(66 UHT



1 

&52669(17 UHT

$'* 5(6,'(17,$/

7<3( &200(5&,$/32',80





1 
1 
<

&52669(17 UHT
62/$5$&&(66 UHT
%8,/',1*6(3(5$7,21

$'* 5(6,'(17,$/



Assumptions:

















7<3( 5(6,'(17,$/72:(5



7<3( 5(6,'(17,$/72:(5





7<3(6(&7,21



7<3(6(&7,21







7<3( *5281'



*526(67









%52$':$<

7<3( *5281'







































Podium Block + Tower


































143





87

– Open communal spaces are typically located in the middle of the lot
and elevated above the level of Broadway and Grose Street.

– Typical built form arranged around a central or side core + circulation

– Ground floor to Broadway retained as commercial or retail use.

Typical Characteristics:

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

– Zero setback to front, rear and side boundaries.

– Open communal spaces located at Broadway level, above Grose Street.

– Typical built form places circulation spaces to Broadway to mitigate
noise, lift core to one side and open communal space to the north. All
apartments orientated north.

– Ground floor to Broadway retained as commercial or retail use.

Typical Characteristics:

– Podium heights capped at 4-5 storeys

– Area per lot ranges from 170 to 340m2.

– Frontages range from 23.5 to 46m

– Shallowest block depth from 18.5m

Assumptions:

Shallow Lot Typologies





< 
<

62/$5$&&(66 UHT
%8,/',1*6(3(5$7,21

7<3(

< 



&52669(17 UHT

$'* 5(6,'(17,$/

7<3(



< 
<

%8,/',1*6(3(5$7,21

1 

62/$5$&&(66 UHT

&52669(17 UHT

$'* 5(6,'(17,$/



– Podium heights capped at 4-5 storeys







7<3(6(&7,21

7<3(6(&7,21




– Area per lot ranges from 170 to 340m2.











– Frontages range from 5 to 10m






*526(67











<

%8,/',1*6(3(5$7,21



< 

62/$5$&&(66 UHT


*526(67

< 

&52669(17 UHT

$'* 5(6,'(17,$/

7<3(





%52$':$<
6+233,1*
&(175(

7<3(







7<3(6(&7,21



1 
< 
<

&52669(17 UHT
62/$5$&&(66 UHT
%8,/',1*6(3(5$7,21

$'* 5(6,'(17,$/

7<3( &200(5&,$/237,21









7<3(6(&7,21

7<3( 5(6,'(17,$/237,21




*526(67
















– Depth ranges from 33 to 34m (typical block)


%52$':$<
6+233,1*
&(175(



Assumptions:


















Narrow Lot Typologies























144

88

145

*526(675((7

+(5,7$*()$&$'($'-$&(17
%52$':$<&(175(

9,&725,$3$5.


3$7+


%52$':$<

– Upper floor plates consist of a small portion of slender dual aspect
apartments, single loaded with views to the north (Grose Street)
– Communal terrace space serve residents of residential development

– Communal terrace space at upper levels to serve boutique commercial
suites.

– Solar

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

– Potential for boutique retail frontages to Grose Street and Broadway

– Upper floor plates may accommodate small boutique commercial
suites.



– Large floor plates at upper levels to accommodate a range of uses
including teaching + learning spaces

– Ground floor retail interface to Broadway

9,&725,$3$5.


75((=21( 3$7+

– Any additional development is set back 18m to minimise noise impact
from Broadway.



– Potential for boutique retail frontages to Grose Street and Broadway



75((=21( 3$7+



– Loading and parking facilitated from Grose Street.


%52$':$<





– Considers the preservation of existing fine grain façades e.g.: 225-227
Broadway (next to Broadway shopping centre)


3$7+



(;,67,1*+(5,7$*(
&+$5$&7(5)$&$'(



– Considers the preservation of existing fine grain façades e.g.: 225-227
Broadway (next to Broadway shopping centre)



+(5,7$*()$&$'($'-$&(17
%52$':$<&(175(



Podium




Study 3



75((=21( 3$7+

/$.(1257+$0

Podium


%52$':$<







9,&725,$3$5.

Podium


3$7+



(;,67,1*+(5,7$*(
&+$5$&7(5)$&$'(





/$.(1257+$0

Study 2







%52$':$<

Study 1





%52$':$<




*526(675((7




*526(675((7

Sectional Studies











%52$':$<

















4.2

/$.(1257+$0

89

%52$':$<

9,&725,$3$5.

/$.(1257+$0





3$7+


%52$':$<



75((=21( 3$7+



Study 6















3$7+




%52$':$<



75((=21( 3$7+



225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

– South facing open communal green space at podium rooftop level

– Primary orientation of apartments to of the city + solar access (Grose
Street)

– Double level / dual aspect apartments with perimeter circulation

– Narrow building typology (15m width) with a 18m setback to Broadway

– Residential component elevated above podium level for improved
acoustic isolation from traffic noise

Tower

– Large floor plates at upper levels to accommodate a range of uses
including teaching + learning spaces

– Ground floor retail interface to Broadway

– Communal open space located overlooking Broadway

– Double level / dual aspect apartments with perimeter circulation
– Primary orientation of apartments address the view to Victoria Park
(Broadway)
– North facing open communal green space at podium rooftop level.
– Additional height above the existing heritage buildings will result in
overshadowing to Victoria Park and will be inconsistent with the street
wall height established by heritage buildings.
– All balconies to include an external and internal line of glazing to
maximise acoustic attenuation.

– Double level / dual aspect apartments with perimeter circulation
– Primary orientation of apartments to of the city + solar access (Grose
Street)
– North facing open communal green space at podium rooftop level
– Additional height above the existing heritage buildings will result in
overshadowing to Victoria Park and will be inconsistent with the street
wall height established by heritage buildings.
– All balconies to include an external and internal line of glazing to
maximise acoustic attenuation

– Narrow building typology (15m width) with a 3m setback to Broadway
and 15m setback from Grose Street.




– Narrow building typology (15m width) with a 3m setback to Broadway
and 15m setback from Grose street.





%52$':$<

– Elevated residential component for improved acoustic isolation from
traffic noise



75((=21( 3$7+





9,&725,$3$5.

– Elevated residential component for improved acoustic isolation from
traffic noise


%52$':$<

*526(675((7





/$.(1257+$0

– Loading and parking facilitated from Grose Street.


3$7+







*526(675((7

Tower








Tower



%52$':$<

Podium



9,&725,$3$5.

Study 5



/$.(1257+$0

Study 4

*526(675((7





























































146

90

147

%52$':$<

9,&725,$3$5.



75((=21( 3$7+






3$7+




%52$':$<



75((=21( 3$7+



225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

– All balconies to include an external and internal line of glazing to
maximise acoustic attenuation

– Additional height above the existing heritage buildings will result in
overshadowing to Victoria Park and will be inconsistent with the street
wall height established by heritage buildings.

– North facing open communal green space at podium rooftop level.

– Primary orientation of apartments address the view to Victoria Park
(Broadway)

– Double level / dual aspect apartments with perimeter circulation

– Suitable for a large amalgamated site (>1000 sqm.)

– Additional height above the existing heritage buildings will result in
overshadowing to Victoria Park and will be inconsistent with the street
wall height established by heritage buildings.

– All balconies to include an external and internal line of glazing to
maximise acoustic attenuation

– Access to views (Broadway) and sunlight (Grose Street)

– Single level/ single aspect apartments + central circulation

– Wider building typology (18m width) with a 15m setback to Broadway

– Stepped podium to provide greater height

– Elevated residential component for improved acoustic isolation from
traffic noise

Tower

– Communal open space located overlooking Broadway

– Suitable for a large amalgamated site (>1000 sqm.)

– Additional height above the existing heritage buildings will result in
overshadowing to Victoria Park and will be inconsistent with the street
wall height established by heritage buildings.

– North facing residential communal spaces

– All balconies to include an external and internal line of glazing to
maximise acoustic attenuation

– Access to views (Broadway) and sunlight (Grose Street)

– Double level / dual aspect apartments + central circulation

91

– Wider building typology (18m width) with a 8m setback to Broadway and
Grose Street


%52$':$<







– Loading and parking facilitated from Grose Street.


3$7+








– Composed of two components: 1. A narrow building typology (15m
width) with zero setback to Grose Street and 2. A walk-up typology
fronting Broadway





– Elevated residential component for improved acoustic isolation from
traffic noise

/$.(1257+$0

– Floor plates punctuated by central voids and atrium to provide natural
light






– Elevated residential component for improved acoustic isolation from
traffic noise



75((=21( 3$7+



%52$':$<

Tower


%52$':$<

*526(675((7







9,&725,$3$5.

Podium


3$7+







/$.(1257+$0

Tower(s)





*526(675((7

Study 9






%52$':$<

Study 8



9,&725,$3$5.

Study 7



*526(675((7
































































/$.(1257+$0

– The ground floor of all development is designated retail to maintain
street activation to Broadway.

Built Form and Active Frontage:

– A through site link is established on the western boundary on Glebe
Point Road to improve block connectivity.

Site Connectivity:

– Option assumes both 225 Broadway (1D) and 4-8 Grose Street (1G)
are retained as heritage items.

– 4-5 storey continuous street wall along Broadway and a transition down
to 2-3 storeys in the Glebe Point Road Conservation area.

Heritage Interface:

This option examines the potential for development based upon the
current ownership of lots, without amalgamation.

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

– Most development lots receive access to views of Victoria Park

Views:

– Apartments will need to acoustic attenuation to mitigate noise from
Broadway and the Shopping Centre.

Noise:

– Narrower developments are composed of dual aspect, single storey
apartments (1 per floor) to achieve solar access and cross ventilation.

– Where possible, apartments within developments are single aspect
apartments with gallery access, orientated north to maximise solar
access and cross ventilation.

Solar Access and Natural Ventilation:

– Lot 1F is land-locked and could not undergo redevelopment.

Typical Podium Level

1A

1-1

Exploratory Options Testing

Exploratory Option – Existing Ownership Pattern

4.3

148
1B

1C

1-2

1D

1-3

1E

1-4

1F

1H

1J

1G

1-5

1K

1L

0 5 10

25

50

92

100m









225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Section 1-2



Section 1-1














%52$':$<


%52$':$<

%52$':$<

%52$':$<





75((=21( 3$7+



75((=21( 3$7+





/$.(1257+$0
/$.(1257+$0

Sections





Section 1- 4



Section 1- 3


















%52$':$<

(;,67,1*+(5,7$*(
&+$5$&7(5)$&$'(


%52$':$<



75((=21( 3$7+



75((=21( 3$7+





/$.(1257+$0
/$.(1257+$0

*526(675((7

*526(675((7

9,&725,$3$5.

9,&725,$3$5.

%52$':$<
%52$':$<

9,&725,$3$5.
9,&725,$3$5.

*526(675((7
*526(675((7

149



*526(675((7

Section 1-5












%52$':$<

%52$':$<

$JJUHJDWH)65$FKLHYHG

*)$$FKLHYHG

6LWH$UHD

0 5 10

2SWLRQ6LWH:LGH.H\6XPPDU\



9,&725,$3$5.

25



75((=21( 3$7+



50

/$.(1257+$0



93

100m

Ϯ͘ϲϳ



– Built Form and Active Frontage:

– Two through site links are established one on the western boundary on
Glebe Point Road and the other close to the eastern boundary near the
Grace Bros. building.

Site Connectivity:

– Option assumes both 225 Broadway (2D) and 4-8 Grose Street (2G)
are retained as heritage items.

– 4-5 storey continuous street wall along Broadway with a curved
transition down to 2-3 storeys in the Glebe Point Road Conservation
area.

Heritage Interface:

Option 2 explores the amalgamation of smaller, narrower lots to test the
capacity lots with wider frontages.

Exploratory Option – Minimum Lot Width 14m

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

– Apartments facing Victoria Park received good views but poor solar
access.

Views:

– Apartments will need to acoustic attenuation to mitigate noise from
Broadway and the Shopping Centre.

Noise:

– Single aspect courtyard apartments types developed to incorporate
cross ventilation. North facing apartments receive good access to
sunlight but no views.

– Where possible, apartments within developments are single aspect
apartments with gallery access, orientated north to maximise solar
access and cross ventilation.

Solar Access and Natural Ventilation:

– The ground floor of all development is designated retail to maintain
street activation to Broadway.

– 4-5 storey continuous street wall along Broadway and a transition down
to 2-3 storeys on Glebe Point Road.

150

Typical Podium Level

2A

2-1

2B

2-2

2C

2-3

2D

2-4

2H

2E

2G

2-5

2F

0 5 10

25

50

94

100m















225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Section 2-2



Section 2-1












%52$':$<


%52$':$<

%52$':$<

%52$':$<





75((=21( 3$7+

9,&725,$3$5.



75((=21( 3$7+

9,&725,$3$5.

Sections





/$.(1257+$0
/$.(1257+$0

*526(675((7

*526(675((7





Section 2- 4



Section 2- 3


















%52$':$<

(;,67,1*+(5,7$*(
&+$5$&7(5)$&$'(


%52$':$<



75((=21( 3$7+



75((=21( 3$7+





/$.(1257+$0
/$.(1257+$0

%52$':$<
%52$':$<

9,&725,$3$5.
9,&725,$3$5.

*526(675((7
*526(675((7

151



*526(675((7

Section 2-5












%52$':$<

%52$':$<

$JJUHJDWH)65$FKLHYHG

*)$$FKLHYHG

6LWH$UHD

0 5 10

2SWLRQ6LWH:LGH.H\6XPPDU\



9,&725,$3$5.

25



75((=21( 3$7+



50

/$.(1257+$0



95

100m

Ϯ͘ϳϮ



– 4-5 storey continuous street wall along Broadway and a curved built
form transition to Glebe Point Road.

Built Form and Active Frontage:

– Two through site links are established one on the western boundary on
Glebe Point Road and the other, a mid block connection on Broadway.

Site Connectivity:

– Option assumes both 225 Broadway (3D) and 4-8 Grose Street (3G)
are retained as heritage items.

– 4-5 storey continuous street wall along Broadway and into the Glebe
Point Road Conservation area.

Heritage Interface:

Builds on Option 2 and explores the potential for additional height based
on larger lot sizes and examines the development potential for additional
floor space in excess of the podium datum.

Exploratory Option – Minimum Lot Width 25m

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

– Views to towers are maximised to take advantage of both city and park
views.

Views:

– As per Option 2.

Noise:

– As per Option 2.

Solar Access and Natural Ventilation:

– Tower block 3A designed to be ‘in the round’ to provide a sympathetic
response to the predominantly 2-3 storey Glebe Point Road
conservation area

– Tower blocks located in lots (3A and 3D) up to 12 storeys in height, set
back from Broadway and Glebe Point Road.

152

Typical Podium Level

3A

3-1

3B

3-2

3C

3-3

3D

3-4

3F

3E

3G

3-5

96

153

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Tower Level

3A

3-1

3B

3-2

3C

3-3

3D

3-4

3F

3E

3G

3-5

97















225-277 Broadway Planning Controls

Section 3 -2



Section 3-1












%52$':$<


%52$':$<

%52$':$<

%52$':$<





75((=21( 3$7+

9,&725,$3$5.



75((=21( 3$7+

9,&725,$3$5.

Sections





/$.(1257+$0
/$.(1257+$0

*526(675((7

*526(675((7





Section 3- 4



Section 3- 3
























%52$':$<

(;,67,1*+(5,7$*(
&+$5$&7(5)$&$'(


%52$':$<



75((=21( 3$7+



75((=21( 3$7+





/$.(1257+$0
/$.(1257+$0

%52$':$<
%52$':$<

9,&725,$3$5.
9,&725,$3$5.

*526(675((7
*526(675((7

154



*526(675((7

Section 3-5












%52$':$<

%52$':$<

$JJUHJDWH)65$FKLHYHG

*)$$FKLHYHG

6LWH$UHD

2SWLRQ6LWH:LGH.H\6XPPDU\



9,&725,$3$5.


75((=21( 3$7+



/$.(1257+$0



98

ϯ͘ϳϱ



155







/

/

&RPP





/

/

2SWLRQ

&RPP









/

/

/

//



6LWH$UHD



5HV

5HV

225-277 Broadway Planning Controls





ϯϱϮ

ϯϱϮ

























*)$ P

 



7RWDO*)$

)65



6XEWRWDO

5RRI3ODQW ([FOXGHG







/%URDGZD\(QWU\

/

*)$ P

/

/HYHO

,QGLFDWLYH6FKHGXOHRI$UHDV





6LWH$UHD







*)$ P

 



7RWDO*)$

)65



6XEWRWDO

5RRI3ODQW ([FOXGHG

/RW$



/





/%URDGZD\(QWU\

/

*)$ P

/

/HYHO

,QGLFDWLYH6FKHGXOHRI$UHDV

2SWLRQ





6LWH$UHD

5HV

*)$ P

 



7RWDO*)$

)65



6XEWRWDO

5RRI3ODQW ([FOXGHG

/RW$



/

/

/





&RPP

*)$ P

/%URDGZD\(QWU\

/HYHO

/RW$

 

















*)$ P

&RPP

/RW%

 

















*)$ P

&RPP

/RW%

 

















*)$ P

&RPP

/RW%

5HV













*)$ P





















*)$ P

5HV





*)$ P

5HV



5HV

























*)$ P

 















*)$ P

&RPP

/RW&

5HV







*)$ P

 















*)$ P

&RPP

/RW&

5HV

*)$ P

 

















*)$ P

&RPP

/RW&

5HV









































*)$ P

 





















*)$ P

&RPP

/RW'

5HV
*)$ P

 



















*)$ P

&RPP

/RW'

5HV
*)$ P

 















*)$ P

&RPP

/RW'

5HV





































*)$ P

 



















*)$ P

&RPP

/RW(

5HV






*)$ P

 



















*)$ P

&RPP

/RW(

5HV
*)$ P

 



















*)$ P

&RPP

/RW(

Summary of Areas

,QGLFDWLYH6FKHGXOHRI$UHDV

2SWLRQ

4.4

















5HV















*)$ P

 



*)$ P

&RPP

/RW)

5HV
*)$ P

 



















*)$ P

&RPP

/RW)

5HV
*)$ P

 











*)$ P

&RPP

/RW)

5HV
*)$ P

 









*)$ P

&RPP

/RW*

5HV
*)$ P

 









*)$ P

&RPP

/RW*

5HV
*)$ P

 









*)$ P

&RPP

/RW*



















5HV
*)$ P

 



*)$ P

5HV
*)$ P

 

&RPP

/RW+









*)$ P

&RPP

/RW+









5HV















*)$ P

 



















*)$ P

&RPP

/RW5HV















*)$ P

 



















*)$ P

&RPP

/RW.
5HV














*)$ P

 



















*)$ P

&RPP

/RW/

*/
(%
(
32
,1
7
52
$'

/(
%(
3
2,
17
5
2$
'

*/
(%
(
32
,1
7
52
$'

$

$

$

%

%

% &

&

&

'

(

+

-

*

%52$':$<

(

) *

*526(675((7

%52$':$<

'

'

%52$':$<

)

+ *

*526(675((7

(

*526(675((7

)

. /

99

Attachment D
Planning Proposal:
225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe Heritage Report

156

Appendix B: Heritage Assessment –
255 Broadway, Glebe

/ Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe

157

HERITAGE
ASSESSMENT

No. 255 Broadway, Glebe
February 2018 | J2921

Level 19, 100 William Street
Woolloomooloo NSW 2011
Phone: (02) 8076 5317

158

CONTENTS

PAGE

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1

1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4
1.5
1.5.1
1.5.2
1.5.4
1.6

1
1
1
1
1
1
2
2
2

PREAMBLE
AUTHORSHIP
LIMITATIONS
METHODOLOGY
DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE
GENERAL REFERENCES
HISTORIC PLANS AND PHOTOGRAPHS
PLANNING DOCUMENTS
SITE LOCATION

2.0 HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE SITE
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5
2.5.1

ORIGINAL OCCUPATION
THE GLEBE: 1788-1824
THE FIRST SUBDIVISION OF THE GLEBE: 1824-1845
SYDNEY TRAMWAYS AND OMNIBUS COMPANY
INTERNATIONAL HARVESTER COMPANY OF AMERICA
ABOUT THE ARCHITECTS: ROBERTSON AND MARKS

3
3
4
4
10
11
15

3.0 SITE ASSESSMENT

16

3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4

16
17
21
24

THE SITE
EXTERIOR
INTERIOR
THE SURROUNDING AREA

4.0 ASSESSMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

26

4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.4.1
4.4.2
4.4.3
4.4.4
4.4.5
4.4.6
4.4.7
4.5

26
27
28
28
33
34
34
35
35
35
36
36

HERITAGE ITEMS IN THE VICINITY OF THE SITE
VIEW CORRIDORS
INTEGRITY
COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS
CRITERION (A)
CRITERION (B)
CRITERION (C)
CRITERION (D)
CRITERION (E)
CRITERION (F)
CRITERION (G)
STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

5.0 CONCLUSIONS

36

6.0 RECOMMENDED MANAGEMENT

36

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe | February 2018

159

1.0

INTRODUCTION

1.1

Preamble
This Heritage Assessment has been prepared to assist the City of Sydney in determining
the heritage significance of the building at No, 255 Broadway, Glebe New South Wales.
The site is located within the City of Sydney. The principal planning control for the site is
the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (LEP 2012).
The assessment of this building has been undertaken following recommendations from an
earlier heritage assessment, by RPS Australia East Pty Ltd of the buildings from 225 – 277
Broadway, Glebe. The primary objective of the report was to ascertain whether the Glebe
Point Road Heritage Conservation Area should be extended to incorporate the
abovementioned properties so appropriate planning controls and policies can be put in
place.

1.2

Authorship
This statement has been prepared by Anna McLaurin, B.Envs. (Arch.), M.Herit.Cons., Alice
Fuller, B.Appl.Sc.(CCM), M.Herit.Cons.(Hons), and James Phillips, B.Sc.(Arch.), B.Arch,
M.Herit.Cons.(Hons), of Weir Phillips Heritage.

1.3

Limitations
No internal access was provided for to inform this assessment. All internal descriptions
are from photographs taken previously.
No archaeological assessment has been carried out.

1.4

Methodology
This assessment has been prepared with reference to the NSW Heritage Division
publication NSW Heritage Manual update Assessing Heritage Significance (2001).
A site visit was carried out in December 2017. Unless otherwise stated, the photographs
contained in this statement were taken at this time.

1.5

Documentary Evidence

1.5.1

General References
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Attenbrow, Val., Sydney’s Aboriginal Past: investigating the archaeological and
historical records, NSW, University of New South Wales Press, 2002.
Bernard and Kate Smith, The Architectural Character of Glebe, Sydney, Sydney,
University Co-op Bookshop, 1973,.
Clive Lucas Stapleton and Partners, op.cit., 1989, p. 16 and Scott Robinson,
‘Robertson and Marks,’ Philip Goad and Julie Willis (ed.), The Encyclopedia of
Australian Architecture, USA, Cambridge Press, 2012
Governor Darling, 1828 reporting on the land sales, cited in J.F. Campbell, op cit.,
1929
Freda MacDonnell, The Glebe: Portraits and Places, Sydney, Ure Smith, 1975,
International Harvester Company of America. The Sydney Mail and New South
Wales Advertiser (NSW : 1871 - 1912) 25 April 1906: 1087. Web. 10 Jan 2018
<http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article164041394>.
J.F. Campbell, ‘Notes on the Early History of the Glebe’, Journal of the Royal
Australian Historical Society, Volume 15, 1929,
Lawrence and C. Warne, A Pictorial History of Balmain to Glebe, Alexandria,
Kingsclear Books, 1995, p.118
Lech, Michael, Grace Brothers, Dictionary of Sydney, 2011,

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

160

1

http://dictionaryofsydney.org/entry/grace_brothers, viewed 10 Jan 2018
Max Solling and Peter Reynolds, Leichhardt: On the Margins of the City, Sydney,
Allen & Unwin, 1997, p.14.
Smith, op cit., 1973, p.14. For details of the two sales held in February and May
1828 refer to J.F. Campbell, op cit., 1929, pp.301-2.
The Glebe’: The Church as Landlord’, Sydney Morning Herald, 13 April, 1924.
Mitchell Library, Newspaper Clippings, Volume 165, p.91.
The Cyclopedia of NSW, Sydney, McCarron, Stewart & Co. Printers, 1907

•
•
•
•
1.5.2

Historic Plans and Photographs
•
•

(Aerial photograph over Glebe), 1943. NSW Lands Department.
Higginbotham and Robinson, Glebe, Camperdown and Newtown, Parishes of
Petersham and Alexandria, 1891. City of Sydney Archives: Newtown Project.
NSW Lands Department, Sydney Metropolitan Detail Series, Newtown, Sheet 13,
1891. State Library of NSW.
L.G. Norman, Historical Notes on The Glebe, 1960.
Woolcott & Clarke’s Map of the City of Sydney, with the environs of Balmain and
Glebe, Chippendale, Redfern, Paddington & Co., illustrates the City of Sydney and
immediately surrounding areas in 1854.
Views taken during Cleansing Operations, Quarantine Area, Sydney, 1900, Vol. IV /
under the supervision of Mr George McCredie, F.I.A., N.S.W

•
•
•
•
1.5.4

Planning Documents
•
•

1.6

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012.
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012.

Site Location
The site is located on the northern side of Broadway between Glebe Point Road to the
west and Bay Street to the east (Figure 1). The site is identified as Lot 1, DP 9305503.

Figure 1: Site location.
SIX Maps 2018

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

161

2

2.0

HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE SITE

2.1

Original Occupation
Evidence exists for the occupation of the east coast of the Australian continent over
35,600 years. It is thought that human habitation of the Sydney region first became
continuous five thousand years ago.1 The total population of the wider Sydney area at the
time of the arrival of the First Fleet (1788) has been placed at between 2,000 and 3,000
people.2
The earliest European colonists recorded few details about the kinship structures of the
Aboriginal people. Recent research suggests the existence of networks of bands, as
opposed to the tribal structures implied by colonial records. These bands were
themselves subgroups of much larger groups bound by complex rights of language,
marriage and ceremony. What were once defined as ‘tribal areas’ are thus more
accurately described as localities where different languages were spoken.3
Three major language groups were thought to have lived within the wider Sydney region.
Dharug was the predominant language over much of the Cumberland Plain. The eight
known coastal Dharug speaking bands are frequently referred to as the Eora, meaning
‘here’ or ‘from this place’.4 The Eora occupied the area across the southern shores of
Sydney Harbour, from Botany Bay in the south to Parramatta in the west. One of the Eora
people, the Cadigal, occupied the territory that embraced Sydney Cove and stretched
along the southern side of Port Jackson from South Head to modern day Petersham. The
southern most extent of their territory remains unknown.5
Archaeological evidence suggests that patterns of life in the Sydney region changed little
in the period before 1788. Bands moved within their territory at the prompting of
seasons and with the availability of food. A diet of terrestrial food sources, including game
and gathered substances such as edible tubers, figs and apple berries, was supplemented
by fish and shell fish. A wide variety of materials were used in the production of tools and
artifacts. The land now included in the modern day suburb of Glebe was once thickly
covered with blackbutt, stringybark, mahogany, iron bark and red gum.6
The Aboriginal people within reach of Port Jackson and Botany Bay absorbed the full
impact of the European invasion. With no resistance to European diseases, the Eora were
decimated by an outbreak of small pox in 1789-90. Traditional lifestyle was further
disrupted by the loss of lands and exposure to new technologies. Conflict followed from
the meeting of two fundamentally different cultures. Within two and a half years of the
arrival of the First Fleet, patterns of life which had been followed for thousands of years
was no longer possible. Within forty years, the pre-colonial way of life had all but
disappeared from the Sydney region.7
Nineteenth century references provide us with only fragmentary accounts of the
Aboriginal people who continued to inhabit the Sydney region. No evidence of Cadigal
1

Sue Rosen, Bankstown: A Sense of Identity, Sydney, Hale and Iremonger, 1996, p.7.

Val Attenbrow, Sydney’s Aboriginal Past: investigating archaeological and historical records, NSW,
UNSW Press, 2002, p.17.

2

3

Peter Turbet, The Aborigines of the Sydney District Before 1788, NSW, Kangaroo Press, 2001, p.18.

The term Eora is problematic. It is used today in a variety of contexts to refer to the people of the
whole of the Sydney region or just those of the Port Jackson and Botany Bay area. Refer to Val
Attenbrow, op cit., 2002, pp.33-4. The meaning of the term is contested, with other sources
suggesting that it combined the words ‘yes’ and ‘country’ or ‘place.’

4

5

Ibid, p.19.

J. Lawrence and C. Warne, A Pictorial History of Balmain to Glebe, Alexandria, Kingsclear Books,
1995, p.118.

6

7

Val Attenbrow, op cit., 2002, p.24.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

162

3

occupation has survived the European occupation and development of Glebe.
2.2

The Glebe: 1788-1824
Governor Phillip established the original boundaries of the township of Sydney in
December 1792. The eastern boundary stretched from the modern day junction of
Elizabeth and Albion Streets to the south-eastern corner of Hyde Park and thence to
Woolloomooloo Bay. From January 1793, in order to open up the country and augment
the colony’s food supplies, successive governors granted land outside these township
boundaries to military and government officials, civilians and emancipated convicts.
European associations with the area now enclosed within the suburb of Glebe predate the
1793 land grant order. The vast expanses of the eastern region of the Cumberland Plain
were known to the early European settlers as Bulananming, or the Kangaroo Grounds, and
were favoured by the military officers for hunting game. While land grants were not
released to private individuals before 1793, three years earlier Phillip had, in accordance
with instructions from the Home Secretary, set aside an area of 1,000 acres to the south
and west of Blackwattle Swamp. This area was divided into three portions and allocated
as follows: a grant of 400 acres for the Church of England (made to the person of the
Reverend Richard Johnson, Chaplin of the First Fleet), a 200 acres set aside as a school
reserve and 400 acres reserved for the Crown.8 The subject property is located upon the
400 acre grant made to the Reverend Richard Johnson.
Leases were given on the Crown and School Reserves to a number of people, including
Major Francis Grose, who cleared land for cultivation in 1792, and Thomas Sheperd, who
established successful nursery. In 1803, half of the Crown land (i.e. 500 acres) was
granted by Governor King to the Orphan Institution, so naming the Orphan School Creek,
the south-western boundary of modern day Glebe and an easily identifiable feature on
early maps of the area. The Church grant was located to the north of the Crown grant and
was referred to from an early date as ‘The Glebe’ or ‘St.Phillip’s Glebe’, a term derived
from the Latin glaeba (‘ a clod of earth’), the title given in ‘ecclesiastical law’ to land
devoted to the maintenance of the incumbent of a church.9 The Reverend Johnson was
evidently dissatisfied with the grant, famously declaring it to be ‘400 acres for which (he)
would not give a pence.’10 He subsequently complained to the Home Secretary when he
was allocated only three convicts to work the small clearing made on the grant.11 While
Johnson experienced considerable success in the cultivation of other Church lands, the
Glebe remained for the most part unoccupied and unimproved until the 1820s, excepting
for the leases of small parcels of land to various individuals and the occupied secular
grants that encroached upon the periphery of the grant.

2.3

The First Subdivision of the Glebe: 1824-1845
Two years after the establishment of the Legislative Council in New South Wales (1824),
which gave a greater measure of self government to the colony, New South Wales was
raised to the status of an archdeaconry (1826), an action that was to have a wide reaching
implications for the Glebe. The British Colonial Office were of the opinion that public
education was the joint concern of the Church of England and the government, a view
shared by New South Wales’ first Archdeacon, Thomas Hobbes Scott.12 In 1826, the
newly created Church and School Corporation were charged with the ‘maintenance and
education’ of the youth of New South Wales and authorised to ‘purchase, take, acquire,
Bernard and Kate Smith, The Architectural Character of Glebe, Sydney, Sydney, University Co-op
Bookshop, 1973, p.13.

8

J.F. Campbell, ‘Notes on the Early History of the Glebe’, Journal of the Royal Australian Historical
Society, Volume 15, 1929, p.298.

9

10

Cited in Freda MacDonnell, The Glebe: Portraits and Places, Sydney, Ure Smith, 1975, p.2.

11

For further details refer to J.F. Campbell, op cit., 1929, pp.299-300.

12

Freda MacDonnell, op cit., 1975, p. 4.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

163

4

hold and alienate lands’. The funds were then to be used to erect churches, schools,
improve lands, construct roads and maintain school masters and members of the clergy.
13 The land brought under their control included the Glebe. The Corporation were
permitted to sell up to one third of the land granted in each county.14 In compensation
for secular incursions onto the original 400 acre grant of the Glebe, the Corporation were
given an additional grant of thirty-five acres between the original grant and the
Parramatta Road.15
Sydney grew outwards in all directions from 1828. In the period to 1836, the population
almost doubled.16 In 1828 the Church and School Corporation subdivided the Glebe into
28 portions and offered all but three portions for sale.17 The 25 allotments offered for
sale ranged from 3 to 42 acres in size. Access into the area at this time was via the
Parramatta Road, which, by 1810, had been improved from the rough bush track of 1789
into a trafficable 10.6 m wide road. The 1828 subdivision made allowance for in-roads
into the Glebe; Bay Road and Glebe Road (Glebe Point Road) were created by cutting
through bush, pulling out stumps and ‘filling in the largest of the holes’.18 Of the three
remaining portions, two were delivered to the trust of St. Phillip’s Church, Sydney, the
income to be used for diocesan purposes. The third was set aside for the residence of the
Archdeacon and was henceforth referred to as the Archdeaconry.19 Little development
occurred upon the later which, until the 1840s, was occupied by a caretaker.
The subject property was located on land that remained the property of the Church and
was part of portion 10 as indicated by Figure 2.

13

Smith, op cit., 1973, p.14.

14

Ibid, p.14.

15

Deed dated 24 November, 1829.

Max Solling and Peter Reynolds, Leichhardt: On the Margins of the City, Sydney, Allen & Unwin,
1997, p.14.

16

Smith, op cit., 1973, p.14. For details of the two sales held in February and May 1828 refer to J.F.
Campbell, op cit., 1929, pp.301-2.

17

18

J. Lawrence and C. Warne, op cit.,1995, p.118.

19

Smith, op cit., 1973, p.127.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

164

5

Figure 2: 1828 Subdivision of the Glebe.
L.G. Norman, Historical Notes on The Glebe, 1960.

Purchasers of land on the Glebe (1828) were required to place a 10% deposit and to bind
themselves to pay 5% (or the whole) within 21 years, after which time the balance was to
be paid or the land resumed by the Corporation.20 As Sydney developed beyond the
struggling convict outpost into a township with a secure future, land speculation became
widespread. A number of the 1828 allotments on the Glebe changed hands before the
expiration of the 21 year period. Not all the original purchasers, however, were
speculators. As Sydney’s first villa suburb was rising on Darlinghurst Hill, a number of
professional gentlemen choose to build villas upon the larger elevated allotments in the
northern part of the Glebe. James Raymond in his New South Wales Calender and General
Post Office Directory of 1833 noted ‘several good houses’ on the right hand side of Glebe
Point Road. 21 Solicitors, doctors, businessmen, bankers and gentlemen were among the
occupants of Glebe’s villas in the 1830s.22 Almost a century later, the Sydney Morning
Herald reminisced that:
‘At one time the Glebe was second only in popularity to Darling Point and Edgecliff as a residential
area.’23

With the onset of economic depression in the early 1840s, a number of the privately held
allotments on the Glebe (in the area between Glebe Point Road, Bay Street, Cowper Street
and the Parramatta Road) were re-subdivided into small allotments with 25 to 30 foot

20

Governor Darling, 1828 reporting on the land sales, cited in J.F. Campbell, op cit., 1929, pp.303.

21

Max Solling and Peter Reynolds, op cit., 1997, p.14.

22

Ibid, p.16.

“The Glebe’: The Church as Landlord’, Sydney Morning Herald, 13 April, 1924. Mitchell Library,
Newspaper Clippings, Volume 165, p.91.

23

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

165

6

frontages as part of the Bishopsgate Estate.24 These were sold predominantly to
storekeepers, merchants and others seeking relief from the high rents of the inner city
suburbs. Such small lot subdivisions were the result of a number of causes, not the least
of which was the improved prospect of employment for the labourer and his family. Until
the 1840s, the majority of Sydney labourers resided within the city boundaries, close to
the main centres of employment. The journey from Sydney into the Glebe could take up
to half a day and could only be undertaken by private means.25 By the mid 1840s,
however, labourers could find employment in the slaughter houses and brewery that had
been erected on land sold in 1828 between Rozelle and Blackwattle Bays or in the
quarries and brick pits of the surrounding area. Industries to service the needs of local
labourers and of the passing trade of the Parramatta Road followed.

Figure 3: A detail showing the subject site within the former smaller Bishopsgate
subdivision. At this time, approximately 10 years after the subdivision, there were no
structures constructed on site.
“Woolcott & Clarke’s Map of the City of Sydney, with the environs of Balmain and Glebe,
Chippendale, Redfern, Paddington & Co.”, illustrates the City of Sydney and immediately
surrounding areas in 1854.

24

See: for example, A.E. Meikle, Bishopsgate at the Main Entrance of the City….for Sale by Mr Lyons on
the Ground…1844, Sydney, E.D. Barlow, 1844. Mitchell Library.

25

Mary Salmon, ‘The Glebe and Forest Lodge’, undated article originally appearing in the Sydney News.
Mitchell Library, Newspaper Cuttings, Volume 2, pp.85-6.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

166

7

Figure 4: The subject site, subdivided in the Bishopsgate Estate in 1886.
“Map of the Municipalities of The Glebe, Camperdown, Newtown, Madconaldtown & Darlington,
Parishes of Petersham & Alexandria, Compiled from the latest official & private surveys, and
Published by the Proprietors, Higinbotham and Robinson, 62 Elizabeth Street and Wentworth
Court, Sydney.”

During the mid nineteenth century, the area to the east of Bay Street followed a
contrasting pattern of development to the highly praised villas of the northern areas of
the Glebe. Instead of draining away the refuse from the slaughter houses, as had been
expected, the tides washed pollution onto the foreshores and into the creeks, making the
area are undesirable place to live. Between these two extremes was a section of better
quality housing, lying to the west of Bay Street and bordering the Church held lands,
which was described by W. S. Jevons in 1854 as containing:
‘Numerous small cottages or well built rows of small houses, chiefly out of brick or stone are to be
found here. They are pretty, newly built and not unduly crowded while the main streets, or at least
the corner, are occupied by substantially built shops of two or three stories.’26

Figures 5 – 7 below give an indication of the slum conditions of the Bishopsgate estate at
the turn century. These photographs are a selection from survey of quarantine areas in
Sydney, which was undertaken following the outbreak of bubonic plague in 1900. The
photographs were commissioned as result of the outbreak. Mr. George McCredie was in
charge of cleansing and disinfecting operations in the quarantine areas. He commenced
work on 23 March 1900.

26

Cited in Smith, op cit., 1973, p.24.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

167

8

Figure 5: At rear of No.
32 Francis-street
looking towards the
subject site. Views
taken during Cleansing
Operations, Quarantine
Area, Sydney, 1900, Vol.
IV / under the
supervision of Mr George
McCredie, F.I.A., N.S.W.

Figure 6: Stables at
rear of No. 42 Francisstreet with the Sydney
University tower in the
background. Views
taken during Cleansing
Operations, Quarantine
Area, Sydney, 1900, Vol.
IV / under the
supervision of Mr George
McCredie, F.I.A., N.S.W.

Figure 7: Cottage at
rear of No. 8 Francisstreet looking towards
the Grace Brothers
Store Views taken
during Cleansing
Operations, Quarantine
Area, Sydney, 1900, Vol.
IV / under the
supervision of Mr George
McCredie, F.I.A., N.S.W.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

168

9

2.4

Sydney Tramways and Omnibus Company
Transport into and out of the area showed the first signs of improvement as the half
century approached. Omnibuses began running into Glebe from 1846; by 1867, there
were 45 operators in the Glebe alone. The fare of a sixpence from George Street to Bay
Street, however, still represented a considerable expense to the labourer and his family.27
Henry Vickers originally opened the Vickers and Cooks Coach Service from Francis Street
which is located to the north of the subject site in 1868. Figures 5-7 above gives an
indication what this area looked like at the period. The company was bought out by the
Sydney Tramway and Omnibus Company in the 1880s which subsequently set up a four
storey depot on the Parramatta Road/Broadway site. At the time of depot construction
the company had recently expanded to construct a ‘better class of omnibus’ at the Glebe
Factory.28
One of four depots, the Glebe Depot was ‘a very large building with four floors’. Iron work
was undertaken in the basement where six blacksmiths were employed. The company
also employed wheelwrights, carpenters, painters and trimmers turning out a two-horse
bus every fortnight as well as maintenance of the 120 buses in circulation. The Sydney
Mail reported, “There are large piles of timber seasoning” including “English ash, which is
used for the frames of the busses and some of the best cedar forms the panels”. In 1888,
there were 315 horses stabled at Glebe. Each two-horse bus operated for 13 hours a day,
with four changes of horses daily.29
Initially the company attempted to introduce a bill in the NSW Parliament to gain a
contract to lay tram lines throughout the City of Sydney. The bill was rejected as the
government was reluctant to allow for a private company to interfere with the city roads.
The government was spurred to lay the lines at taxpayer expense. As a result, the
Company fell in to receivership by 1893 as it was felt that ‘with the renewed opposition of
the tram, though a private owner might make a living, it would never pay a large
corporation such as the Sydney Tramway and Omnibus Company’. As such assets of the
company were sold off, including 255 Broadway and the stables, with the company
advertising sale of all of their omnibus and carriage fixtures, fittings and vehicles.30

Figure 8: Horse-drawn
omnibus, Sydney
Tramway and
Omnibus Company,
Sydney, 1897. Sydney
Tramway and Omnibus
Co. Horse-drawn
omnibus, Sydney
Tramway and Omnibus
Company, Sydney, 1897
: , . Web. 10 January
2018
<http://nla.gov.au/nla.o
bj-138205476>

27

J. Lawrence and C. Warne, op cit., 1995, p.124.

28

"THE SYDNEY TRAMWAY AND OMNIBUS COMPANY." The Sydney Daily Telegraph (NSW : 1879 1883) 20 September 1879: 6. Web. 10 Jan 2018 <http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article239286058>.

29

"Sydney Tramway and Omnibus Company." The Sydney Mail and New South Wales Advertiser
(NSW : 1871 - 1912) 23 June 1888: 1323. Web. 10 Jan 2018 <http://nla.gov.au/nla.newsarticle164357778>.

30

Ibid.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

169

10

2.5

International Harvester Company of America
The steady growth of the area through the 1860s to 1890s, generated a need for greater
commercial development. It was during this period that the allotments along Glebe Point
Road were developed for commercial and residential use. Corner Shops also appeared
throughout the subdivisions (Church lease or private freehold sale) of the former Glebe,
with the exception of the Allen Estate, upon which shops were forbidden by covenant.
The terraced shops and Glebe Point Road, stand in strong contrast to these
neighbourhood corner shops, given that they were designed to constitute a distinct
shopping area.31
Walter Russell Hall Esq. purchased 1 rood 12¼ perches Lots 22 to 24 and part of Lot 21
Section 1 of the Bishopgate Estate, which included the subject site. Hall was prominent
member of both Sydney and Melbourne societies, is best known for his philanthropic
contributions with his wife Eliza.
The 1904 addition of the five storey Grace Bros on the western corner of Broadway and
Bay Street paved the way for larger commercial buildings along the
Broadway/Parramatta Road commercial strip.32
As a result of the receivership of the Sydney Tram and Omnibus Company the
International Harvester Company of America, acquired the lease for the site and
constructed a new premises on the site in 1906. This building constructed is the building
seen today. The building was designed by renowned Sydney architectural firm Robertson
and Marks.
At the time of construction the building was described by the Sydney Mail and the New
South Wales Advertiser as:33
…Has a frontage to Broadway of about 64ft, with a through depth to Grose Street of
about 110ft. The structure is five stories in height, with a basement 20ft in height. this
extreme height being for in purpose or erecting three 'travellers' to faciliate the getting
in and out of goods. The showroom is on the ground floor, with the principal entrance
from Broadway. On the first floor are situated the offices of the company, and the upper
floors carry heavy stocks. The building is of a very substantial character in Romanesque
design.
The walls are of brick, the front being in O.K. bricks with stone dressings. The spaces
around and over the windows are lined with Pilkington's tiles in turquoise-blue, which
has striking effect. The base of the building is in rock-faced stone. The principal entrance
is very handsome, having stone columns with carved caps and moulded and carved
transom with semi-circular moulded and carved stone head. The floors are carried upon
steel girders supported by steel stanchions and all protected with expanded metal and
concrete.
The internal finish is of cedar on the ground floor, and pine on the upper floors. A
handsome cedar staircase is provided from the ground to the first floor, and also cedar
porch with swing doors at entrance. The premises are particularly well lighted, the
windows being very large — all 12ft. wide, and averaging 10f in height.
The International Harvester Company also has a large machinery store in course of
construction to the rear of the above from Grose street, through to Francis-street, the
area being about 200ft by 66ft.
31

Smith op cit., 1973, pp.99-106.

32

Lech, Michael, Grace Brothers, Dictionary of Sydney, 2011,
http://dictionaryofsydney.org/entry/grace_brothers, viewed 10 Jan 2018

33

"International Harvester Company of America." The Sydney Mail and New South Wales Advertiser
(NSW : 1871 - 1912) 25 April 1906: 1087. Web. 10 Jan 2018 <http://nla.gov.au/nla.newsarticle164041394>.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

170

11

Figure 9: The subject building soon after construction in 1906.
"International Harvester Company of America." The Sydney Mail and New South Wales Advertiser
(NSW : 1871 - 1912) 25 April 1906: 1087. Web. 10 Jan 2018 <http://nla.gov.au/nla.newsarticle164041394>.

In 1920 the lease for the building was taken over by Tillock Company. In the interim,
ownership of the site transferred twice from Richard Gardiner Casey Esq. (1917 – 1920)
to Sir John Russsell French (1920-1920). 34
Tillock Company was a wholesale grocery distribution company. For example, the Tillock
34

NSW Land Titles Vol 1264 Fol 214, Vol 1264 Fol 214 and Vol 1264 Fol 214

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

171

12

Company brought sugar directly from the Colonial Sugar Refinery (CSR) and onsold it to
smaller local groceries. The company also manufactured goods including “Aunt Mary’s
Baking Power”.35 Figure 10 below is an excerpt of advertising for the baking powder.

Figure 10: Advertising of Aunt Mary’s
Baking Power.
The Australian woman's mirror Sydney:
The Bulletin Newspaper, 1924. Web. 12
January 2018 <http://nla.gov.au/nla.obj396798960>

In 1937 the was a large fire in the adjoining building occupied at the time by Grimley Ltd
causing damage between £50,000- £100,000. According the Sydney Morning Herald,
‘practically every fireman in the metropolitan area was present in the effort to stem the
flames and prevent them spreading to the remaining buildings on the block..’. Despite the
firefights best efforts, the fire moved in to the Tillock Company building, causing the
parapet of the building to fall through the roof, many of the groceries housed on site were
damaged.36
Tillock Company owned the site until 1983, along with a number of other tenants who
operated from different floors. The table below displays the owners of the site.
Date of Acquisition
and term held

Registered Proprietor(s) &
Occupations where
available

Reference to Title at
Acquisition and sale

14.12.1840

Joseph Hickey Grose

Serial 35 Folios 352 to 361
(12 acres 3 roods 20 perches)

10.11.1898

Primary Application No.
10554 – See also D.P. 60554

10.11.1898
(1898 to 1913)

1905
09.05.1913

Walter Russell Hall (Esquire)

D.P. 930503 – originally for
lease purposes
Eliza Rowdon Hall (Widow)

Vol 1264 Fol 214
(1 rood 12¼ perches Lots 22
to 24 and part of Lot 21
Section 1 of the Bishopgate
Estate (D.P. 977071) – See
D.P. 60554
Vol 1264 Fol 214

35

The Australian woman's mirror Sydney: The Bulletin Newspaper, 1924. Web. 12 January 2018
<http://nla.gov.au/nla.obj-396798960>

36

" BROADWAY FIRE (1937, April 29). The Sydney Morning Herald (NSW : 1842 - 1954), p. 10.
Retrieved January 18, 2018, from http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article17363819

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

172

13

(1913 to 1920)

06.06.1917
(1917 to 1920)

27.04.1920
(1920 to 1920)

(Transmission Application not
investigated)
Richard Gardiner Casey
(Esquire)
Kelso King (Underwriter)
(Transmission Application not
investigated - ?Executors of
the Will of Eliza Rowdon Hall)
Kelso King (Underwriter)
Sir John Russell French
(Knight of the British Empire)

30.06.1920
(1920 to 1983)

Tillock Company Limited
Now
Tillock Company Pty Limited

15.08.1983
(1983 to 1987)

Graphic Properties Pty
Limited

Vol 1264 Fol 214

Vol 1264 Fol 214
Vol 1264 Fol 214
Now
Vol 3094 Fol 170
(25½ perches – now Lot 1
D.P. 930503)
Vol 3094 Fol 170
Now
Vol 15164 Fol 142
(Lot 1 D.P. 930503)

01.12.1987
(1987 to
Enrobook Pty Limited
Vol 15164 Fol 142
computerisation)
Leases: •
25.10.1907 (No. 477888, plan refiled as D.P. 930503) to International Harvester
Company of America)
The table below indicates the number of alterations and additions undertaken on the site
from 1962 – present.
Date
16 Jan 1962-5 Feb
1962

Occupant

Alterations/Addition.

Vermont Fancy
Leather

To use second floor for manufacture of
leathergoods and to carry out minor
alterations

Goods Pty Ltd
17 Jul 1962-4 Sep
1962
9 Dec 1960-22 Aug
1961
15 Aug 1961-27 Sep

Tillock and Co Pty
Ltd
Z. A. Schmaehling
(architect)
H. W. Rice Pty Ltd

1961
17 Jul 1962-24 Apr
1963
1 Jan 1961-31 Dec
1961
D/2006/1739

D/2011/1586

Fluores-lite

To use first, second and third floors as a
bulkstore and to carry out alterations
Alterations to premises for use as
offices, showrooms, warehousing and
cark park
Use of ground floor and basement of
premises as offices, showroom and
warehouse for a wholesale toy
distributors business
Use shop for sale of electrical fittings
and appliances
Alterations and additions

Yoga/Pilates studio.

Approval granted on 26 October 2006
for fit-out and use of level 3 as a
yoga/Pilates studio.

Australian
Performing Arts
Grammar School

Approval granted on 23 February 2012
for change of use and fit out of levels 1
and 3 for secondary school known as
‘Australian Performing Arts Grammar

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

173

14

School’ including signage.
D/2011/1586/A

D/2013/331

D/2015/5

2.5.1

Australian
Performing Arts
Grammar School

Section 96 (2) modification of the
approved development to modify
internal layout and expand studio floor
space on level 3.

Australian
Performing Arts
Grammar School

Approval granted on 7 May 2013 for
construction of roof top terrace to be
used as a student break-out area
associated with the Australian
Performing Arts Grammar School.

Australian
Performing Arts
Grammar School

Change of use from office to school and
internal fit-out of ground floor area for
the purpose of performing art school.

About the Architects: Robertson and Marks
The architectural practice of Robertson and Marks was founded in Sydney in 1892 by the
Scottish-born George Birrell Robertson (1858-1913) and the Australian-born Theodore
John Marks (1865-1941), both of whom had worked for the well-known architect George
Mansfield (refer to Figures 11 and 12). The practice continues today as Robertson &
Marks Pty Ltd.
For the first five years, the partners worked on domestic commissions. From 1897, the
practice undertook a large number of shops and warehouses. Among their early
commercial work was Challis House in Martin Place (1907), designed in association with
John Sulman.37 After this time, the work of the practice was largely commercial or for
private institutions.

Figure 11: T.J. Marks.
Figure 12: G.B. Robertson.
The Cyclopedia of NSW, 1907.

37

Clive Lucas Stapleton and Partners, op.cit., 1989, p. 16.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

174

15

Robertson and Marks designed fourteen buildings for major commercial institutions in
Sydney between 1907 and 1940, making it one of the most prominent Sydney
architectural firms of the period. The Cyclopedia of NSW, published in 1907, described the
partnership as being of ‘high repute’ and as having provided Sydney with ‘many of its
elegant and beautiful buildings.’38 Two other pre-World War II buildings by Robertson &
Marks survive, being Pomeroy House in York Street (1914-1915) and the Perpetual
Trustees Building in Hunter Street (1914-1916).39

Figure 13: Pomeroy House, later International House, in York Street, Sydney.
State Heritage Inventory Database (5045543).
Figure 14: Perpetual Trustees Building in Hunter Street, Sydney.
State Heritage Inventory Database (5045035).

3.0

SITE ASSESSMENT

3.1

The Site
For the following, refer to Figure 15, an aerial photograph over the site, and to the survey
that accompanies this application.
The site is location on the northern side of Broadway between Glebe Point Road and Bay
Street. The site is roughly rectangular in shape, with a front boundary of 19.52m; a
western boundary of 33.17; a northern boundary of 19.43m; and a southern boundary of
33.38m. The site area is 644.9m2.

The Cyclopedia of NSW, Sydney, McCarron, Stewart & Co. Printers, 1907, pp.416-417.
Clive Lucas Stapleton and Partners, op.cit., 1989, p. 16 and Scott Robinson, ‘Robertson and Marks,’
Philip Goad and Julie Willis (ed.), The Encyclopedia of Australian Architecture, USA, Cambridge Press,
2012, pp.598-99.

38
39

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

175

16

Figure 15: Aerial
photograph over
the site.

NSW Lands
Department,
2016.

3.2

Exterior
The building is a five storey former warehouse/showroom constructed in the Federation
Free Style with Romanesque style influences. The principal elevation has three distinct
bays with arched tops. Each bay is separated by face brick piers. There are aluminum
framed windows which have rendered concrete spandrals with dark pebble aggregate.
The base of the building is in rock-faced stone. The principal entrance has sandstone
columns with carved caps with a moulded and carved transom with semi-circular
moulded and carved sandstone head.

Figure 16: The primary
southern elevation of the
subject site.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

176

17

T
h
e
r
e
a
r
o
f
Figure 17: The southern
elevation showing part of the
western elevation.

t
h
e

The elevation facing Grose Street is utilitarian and is constructed of face brickwork with
painted concrete lintels above the windows. There are multiples entrances to the building
from the rear such as a loading dock. Each window on this elevation has a rendered
masonry lintel.
Refer to Figures 15 to 24, the photograph on the front cover of this Heritage Assessment
and to the photographs in the following sections.

Figure 18: The sandstone base
on Broadway.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

177

18

Figure 19: Decorative
sandstone arch on Broadway.

Figure 20: Decorative
sandstone carving at
Broadway.

Figure 21: Looking up the face
brick column on the primary
elevation.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

178

19

Figure 22: The utilitarian rear
elevation of the site.

Figure 23: The utilitarian rear
elevation of the site.

Figure 24: The utilitarian rear
elevation of the site.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

179

20

Figure 25: The western
elevation of the rear entry on
Grose Street.

3.3

Interior
The existing floor plan is best understood with reference to Figure 26.

Figure 26: The Ground and First Floor plans of the subject site.

Internally, the subject building has undergone a number of alterations and additions to
facilitate various uses. In some sections modern fit outs have left original wooden columns
in-situ to support the ceiling. There are lifts operating to all levels.
Note: Weir Phillips Heritage was not granted access to the interior of the No. 255
Broadway, therefore the interior description is limited to supplied photographs.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

180

21

Figure 27: Rehearsal Space 1 –
GF 255 Broadway

Figure 28: Breakout & Multipurpose Area – GF 255
Broadway

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

181

22

Figure 29: Lobby – GF 255
Broadway

Figure 30: Lobby – GF 255
Broadway

" ETCH Studio | Architects |
Sydney | Australia." Etchstudio.com. N. p., 2018. Web. 6
Feb. 2018.

Figure 31: The open floorplate
revealing original.

"PL PROJECTS - 255
BROADWAY." PL PROJECTS. N.
p., 2018. Web. 6 Feb. 2018.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

182

23

3.4

The Surrounding Area
For the following, refer to Figure 32, an aerial photograph over the site and the
surrounding area.
The section of Broadway where the subject building is located is a wide thoroughfare with
commercial buildings on the northern side and the University of Sydney and Victoria Park
on the southern side. To the rear of the site is the Broadway Shopping Centre including
the former Grace Brothers Store. To the west is the southern end of Glebe Point Road
which is characterised by converted Victorian Terraces with cantilevered street awnings.
Figures 33 -35 illustrate the surrounding area.

Figure 32: Aerial photograph over the site and the surrounding area.
NSW Lands Department, 2016.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

183

24

Figure 33: The former
Grace Bros Store (now
Broadway Shopping centre
to the east and north of the
site.

Figure 34: Victoria Park
opposite the site.

Figure 35:
The start of Glebe Point
road to the west of the site.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

184

25

4.0

ASSESSMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

4.1

Heritage Items in the Vicinity of the Site
For the following, ‘in the vicinity’ has been determined with reference to physical
proximity, existing and potential view corridors and the nature of the proposed works.
There is one heritage item listed on the State Heritage Register, under the auspices of the
NSW Heritage Act 1977, in the vicinity of the site.
•

University Hall including interior, 281-285 Broadway, Glebe. SHR No. 00128

Figure 36 shows the location of heritage items, listed by Schedule 5 Part 1 of the Sydney
LEP 2012, and Conservation Areas, listed by Schedule 5 Part 2 of the Sydney LEP 2012,
within the vicinity of the site. Heritage items are coloured brown or green and numbered.
Conservation Areas are hatched in red and numbered. The blue outline marks the site.
The following items are within the vicinity of the subject site:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Victoria Park, Gardener’s Lodge and its interior, entry gates and piers, park
layout, paths and plantings (I39)
Commemorative fountain “Jubilee Fountain” - Glebe Point Road, corner
Broadway (I776)
Former commercial building “Grace Bros, Model & Moxham Store” including
interior - 213 Broadway, Glebe (I664)
Former “Grace Bros Homewares” including interior, 185–211 Broadway
(I2018)
Glebe Point Road HCA
Former English, Scottish and Australian Bank including interior, 202–206
Broadway, Chippendale (I169)
Lansdowne Hotel including interior, 2-6 City Road, Chippendale (I172)

Figure 36:
Heritage Plan
(Detail).
Sydney LEP 2012.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

185

26

4.2

View corridors
The subject building is a highly visible when travelling in both directions along Broadway.
The building in prominent in this location due to it being taller than the buildings
surrounding it and the heavier massing materials (brick and sandstone) used in its
construction. The rear of the site is less visible along Grose Street due to the narrowness
of the street and the larger commercial buildings associated with the Broadway Shopping
Centre.

Figure 37: Looking west
along Broadway towards
the subject building.

Figure 38:
Looking east along
Broadway towards the
subject building.

Figure 39: Looking west
along Grose Street towards
the subject building. This
elevation is less visually
prominent Then the
Broadway Elevation.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

186

27

4.3

Integrity
The integrity of the subject building is mixed as a result of successive alterations to suit
the needs of different tenants.
The external integrity of the building is considered high as the original form and a large
amount of original finishes are still present. The Broadway façade is mostly intact, aside
from the aluminium framed windows and rendered concrete spandrals which were
originally clad with turquoise tiles. The rear elevation is mostly in-tact aside from
alterations to the Ground Floor entry bay which was originally much larger to fit
harvesters into the original showrooms. Wooden window frames have also been replaced
with modern aluminium frames on this elevation.
The internal integrity of the subject building is considered to be partially in-tact.
Internally the building has had significant alterations, most recently to suit the needs of
the Australian Performing Arts Grammar School. There are some original features such as
timber columns and brick walls remaining in situ. Most internal features dating from the
original construction have been removed and replaced with a modern fit out, however
they could be concealed.

4.4

Comparative Analysis
The building is comparatively modest (in terms of size) and is one of a comparatively
large group of surviving examples example of the important partnership of Robertson
and Marks designing in this style during the Federation period.
The building of their work in Sydney.
No. 255 Broadway Glebe, demonstrates characteristics typical of the Federation Free
Style warehouse including masonry construction, face brickwork with stone detailing,
piers dividing the façade symmetrically into bays, and spandrels recessed behind the
plane of the piers. The building also demonstrates influence of the Romanesque Style in
the very finely detailed entrance archway.
Like many of the Robertson and Marks designed warehouses/bond stores the building
prominence in the streetscape and remains clearly recognisable as a Federation Style
warehouse.
Like subject building, It is common for warehouses/bondstores to be converted into
offices with modern fit outs. Generally, these fitouts retain original columns and floors but
install false ceilings to facilitate the installation of services. No. 255 Broadway has
undergone similar modifications and likely retains a large amount of original fabric which
is currently concealed.
Unlike many of the Robertson and Marks designed warehouses/bond stores the front
elevation has had the original windows replaced with aluminium framed windows in a
slightly different configuration to the original. The original turquoise tile cladding on the
spandrels have been removed and replaced with rendered concrete. This reduces
significance of the original building as the original design intent of the architects is
weakened. Other buildings of the same era generally retain much of their original
detailing on the primary elevation, including timber framed windows.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

187

28

The following table compares other building constructed in the same period in the similar
style:
Details

Photograph

Building Name: International House
(formerly Pomeroy House)
Address: 14-16 York Street, Sydney
LGA: Sydney
Date Construction: 1913
Style: Federation Free Classical Style
Listing Status: SHR (00579);
Sydney LEP 2012
Remarks:

Building Name: Metters Building
Address: 154-158 Elizabeth Street, Sydney
LGA: Sydney
Date Construction: 1914
Style: Federation Anglo Dutch Style
Listing Status: SHR (00732);
Sydney LEP 2012
Remarks: SHR notes that interior lacking
in ‘quality detailing’ but ‘quite intact’,
including original metal ceilings and timber
firestair.

Building Name: Perpetual Trustee
Company
Address: 33-39 Hunter Street, Sydney
LGA: Sydney
Date Construction: 1914-1916
Style:
Listing Status: SHR (00678); Sydney LEP
2012
Remarks:

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

188

29

Building Name: Trust Building
Address: 72-72a Castlereagh Street,
Sydney
LGA: Sydney
Date Construction: 1914-1916
Style: Federation Free Classical Style
Listing Status: SHR (00676); Sydney LEP
2012
Remarks:

Building Name: Simpson House
Address: 249-251 Pitt Street, Sydney
LGA: Sydney
Date Construction: 1912-1913
Style: Federation Anglo Dutch Style
Listing Status: Sydney LEP 2012
Remarks:

Building Name: Commercial Building
(façade only)
Address: 397 George Street (part of listing
for 395-397 George), Sydney
LGA: Sydney
Date Construction: 1880-1908
Style: Federation Free Classical Style
Listing Status: Sydney LEP 2012
Remarks: Victorian period building with
later Federation period façade designed by
R & M. Good small scale example of work of
practice.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

189

30

Building Name: Former Broughton House,
Warehouse
Address: 177-181 Clarence Street, Sydney
LGA: Sydney
Date Construction: 1900, rebuilt after a
fire in 1920
Style: Federation Free Classical Style
Listing Status: Sydney LEP 2012
Remarks: Rebuilt after fire by Robertson &
Marks
Building Name: Former Edwards Dunlop
& Co. warehouses
Address: 252-258 Kent Street, Sydney
LGA: Sydney
Date Construction: 1907 and 1936
Style: Federation Warehouse Style (1907
building)
Listing Status: Sydney LEP 2012
Remarks:

Building Name: Former Warehouse,
Dunlop & Co.
Address: 414-418 Kent Street
LGA: Sydney
Date Construction: 1897
Style: Federation Free Style
Listing Status: Sydney LEP 2012
Remarks:

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

190

31

Building Name: Former Ford Sherington
Factory
Address: 119-127 Kippax Street, Surry
Hills, Sydney
LGA: Sydney
Date Construction: 1912 (and additions in
1920)
Style: Federation Warehouse Style
Listing Status: Sydney LEP 2012
Remarks:
Building Name: Former Warehouse
Briscoe & Co.’
Address: 485-501 Wattle Street, Ultimo
LGA: Sydney
Date Construction: c.1901
Style: Federation Warehouse Style, with
Romanesque influences
Listing Status: Sydney LEP 2012
Remarks: Hardwood structural frame

Building Name: Former Canada House
Address: 822 George Street, Chippendale
LGA: Sydney
Date Construction: 1910
Style: Federation Free Style
Listing Status: Sydney LEP 2012
Remarks: Noted as only ‘medium’
significance with low significance interiors

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

191

32

Building Name: Former Warehouse,
Carlton House
Address: 38-44 York Street, Sydney
LGA: Sydney
Date Construction: 1909
Style: Federation Free Style
Listing Status: Sydney LEP 2012
Remarks: Only attributed to R & M

Building Name: Former warehouses
Address: 338 Kent Street (formerly 340)
and No. 197-199 Clarence Street
LGA: Sydney
Date Construction: 1906
Style: Federation Warehouse with
Romanesque Style detailing
Listing Status: Sydney LEP 2012
Remarks: Two separate listings

Building Name: Former Woolstore,
‘Schute, Bell, Badgery & Lumby
Address: 94-136 Harris Street, Pyrmont
LGA: Sydney
Date Construction: 1911
Style: Federation Warehouse Style
Listing Status: Sydney LEP 2012
Remarks:

4.4

Heritage Council of NSW Criteria
The site is assessed for significance under the following criterion of the Heritage Council
of New South Wales. The Guidelines for Inclusion / Exclusion are as provided by Assessing
Heritage Significance, NSW Heritage Manual Update.

4.4.1

Criterion (a)
An item is important in the course, or pattern, of New South Wales’ cultural or
natural history (or the cultural of natural history of the local area)

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

192

33

Guidelines for Inclusion
shows evidence of a significant human
activity
is associated with a significant activity or
historical phase
maintains or shows continuity of a
historical process or activity

Guidelines for Exclusion
has incidental or unsubstantiated
connections with historically important
activities or processes
provides evidence of activities or
processes that are of dubious historical
importance
has been altered so that is can no longer
provide evidence of a particular
association

The site is historically significant as an example of 19th and early 20th-century Sydney
warehouse/showroom. This is an important period in Sydney’s history wherein
warehouses and bonded stores were an important part of the city's life.
4.4.2

Criterion (b)
An item has strong or special association with the life or works of a person, or
group of persons, of importance in New South Wales’ cultural or natural history (or
the cultural or natural history of the local area)
Guidelines for Inclusion
shows evidence of a significant human
occupation
is associated with a significant event,
person, or group of persons
maintains or shows continuity of a
historical process or activity

Guidelines for Exclusion
has incidental or unsubstantiated
connections with historically important
people or events
provides evidence of people or events
that are of dubious historical
importance
has been altered so that it can no longer
provide evidence of a particular
association

The site is associated with prominent architectural firm Robertson and Marks who were
responsible for a number of Sydney’s largest commercial buildings, particularly
warehouses in the Federation Free Style.
4.4.3

Criterion (c)
An item is important in demonstrating aesthetic characteristics and/or a high
degree of technical achievement in New South Wales (or the local area)
Guidelines for Inclusion
shows or is associated with, creative or
technical innovation or achievement
is the inspiration for creative or technical
innovation or achievement
is aesthetically distinctive or has landmark
qualities
exemplifies a particular taste, style or
technology

Guidelines for Exclusion
is not a major work by an important
designer or artist
has lost its design or technical integrity
its positive visual or sensory appeal or
landmark and scenic qualities have been
more than temporarily degraded
has only a loose association with a
creative or technical achievement

Demonstrates characteristics typical of the Federation Free Style warehouse including
masonry construction, face brickwork with stone detailing; piers dividing the façade
symmetrically into bays; and spandrels recessed behind the plane of the piers. Also
demonstrates influence of the Romanesque Style in the very finely detailed entrance
archway. The original pattern of the fenestration and spandrals has been lost.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

193

34

The building is considered a landmark long the section of Broadway where it is located due
to it large scale in the surrounding lower scale context.
4.4.4

Criterion (d)
An item has strong or special association with a particular community or cultural
group in New South Wales (or the local area) for social, cultural or spiritual reasons
Guidelines for Inclusion
is important for its association with an
identifiable group
is important to a community’s sense of
place

Guidelines for Exclusion
is only important to the community for
amenity reasons
is retained only in preference to a
proposed alternative

The site does not have any strong or special association with a particular community or
cultural group in New South Wales (or the local area) for social, cultural or spiritual
reasons.
4.4.5

Criterion (e)
An item has potential to yield information that will contribute to an understanding of
New South Wales’ cultural or natural history (or the cultural or natural history of the
local area)
Guidelines for Inclusion

Guidelines for Exclusion

has the potential to yield new or further
substantial scientific and/or archaeological
information
is an important benchmark or reference
site or type

has little archaeological or research
potential

provides evidence of past human cultures
that is unavailable elsewhere

only contains information that is readily
available from other resources of
archaeological sites
the knowledge gained would be
irrelevant to research on science, human
history of culture

The site is unlikely to yield an information that will contribute to an understanding of New
South Wales’ cultural or natural history that is not already provided by building of a similar
typology.
4.4.6

Criterion (f)
An item possesses uncommon, rare or endangered aspects of New South Wales’
cultural or natural history (of the cultural or natural history of the local area)
Guidelines for Inclusion
provides evidence of a defunct custom, way
of life or process
demonstrate a process, custom or other
human activity that is in danger of being
lost
shown unusually accurate evidence of a
significant human activity
is the only example of its type
demonstrate designs or techniques of
exceptional interest
shown rare evidence of a significant human
activity important to a community

Guidelines for Exclusion
is not rare
is numerous but under threat

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

194

35

Although an example of a late 19th century warehouse, the subject building is not
considered to be rare within the wider Sydney context.
4.4.7

Criterion (g)
An item is important in demonstrating the principal characteristics of a class of New
South Wales (or a class of the local areas):
Cultural or natural places; or
Cultural or natural environments
Guidelines for Inclusion

Guidelines for Exclusion

is a fine example of its type
has the potential characteristics of an
important class or group of items
has attributes typical of a particular way of
life, philosophy, custom, significant
process, design, technique of activity
is a significant variation to a class of items
is part of a group which collectively
illustrates a representative type
is outstanding because of its setting,
condition or size
is outstanding because of its integrity or
the esteem in which it is held

is a poor example of its type
does not include or has lost the range of
characteristics of a type
does not represent well the
characteristics that make up a
significant variation of a type

It is a representative example of a Federation period warehouse forming part of a precinct
of warehouses in the western and southern parts of the Sydney CBD.
4.5

Statement of Significance
No. 255 Broadway, Glebe, has local historic and aesthetic significance as part of the
pattern of warehouses and stores that characterised the western part of the City of
Sydney in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Designed by Robertson and
Marks, one of the leading commercial architects of the period and built c.1906, it is a good
example of the Federation Free style, with a finely detailed Romanesque Style entrance.

5.0

CONCLUSIONS
No. 255 Broadway, Glebe meets the NSW Heritage Office threshold for listing a heritage
item. The site meets the threshold under the following criterion:
• Historical significance SHR criterion (a)
• Historical association significance SHR criterion (b)
• Aesthetic significance SHR criterion (c)
• Representativeness SHR criterion (g)
The building makes a positive streetscape contribution and helps to form a cohesive
ground of early 20th Century commercial buildings of different styles and sizes along the
section of Broadway. The building has historic significance at a local level and should be
gazetted under Schedule 5, Part 1 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012.

6.0

RECOMMENDED MANAGEMENT
The following recommendations for the future management of No. 255 Broadway, Glebe
should be undertaken to ensure the historic significance of the site is protected. It is
recommended to:

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

195

36

•

Undertake a full internal fabric analysis to determine the integrity of the original
structure.

•

Surfaces never intended for painting, notably face brickwork and sandstone,
should remain unpainted, while surfaces such as timber which were originally
painted should continue to be painted in appropriate colours.

•

Some vertical additions to the building may be permitted, however they should
be subservient to the original form of the building and should be set back behind
the parapet.

•

Reverse curves (part of the parapet) on the eastern and western elevations
should be maintained. Services such as lift overruns and air-conditioning units
should be contained in the building envelope of any new vertical addition.

•

The billboard on the western elevation should be removed if possible.

•

Significant original or early elements including face brick and sandstone facades,
should be conserved with appropriate maintenance. Schedule of conservation
works should be prepared to conserve face brick, sandstone dressings and
features

•

The rear elevation may be altered to provide enhanced fenestration and air
access at street level as required. An understanding of the utilitarian side should
be maintained.

•

The spandrels on the southern elevation should be re-clad in glazed tiles. The
original pane spacing with timber windows frames should be reinstated.

•

The ground floor shop front windows should be reinstated.

WEIR PHILLIPS HERITAGE | No. 255 Broadway, Glebe |February 2018

196

37

Heritage Inventory Sheet

Based on the NSW Heritage Office State Heritage Inventory sheet

ITEM DETAILS
Name of item

Former Warehouse and Showroom “International Harvester Company of America” No. 255 Broadway,
Glebe

Other name/s
Former name/s
Item type
(if known)
Item group (if known)
Item category (if known)

Tillock and Company

Area, Group or Collection
Name
Address

Commercial

Suburb/town

Glebe

Local Government Area
Property description

City of Sydney

Owner

City of Sydney

Current use

Educational

Statement of significance

No. 255 Broadway, Glebe, has local historic and aesthetic significance as part of the pattern of warehouses
and stores that characterised the western part of the City of Sydney in the late nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries. Design by Robertson and Marks, one of the leading commercial architects of the period
and built c.1906 it is a good example of the Federation Free style, with finely detailed Romanesque Style
entrance.

Level of significance

State: None

Built
Retain and Wholesale
Warehouse Storage Area, Commercial Office

No. 255 Broadway

Postcode:

2037

Lot 1, DP 9305503

Former use: Commercial

Local: Yes.

197
1/11

Heritage Inventory Sheet

Based on the NSW Heritage Office State Heritage Inventory sheet

DESCRIPTION
Designer

Robertson and Marks

Builder/maker

Mr. John Grant of Ashfield

Physical
Description

The building is a five storey former warehouse/showroom constructed in the Federation Free Style with
Romanesque style influences. The principal elevation has three distinct bays with arched tops. Each bay is
separated by face O.K. (Open Kiln) brick piers. There are aluminum framed windows which have rendered
concrete spandrals with dark pebble aggregate. The base of the building is in rock-faced stone. The principal
entrance has stone columns with carved caps with a moulded and carved transom with semi-circular moulded and
carved stone head.
The rear of the building facing Grose Street is utilitarian with being of face brickwork with concrete lintels above
the windows. There are multiples entrances to the building from the rear such as a loading dock. Each window on
this elevation has a rendered masonry lintel.
Internally, the subject building has undergone a number of alterations and additions to facilitate various uses. In
some sections modern fit outs have left original wooden columns in-situ to support the ceiling. There are lifts
operating to all levels.

Physical condition

Externally the building appears to be in fair condition. Some deterioration at the upper levels on the southern
elevation.

Construction years

Original c.1906
Alterations and additions: 1920, 1937, 1960, 1961, 1962, 1963, 2006, 2011, 2013 and 2015

Modification and
Dates

Date

Occupant

Alterations/Addition.

1906

Original construction of the building.

1920

International Harvester
Company of America
Tillock Company

1937

Tillock Company

16 Jan 1962-5 Feb 1962

Vermont Fancy Leather
Goods Pty Ltd
Tillock and Co Pty Ltd

17 Jul 1962-4 Sep 1962
9 Dec 1960-22 Aug 1961
15 Aug 1961-27 Sep
1961

Z. A. Schmaehling
(architect)
H. W. Rice Pty Ltd

17 Jul 1962-24 Apr 1963
1 Jan 1961-31 Dec 1961
D/2006/1739

Fluores-lite

D/2011/1586

Australian Performing Arts
Grammar School

D/2011/1586/A

Australian Performing Arts
Grammar School

D/2013/331

Australian Performing Arts
Grammar School

D/2015/5

Australian Performing Arts
Grammar School

Yoga/Pilates studio.

198
2/11

Alterations to allow for bulk storage and manufacture
of goods.
Repairs to parapet following fire in Grimley Building
to the east.
To use second floor for manufacture of leathergoods
and to carry out minor alterations
To use first, second and third floors as a bulkstore
and to carry out alterations
Alterations to premises for use as offices,
showrooms, warehousing and cark park
Use of ground floor and basement of premises as
offices, showroom and warehouse for a wholesale
toy distributors business
Use shop for sale of electrical fittings and appliances
Alterations and additions
Approval granted on 26 October 2006 for fit-out and
use of level 3 as a yoga/Pilates studio.

Approval granted on 23 February 2012 for change of
use and fit out of levels 1 and 3 for secondary school
known as ‘Australian Performing Arts Grammar
School’ including signage.
Section 96 (2) modification of the approved
development to modify internal layout and expand
studio floor space on level 3.
Approval granted on 7 May 2013 for construction of
roof top terrace to be used as a student break-out
area associated with the Australian Performing Arts
Grammar School.
Change of use from office to school and internal fitout of ground floor area for the purpose of
performing art school.

Heritage Inventory Sheet

Based on the NSW Heritage Office State Heritage Inventory sheet

Archaeological
potential
Further comments

Unknown

HISTORY
Historical notes

The steady growth of Glebe through the 1860s to 1890s, generated a need for greater commercial development.
It was during this period that the allotments along Glebe Point Road were developed for commercial and
residential use. Corner Shops also appeared throughout the subdivisions (Church lease or private freehold sale)
of the former Glebe, with the exception of the Allen Estate, upon which shops were forbidden by covenant. The
terraced shops and Glebe Point Road, stand in strong contrast to these neighbourhood corner shops, given that
they were designed to constitute a distinct shopping area.
Walter Russell Hall Esq. purchased 1 rood 12¼ perches Lots 22 to 24 and part of Lot 21 Section 1 of the
Bishopgate Estate, which included the subject site. Hall was prominent member of both Sydney and Melbourne
societies, is best known for his philanthropic contributions with his wife Eliza.
Following the 1904 addition of the five storey Grace Bros on the western corner of Broadway and Bay Street
paved the way for larger commercial buildings along the Broadway/Parramatta Road commercial strip.
As a result of the receivership of the Sydney Tram and Omnibus Company the International Harvester Company
of America, acquired the lease for the site and constructed a new premises on the site 1906. This building
constructed is the building seen today. The building was designed by renowned Sydney architectural firm
Robertson and Marks.
At the time of construction the building was described by the Sydney Mail and the New South Wales Advertiser
as:
…Has a frontage 10 Broadway of about 64ft, with a through depth to Grose Street of about 110ft.
The structure is five stories in height, with a basement 20ft in height. this extreme height being for
in purpose or erecting three 'travellers' to faciliate the getting in and out of goods. The showroom
is on the ground floor, with the principal entrance from Broadway. On the first floor are situated
the offices of the company, and the upper floors carry heavy stocks. The building is of a very
substantial character in Romanesque design.
The walls are of brick, the front being in O.K. bricks with stone dressings. The spaces around and
over the windows are lined with Pilkington's tiles in turquoise-blue, which has striking effect. The
base of the building is in rock-faced stone. The principal entrance is very handsome, having
stone columns with carved caps and moulded and carved transom with semi-circular moulded
and carved stone head. The floors are carried upon steel girders supported by steel stanchions
and all protected with expanded metal and concrete.
The internal finish is of cedar on the ground floor, and pine on the upper floors. A handsome
cedar staircase is provided from the ground to the first floor, and also cedar porch with swing
doors at entrance. The premises are particularly well lighted, the windows being very large — all
12ft. wide, and averaging 10f in height.
The International Harvester Company also has a large machinery store in course of construction
to the rear of the above from Grose street, through to Francis-street, the area being about 200ft
by 66ft.

199
3/11

Heritage Inventory Sheet

Based on the NSW Heritage Office State Heritage Inventory sheet

Figure 1: The subject building soon after construction in 1906.
"International Harvester Company of America." The Sydney Mail and New South Wales Advertiser (NSW : 1871 - 1912) 25 April
1906: 1087. Web. 10 Jan 2018 <http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article164041394>.

In 1920 the lease for the building was taken over by Tillock Company. In the interim, ownership of the site
transferred twice from Richard Gardiner Casey Esq. (1917 – 1920) to Sir John Russsell French (1920-1920).
Tillock Company was a wholesale grocery distribution company. For example, the Tillock Company brought sugar
directly from the Colonial Sugar Refinery (CSR) and onsold it to smaller local groceries. The company also
manufactured goods including “Aunt Mary’s Baking Power”.
In 1937 the was a large fire in the adjoining building occupied at the time by Grimley Ltd causing damage between
£50,000- £100,000. According the Sydney Morning Herald, ‘practically every fireman in the metropolitan area was
present in the effort to stem the flames and prevent them spreading to the remaining buildings on the block..’.
Despite the firefights best efforts, the fire moved in to the Tillock Company building, causing the parapet of the
building to fall through the roof, many of the groceries housed on site were damaged.
Tillock Company owned the site until 1983, along with a number of other tenants who operated from different
floors. In 2011 the site was converted for use as the Australian Performing Arts Grammar School.

HISTORICAL THEMES
State historical
theme

Commerce-Activities relating to buying, selling and exchanging goods and services

Local historical
theme

APPLICATION OF CRITERION
Historical
significance
SHR criterion (a)
Historical
association
significance
SHR criterion (b)
Aesthetic
significance
SHR criterion (c)

The site is historically significant as an example of 19th and early 20th-century Sydney warehouse/showroom.
This is an important period in Sydney’s history wherein warehouses and bonded stores were an important part of
the city's life.
The site is associated with prominent architectural firm Robertson and Marks who were responsible for a number
of Sydney’s largest commercial buildings, particularly warehouses in the Federation Free Style.

Demonstrates characteristics typical of the Federation Free Style warehouse including masonry construction, face
brickwork with stone detailing; piers dividing the façade symmetrically into bays; and spandrels recessed behind
the plane of the piers. Also demonstrates influence of the Romanesque Style in the very finely detailed entrance
archway. The original pattern of the fenestration and spandrals has been lost.

200
4/11

Heritage Inventory Sheet

Based on the NSW Heritage Office State Heritage Inventory sheet

Social significance
SHR criterion (d)
Technical/Research
significance
SHR criterion (e)
Rarity
SHR criterion (f)
Representativeness
SHR criterion (g)

The site does not have any strong or special association with a particular community or cultural group in New
South Wales (or the local area) for social, cultural or spiritual reasons.
The site is unlikely to yield an information that will contribute to an understanding of New South Wales’ cultural or
natural history that is not already provided by building of a similar typology.
Although an example of a late 19th century warehouse, the subject building is not considered to be rare within the
wider Sydney context.
It is a representative example of a Federation period warehouse forming part of a precinct of warehouses in the
western and southern parts of the Sydney CBD.
The integrity of the subject building is mixed as a result of successive alterations to suit the needs of different
tenants. The external integrity of the building is considered high as the original form and a large amount of original
finishes are still present. The Broadway façade is mostly intact aside from the aluminium framed windows and
rendered concrete spandrals which were originally clad with turquoise tiles. The rear elevation is mostly in-tact
aside from alterations to the Ground Floor entry bay which was originally much larger to fit harvesters into the
original showrooms. Wooden window frames have also been replaced with modern aluminium frames on this
elevation.

Integrity

The internal integrity of the subject building is considered low. Internally the building has had significant
alterations, most recently to suit the needs of the Australian Performing Arts Grammar School. There are some
original features such as timber columns remaining in situ. Most internal features dating from the original
construction have been removed.

HERITAGE LISTINGS
Heritage listing/s

Other Local, State, Commonwealth statutory listing on non-statutory listings for this item.
• State Heritage Register: Not listed.
• Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012: Not listed as an individual item; not located within a Conservation
Area.
• AIA Register of 20th Century Buildings of Significance (no statutory): Not listed.
National Trust of Australia (NSW) (non statutory): Not listed as an individual item.
• Register of the National Estate (non-statutory): Not listed as an individual item.

INFORMATION SOURCES
Include conservation and/or management plans and other heritage studies.
Type

Author/Client

Title

Year

Repository

Newspaper

The Sydney Mail and New
South Wales Advertiser

International Harvester Company
of America. The Sydney Mail and
New South Wales Advertiser

25 April 1906

Trove – National Library of Australia

Newspaper

The Sydney Morning Herald

Broadway Fire The Sydney
Morning Herald

29 April 1937

Trove – National Library of Australia

Written

John Sands Ltd

John Sands’ Sydney and
Suburban Directories

Various dates

City of Sydney

Written

J.F. Campbell

Notes on the Early History of the
Glebe

1929

Journal of the Royal Australian
Historical Society, Volume 15, 1929,

Written

Freda MacDonnell

The Glebe: Portraits and Places

1975

Written

Max Solling and Peter
Reynolds

Leichhardt: On the Margins of the
City

1997

-

Land Titles

NSW Lands Department

255 Broadway, Glebe

1840-1987

NSW Lands Department

201
5/11

Heritage Inventory Sheet

Based on the NSW Heritage Office State Heritage Inventory sheet

RECOMMENDATIONS
Recommendations

The following recommendations for the future management of No. 255 Broadway, Glebe should be undertaken to
ensure the historic significance of the site is protected. It is recommended to:
•

Undertake a full internal fabric analysis to determine the integrity of the original structure.

•

Surfaces never intended for painting, notably face brickwork and sandstone, should remain
unpainted, while surfaces such as timber which were originally painted should continue to be
painted in appropriate colours.

•

Some sertical additions to the building may be permitted, however they should be subservient to the
original form of the building and should be set back behind the parapet.

•

Reverse curves on the eastern and western elevations should be maintained. Services such as lift
overruns and air-conditioning units should be contained in the building envelope of any new vertical
addition.

•

The billboard on the western elevation should be removed if possible.

•

Significant original or early elements including face brick and sandstone facades, should be
conserved with appropriate maintenance. Schedule of conservation works should be prepared to
conserve face brick, sandstone dressings and features

•

The rear elevation may be altered to provide enhanced fenestration and air access at street level as
required. An understanding of the utilitarian side should be maintained.

•

The spandrels on the southern elevation should be re-clad in glazed tiles. The original pane spacing
with timber windows frames should be reinstated.

•

The ground floor shop front windows should be reinstated.

SOURCE OF THIS INFORMATION
To be completed if this form is part of a heritage study or report
Inspected by

Anna McLaurin - from the public domain only

NSW Heritage Manual guidelines used?
This form
Completed by

Yes
ü
Date

Anna McLaurin, Weir Phillips Heritage

January 2018

202
6/11

No

Heritage Inventory Sheet

Based on the NSW Heritage Office State Heritage Inventory sheet

IMAGES
Image caption
Image year

2017 & 2018

Image by

IMAGES
Weir Phillips Heritage &
City of Sydney Council

Image copyright
holder

City of Sydney Council

Figure 2: The primary southern elevation of the
subject site.

Figure 3: The southern elevation showing part
of the western elevation.

203
7/11

Heritage Inventory Sheet

Based on the NSW Heritage Office State Heritage Inventory sheet

Figure 4: The sandstone base on Broadway.

Figure 5: Decorative sandstone arch on
Broadway.

Figure 6: Decorative sandstone carving at
Broadway.

204
8/11

Heritage Inventory Sheet

Based on the NSW Heritage Office State Heritage Inventory sheet

Figure 7: Looking up the face brick column
on the primary elevation.

Figure 8: The utilitarian rear elevation of the
site.

Figure 9: The utilitarian rear elevation of the
site.

205
9/11

Heritage Inventory Sheet

Based on the NSW Heritage Office State Heritage Inventory sheet

Figure 10: The utilitarian rear elevation of the
site.

Figure 11: The western elevation of the rear
entry on Grose Street.

Figure 12: Rehearsal Space 1 – GF 255
Broadway

206
10/11

Heritage Inventory Sheet

Based on the NSW Heritage Office State Heritage Inventory sheet

Figure 13: Breakout & Multi-purpose Area –
GF 255 Broadway

Figure 14: Lobby – GF 255 Broadway

207
11/11

Attachment E
Resolution of Council of 19 March 2018 –
Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway,
Glebe

208

3

19 MARCH 2018
ITEM 9.4
PUBLIC EXHIBITION – PLANNING PROPOSAL: 225 TO 279 BROADWAY, GLEBE
– SYDNEY LOCAL ENVIRONMENTAL PLAN 2012
(X001999)
It is resolved that:
(A)

Council approve Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe, shown at
Attachment A to the subject report, for submission to the Greater Sydney
Commission with a request for a Gateway Determination; subject to Part 2. 1. a.
of the Planning Proposal being amended to read as follows:
1.

Amend the Height of Building Map Sheet 9 as shown at Part 5 of this
Planning Proposal to increase the maximum building height for:
a.

277-279 Broadway to 38m RL and setbacks may be considered to
transition to the Glebe Point Road conservation area.

(B)

Council approve Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe for public
authority consultation and public exhibition in accordance with any conditions
imposed under the Gateway Determination;

(C)

Council seek authority from the Greater Sydney Commission to exercise the
delegation of the Greater Sydney Commission of all their functions under section
3.31 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 to make the local
environmental plan as amended by Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway,
Glebe;

(D)

authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor
variations to Planning Proposal: 225 to 279 Broadway, Glebe following receipt of
the Gateway Determination; and

(E)

Council request a draft site specific Development Control Plan for 225 to 279
Broadway, Glebe be prepared and reported to Council for its consideration prior
to exhibition of the planning proposal.

Carried unanimously.

209

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Item 4.
Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney - Request
Gateway Amendment
File No:

X011838

Summary
The City supports the NSW target of net zero emissions by 2050 set out in the NSW Climate
Change Policy Framework. The Greater Sydney Region Plan and Eastern City District Plan
have enabling actions and strategies for a low carbon city to support the State target. The
City has a strong track record of working collaboratively to better understand what business
as usual practices need to change to meet the State's net zero emissions objective.
This is a supplementary report to the Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee and
Central Sydney Planning Committee reports of 12 March 2018 and 15 March 2018
respectively, which considered a Planning Proposal for 4-6 Bligh Street, to amend the
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 and a
planning agreement.
This site is the first to take advantage of opportunities presented under the proposed draft
Central Sydney Planning Strategy, and proposes a mixed use development of commercial
office podium and tower development comprising a hotel of over 400 rooms, including
aspirational sustainability outcomes. The estimated value of the hotel automatically triggers
state significant development planning process.
During the Committee process, concerns were raised by the proponent about the ability to
achieve the NABERS Energy ratings for both the office and hotel, as set out in the planning
controls.
While supported by Committee at the time of approval, the concerns raised by the proponent
were followed up by staff and further investigations were undertaken by the City into the
project's ability to achieve the proposed NABERS energy ratings for both the commercial
office and hotel component. The City has already completed investigations to support the
inclusion of 5.5 star NABERS Energy for the recent Energy and Waste DCP amendment.
This proposed amendment was endorsed by Council for public exhibition on 16 April 2018.
The City's supplementary investigations found the commercial office component of this
project was able to achieve the proposed 5.5 star NABERS Energy rating for Office within
acceptable industry rates of return and is feasible.
However, the City's investigations found that the hotel component of the project was not able
to achieve the proposed 5 star NABERS Energy rating for Hotels within acceptable industry
rates of return and is therefore not feasible at this time with the current available
technologies and foreseeable operating costs.
On 4 June 2018, the Department of Planning and Environment issued a conditional Gateway
Determination requiring amendments to the planning proposal prior to exhibition which do
not alter the proposal's intent. The Department of Planning and Environment advise that they
will consider modifying the Gateway Determination, subject to confirmation from Council, to
reflect this finding.

1

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

This report serves to update the Committee on these findings, and seeks delegation to the
Chief Executive Officer to write to the Department and request an amended Gateway
Determination to modify the planning proposal to refer to a 4.5 Star NABERS Energy rating
for the hotel component.

Recommendation
It is resolved that:
(A)

authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to write to the Department of
Planning and Environment requesting that the Gateway Determination for the Planning
Proposal: 4-6 Bligh Street, Sydney be amended to reflect a 4.5 star NABERS Energy
rating requirement for the hotel component; and

(B)

Council amend the ecologically sustainable development provision in the Draft Sydney
Development Control Plan 2012 - 4-6 Bligh Street, to require a 4.5 star NABERS
Energy rating for the hotel component.

2

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Background
1.

This is a supplementary report to the Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee and
Central Sydney Planning Committee reports of 12 March 2018 and 15 March 2018
respectively, which considered a Planning Proposal for 4-6 Bligh Street, to amend the
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012
and a planning agreement.

2.

This site is the first to take advantage of opportunities presented under the proposed
Central Sydney Planning Strategy, and proposes a mixed use development of
commercial office podium and tower development comprising a hotel of over 400
rooms, including aspirational sustainability outcomes. The estimated value of the hotel
will mean the development automatically triggers state significant development
process.

3.

During the Committee process, concerns were raised by the proponent about the
ability to achieve the NABERS Energy ratings for both the office and hotel, as set out
in the planning controls.

4.

While supported by Committee at the time of approval, the concerns raised by the
proponent were followed up by staff and further investigations were undertaken by the
City into the project's ability to achieve the proposed NABERS energy ratings for both
the commercial office and hotel components.

5.

The City completed investigations to support the inclusion of 5.5 star NABERS Energy
for the recent Energy and Waste DCP amendment. This proposed amendment was
endorsed by Council for public exhibition on 16 April 2018.

6.

The City's supplementary investigations for this project found the commercial office
component was able to achieve the 5.5 star NABERS Energy rating for Office within
acceptable industry rates of return and is feasible.

7.

However, the City's investigations found the hotel component of the project was not
able to achieve the 5 star NABERS Energy rating for Hotels within acceptable industry
rates of return and is not feasible at this time with the current available technologies
and foreseeable operating costs.

8.

These investigations noted that the capital and operating costs of the technology
required to move from 4.5 and 5 star NABERS Energy rating for the hotel component
jumps significantly. The additional capital expenditure cannot be offset by energy cost
savings for over 30 years, which is a significant challenge to the feasibility of the
project.

9.

On 4 June 2018 the Department of Planning and Environment issued a conditional
gateway determination requiring amendments to the planning proposal prior to
exhibition which do not alter the proposal's intent. The Department of Planning and
Environment will consider modifying the Gateway Determination, subject to
confirmation from Council, to reflect this finding.

10.

This report updates the Committee on these investigations and seeks delegation to the
Chief Executive Officer to write to the Department and request an amended Gateway
Determination to modify the planning proposal to refer to a 4.5 star NABERS Energy
rating for the hotel component.

3

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Key Implications
11.

The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and draft Sydney Development Control
Plan 2012 amendments will require the development to meet a 4.5 Star NABERS
Energy rating for Hotels.

12.

The NABERS Energy rating will remain unchanged for commercial, at 5.5 stars and
the NABERS water score for commercial and hotel remains unchanged at 4 stars.

13.

The amendment maintains a requirement for a strong environmental performance that
is considered feasible and will help deliver the State target for Net Zero Emissions and
sustainability objectives under the Greater Sydney Region Plan, Eastern City District
Plan, and the City of Sydney's Sustainable 2030.

Relevant Legislation
14.

Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.

Public Consultation
15.

Public consultation remains unchanged for the proposal. The amendments will be
made prior to public exhibition.

16.

The public exhibition process for the planning proposal will be determined by the
Greater Sydney Commission. It is proposed that public exhibition of the planning
proposal and the notification of the Planning Agreement run concurrently.

17.

The public exhibition would be a minimum of 28 days, with notification:

18.

(a)

on the City of Sydney website; and

(b)

in newspapers that circulate widely in the City of Sydney local government area.

Section 7.5(1) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 requires that a
draft Planning Agreement be publicly exhibited for at least 28 days and section 7.5(2)
requires that, where possible, the agreement be exhibited concurrent with any other
publicly notifiable matters relating to the agreement.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM
Director City Planning, Development and Transport
Andrew Thomas, Executive Manager Strategic Planning and Urban Design

4

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Item 5.
Public Exhibition - Planning Proposal - 55 Pitt Street, Sydney - Sydney Local
Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012
Amendment and Planning Agreement
File No:

X008035

Summary
Capacity for employment growth in central Sydney is key to ensuring the New South Wales
economy remains robust and continues to grow in a high value residential market. Capacity
for employment growth creates opportunities for investments and development projects
which have a global focus and attract highly skilled employees.
55 Pitt Street is located within central Sydney's financial, professional and business services
core. The site is part of the street block bound by Alfred, Pitt, Dalley and George Streets,
known as the APDG block as identified in the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012. The
APDG Block has been the focus of significant planning and development in recent years,
and is currently in a process of considerable change.
The site, originally envisaged to be redeveloped as part of a larger block, is one of the last
remaining parcels to be considered. This planning proposal is required to facilitate an
alternative development than accommodated under the existing controls.
Mirvac has requested a planning proposal be prepared to allow alternate controls to apply to
the remainder of the original block. This report seeks Council's endorsement of the proposed
alternate controls.
The planning proposal will facilitate a development proposal at 37-57 Pitt Street, 6-8
Underwood Street and 8-14 Dalley Street, Sydney, known as 55 Pitt Street. It will enable
significant renewal to 55 Pitt Street, consisting of:


A 45,000 square metre commercial office tower up to 155.5 metres in height;



Creation of a through site link between Dalley and Underwood streets;



A colonnade setback to Underwood Street to improve pedestrian connections;



Maximised active frontages;



Reduced vehicular movements within the block and rationalisation of loading dock and
vehicular access points; and



Upgrade of the Ausgrid substation building façade.

Mirvac has provided an offer to enter into a voluntary planning agreement which include
monetary contribution to tech innovation spaces, creation of a through site link, potential
blast wall and additional public art work to the Ausgrid building facade, public domain
upgrades and sustainability commitments.

1

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

This report recommends that the City submit a planning proposal to the Greater Sydney
Commission seeking a gateway determination to amend Sydney Local Environmental Plan
2012 to facilitate this development. It also recommends that a site-specific development
control plan is endorsed for exhibition, and a draft planning agreement be prepared based
on the letter of offer at Attachment C. It is proposed all documents are exhibited
concurrently.

Recommendation
Upon confirmation from the Director City Planning, Development and Transport that written
evidence has been received that the landowner of the Dalley Street Zone Substation (NSW
Treasury/Ausgrid) agrees to the terms of the Letter of Offer from Mirvac, as shown at
Attachment C to the subject report, and for the VPA to be registered on the land title, it is
resolved that:
(A)

Council approve Planning Proposal: 55 Pitt Street, Sydney, shown at Attachment A to
the subject report, is to be submitted to the Greater Sydney Commission with a
request for a Gateway Determination;

(B)

Council approve the Planning Proposal: 55 Pitt Street, Sydney for public authority
consultation and public exhibition in accordance with any conditions imposed under
the Gateway Determination;

(C)

Council seek confirmation from the Greater Sydney Commission whether it has the
authority to exercise the plan making functions of the Greater Sydney Commission
under section 3.36 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 to make
the amending local environmental plan;

(D)

Council approve the amendment to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012- 55 Pitt
Street, Sydney, shown in Attachment B to the subject report, for public authority
consultation and public exhibition in parallel with the draft planning proposal and draft
planning agreement, and in accordance with the Gateway Determination;

(E)

authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor variations to
Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney and Draft Sydney Development Control
Plan 2012 - 55 Pitt Street, Sydney following receipt of the Gateway Determination; and

(F)

authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to prepare a draft planning
agreement in accordance with the terms of the letter of offer dated 30 May 2018 at
Attachment C to the subject report, and the requirements of the Environmental
Planning and Assessment Act 1979, to be exhibited concurrently with the Planning
Proposal and Development Control Plan amendment for the site.

2

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Attachments
Attachment A.

Planning Proposal: 55 Pitt Street, Sydney
(Note - appendices to this attachment will be circulated separately from
the Agenda in limited numbers. It will be available for inspection on
Council's website and at the One Stop Shop)

Attachment B.

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 - 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

Attachment C.

Planning Agreement - Letter of Offer

3

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Background
1.

Capacity for employment growth in central Sydney is key to ensuring the New South
Wales economy remains robust and continues to grow in a high value residential
market. Capacity for employment growth creates opportunities for investments and
development projects which have a global focus and attract highly skilled employees.

2.

55 Pitt Street is located within Central Sydney's financial, professional and business
services core. The site is part of the street block bound by Alfred, Pitt, Dalley and
George Streets, known as the APDG block as identified in the Sydney Development
Control Plan 2012. The APDG Block has been the focus of significant planning and
development in recent years, and is currently in a process of considerable change.

3.

In February 2015, Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd (Mirvac) submitted a planning justification
report to the City of Sydney requesting site-specific amendments to Sydney Local
Environmental Plan 2012 (SLEP2012) to enable significant redevelopment of land at
37-57 Pitt Street, 6-8 Underwood Street and 8-14 Dalley Street, Sydney (otherwise
known as 55 Pitt Street). These parcels of land are located within the city block bound
by Alfred, Pitt, Dalley and George Streets (the APDG Block), Sydney.

4.

In June 2017, following consultation with the City and reconsideration of options,
Mirvac submitted a revised planning proposal, the subject of this report, for the same
site but with a building height control 15m higher than that previously requested.

5.

The amended planning controls will enable significant renewal to 55 Pitt Street,
consisting of the following key components:

6.

(a)

a 45,000 square metre commercial office tower up to 155.5m in building height,
with podium;

(b)

an enhanced network of pedestrian links within and connected to the
surrounding APDG sites, with activated frontages; and

(c)

upgrade and treatment to the façades of the Ausgrid substation utility site.

Mirvac has prepared a range of studies in support of changes to the planning controls
and has consulted with Council staff about the proposal and an associated letter of
offer to enter into a voluntary planning agreement.

Site details
7.

The planning proposal relates to four properties located at the northern end of
Sydney’s central business district at 37-57 Pitt Street, 6-8 Underwood Street, and 8-14
Dalley Street referred to in this report as ‘55 Pitt Street’ as shown in Figure 1.

8.

55 Pitt Street has frontage to Underwood Street to the north, Pitt Street to the east,
Dalley Street to the south. The site is part of the street block bound by Alfred, Pitt,
Dalley and George Streets, known as the APDG block as identified in the SDCP2012.

9.

The legal description of the land affected by this Planning Proposal and the proposed
amendments to SLEP2012 are:


37-49 Pitt Street, Sydney, Lot 2-3 DP1092, Lots 1-2 DP1112308, Lot 6
DP75338, Lot 7 DP110046, Lot 4 DP524306



49A-57 Pitt Street, Sydney, Lot 1 DP513109

4

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee



6-8 Underwood Street, Sydney, Lot 301 DP714847



8-14 Dalley Street, Sydney, Lot A DP104160, Lot B DP104160

18 June 2018

10.

Mirvac own the sites at 6-8 Underwood Street and 37-57 Pitt Street and is in the
process of entering into an agreement with NSW Treasury, owner of the substation
site at 8-14 Dalley Street, as part of the site development. Ausgrid are 99-year
leaseholders of the substation site. At the time of writing the agreement was not
finalised, however Mirvac advises that the agreement should be finalised prior to
Committee consideration of this report.

11.

Queens Court is owned by Council, comprises of a rectangular area of bitumen sealed
surface and is currently used as a laneway. It has its main street frontage to Dalley
Street to the south, and has an area of approximately 75 square metres. The City’s
records show Queens Court has existed as a laneway prior to 1943. Queens Court is
identified as a public road under the Local Government Act 1993 and therefore not
subject to land classifications.

55 Pitt Street

Figure 1: 55 Pitt Street, Sydney - land affected by this planning proposal

Existing "alternative" planning controls for the APDG Block
12.

In 2008, the City commissioned the NSW Government Architect’s Office to prepare an
urban design study for the APDG Block. The key purpose of the study was to ensure
that Council has a consistent set of planning controls that promote high quality built
form and urban design outcomes for both the public and private domain on this
important street block.

5

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

13.

Completed in 2009, the urban design study recommended a preferred option for the
APDG Block consisting of a large, central, open, publicly-accessible square, a
connected and activated laneway network, and three tower buildings. A key principle
driving this recommendation was that additional height would be considered in
exchange for significant and quantifiable public domain improvements.

14.

The study’s preferred option identified three strategic groupings of sites located within
the APDG Block and proposed controls to enable these sites to develop in a
‘development block’ pattern, where additional height above the maximum height of 110
metres allowable under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2005 was offered in
exchange for public domain improvements.

15.

In order to achieve the maximum height in one part of a development block, floor
space from another part of a block would need to be transferred, thus freeing up that
part of the block for the public domain.

16.

Adopted by Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC) at meetings
on 15 and 11 November 2010, respectively, a number of LEP and DCP amendments
based on the recommendations of the urban design study came into effect on 29 April
2011. These alternative controls for the APDG Block are reflected in Clause 6.25 of
SLEP2012 and sections 6.1.4 to 6.1.7 of Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 and
is shown in Figure 2 below.

17.

In December 2015, Lend Lease submitted a planning proposal request for alternate
controls to the APDG block. It created a new block 4 as an alternate option to block 1
based on the ownership pattern and reconfigures the public domain and plaza shown
in Figure 2 below. These alternative controls in SLEP 2012 and SDCP2012 came into
force in December 2016.

Figure 2: APDG Block – 2011 and 2016 alternate controls respectively

18.

The current pattern of land ownership and development in the APDG Block makes it
unlikely that the consolidated development block 1 envisioned in the existing controls
will be achieved in the short to medium term, if at all. A development application has
been lodged for block 4. Concurrently, Mirvac as owner of the 55 Pitt Street site, and
remaining portion of block 1, commenced investigations into redevelopment of the
subject site.

6

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

19.

18 June 2018

New controls for the remainder of block 1, the subject of this planning proposal, is
required to facilitate development.

Adjoining development in the APDG Block
20.

The 55 Pitt Street site is situated in the southern portion of the APDG Block. The
remainder of the APDG block is made up of the following:
(a)

1 Alfred Street, 19-31 Pitt Street, 31A Pitt Street, Sydney has consent for a new
mixed-use development comprising a 57 storey retail and residential building to
the maximum height of 194m, and a 15 storey retail and hotel building to the
maximum height of 110m. The existing buildings on site are currently being
demolished.

(b)

188-208 George Street, 1 Underwood Street and 4 Dalley Street, Sydney (the
Mirvac 200 George St site) has been constructed comprising a 37 storey
commercial office building and refurbishment of the remainder of 4 Dalley Street
for plant and servicing. The design of the new building is the outcome of a
competitive design process.

(c)

210-214 and 218-232 George Street, Sydney (the Poly site) has a Stage 1
consent for a 25 storey mixed use building to 110m, and has recently completed
a design competition, which in 2017 won the Harry Seidler Award for commercial
architecture.

(d)

182 George Street and 33-35 Pitt Street, Sydney (the Lend Lease Circular Quay
site) – The City has amended controls to allow a commercial tower to 248m and
Lend Lease has entered into a VPA with the City to undertake public domain
works and community facilities that will contribute to the achievement of the
public benefits of the APDG block. A development application has been lodged
for the demolition of existing buildings, construction of a 55 storey commercial
tower and podium, and a new Jacksons on George building.

(e)

6 Dalley Street, Sydney (the Telstra site) has preliminary discussions for the
redevelopment of the site. A development application has not been lodged.

Indicative Scheme
21.

The indicative scheme, shown in Figure 3, envisages a new 32 storey, 155.5 metre
high commercial office tower with approximately 45,000 square metres of office space
and retail floor space, an activated laneway and through-site link.

22.

The concept delivers an alternative to block 1 of the existing APDG controls.

Planning Proposal - Amendments to SLEP 2012
23.

The planning proposal at Attachment A proposes to amend the APDG precinct
controls to:
(a)

Identify the site as a development option, block 5, for the appropriate distribution
of built form and floor space within the APDG block

7

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

(b)

Permit a maximum building height of 155.5 metres, the tower comprising no
more than 54% of the area of the block

(c)

Allow the granting of development only if it is to be used for non-residential uses
and includes a through site link

(d)

Amend Clause 6.25(4) to align with objective in Clause 6.25(1) to allow
development consent to be granted if a through site link is provided

(e)

Permit for the purpose of calculating the FSR of block 5, the inclusion of FSR
generated by the Ausgrid site to be transferred for use on block 5, if the
development includes an upgrade of all visible facades including roof to the
Ausgrid building

(f)

Require a 5.5 star NABERS Energy rating for the base building and a 4 star
NABERS Water rating to be achieved

8

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Figure 3: Mirvac Indicative Scheme – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

Planning amendments to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012
24.

Site specific draft development control plan provisions are at Attachment B of this
report and provides further guidance to the proposed amendments to SLEP 2012. The
DCP amendment refers to site specific controls and provisions in Section 6.3 of
SDCP2012 including:
(a)

Building form and external appearance;

(b)

Tower location;

(c)

Setbacks

(d)

Street frontage heights

9

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

25.

(e)

Environmental impacts

(f)

Vehicular access; and

(g)

Design excellence.

18 June 2018

It is recommended that Council approve the amendment to SDCP2012, shown at
Attachment B to this report, for public exhibition in parallel with the planning proposal
and draft planning agreement.

Key Implications
Benefits of the planning proposal and draft DCP controls
26.

The planning proposal and draft DCP facilitates the redevelopment of the last
significant block for the APDG site. The key benefits are:
(a)

An opportunity to unlock the floor space potential of the site and meet demand
for premium global office space in central Sydney within a commercial tower
building. The proposal allows the transfer of floor space from the Ausgrid site
while maintaining the essential function of the existing substation;

(b)

Further revitalisation of the block bounded by Alfred, Pitt, Dalley and George
Streets, facilitating the renewal of buildings and activating building frontages and
laneway;

(c)

A competitive design process will be required for the buildings and through site
link in accordance with SLEP2012 and the City of Sydney Competitive Design
Policy

(d)

The upgrade of the Ausgrid building including all facades and treatment of the
roof;

(e)

Creation of a through site link by extending and widening Queens Court to
improve connectivity and providing a three metre colonnade on Underwood
Street to improve pedestrian safety on a frequently used narrow laneway with
limited existing footpaths;

(f)

Maximised active frontages supports activity on the ground level of the proposed
tower;

(g)

Reduced vehicular movements within the block and rationalisation of loading
dock and vehicular access points. Three buildings including a commercial
carpark will be demolished and a consolidated basement is proposed.

Planning agreement
27.

Section 7.4(1) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 enables a
proponent to provide a material public benefit through entering into an agreement with
a planning authority. A planning agreement is the legal mechanism for securing public
benefits. Planning agreements are voluntary and must be freely entered into by the
planning authority and a proponent. They are also publically exhibited and held on a
publicly accessible register.

10

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

28.

The City’s position on Planning Agreements is informed by the City’s needs, as
outlined in our strategic plans. Opportunities to enter into Planning Agreements arise
as the City changes and improves planning controls to meet its strategic aims.

29.

The letter of offer from Mirvac Pty Ltd at Attachment C outlines the public benefits
offered as part of the proposal. It includes:
(a)

a cash contribution totalling $5 million towards the establishment and ongoing
management of tech innovation spaces in Central Sydney,

(b)

a through site link being the widening and extension of Queens Court to connect
Dalley Street and Underwood Street,

(c)

potential blast wall with public art work to enhance the public domain with a
minimum art work value of $300,000,

(d)

public domain upgrades including a three metre colonnade on Underwood Street
to improve pedestrian safety on a frequently used narrow laneway with limited
existing footpaths; and

(e)

sustainability commitments to deliver a minimum 5 star Office Green Star V3
Design rating; a minimum 5.5 star rating under the NABERS energy scheme and
a minimum 4 star rating under the NABERS water scheme.

30.

The public benefits assist in delivering the vision of the original APDG controls
including provision of a through site link, activated laneway and improvements in the
public domain.

31.

It is recommended that a planning agreement be prepared as the preferred
mechanism to ensure that the public benefits outlined in the letter of offer can be
delivered by the planning controls applying to the site.

32.

The detailed terms of the planning agreement are yet to be finalised. A
recommendation of this report is that the planning agreement be publicly exhibited,
together with the revised planning proposal and the amendment to Sydney
Development Control Plan 2012.

33.

The public benefit offer does not affect or off-set any development contributions that
may be payable under section 61 of the City of Sydney Act 1988.

Consideration of Environmental Impacts
34.

The planning proposal is informed by a number of detailed studies undertaken on
behalf of the landowner. The studies are included as appendices to the planning
proposal at Attachment A and will be publicly exhibited as supporting documentation.
They are considered to provide a sound basis upon which to progress the planning
proposal and DCP. The key relevant findings of the studies are discussed below.

Tower Separation and Setback
35.

The planning proposal provides block 5 as an alternative development option to block
1 and would allow a fourth tower on the APDG block. The proposal is consistent with
the objective of the APDG block “to provide for additional building height on parts of
certain sites, if the development provides for publicly accessible open space, lanes
and other links through the site.”

11

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

36.

The location and separation of the tower to surrounding buildings is subject to the
same minimum building separation requirements and built form character as other
buildings in central Sydney.

37.

The proposal has a three metre tower side and rear setback, which is consistent with
the DCP requirements. The proposed varied four to six metre tower setback to Pitt
Street, responds to the existing pattern of development and positioning of towers to the
east. The tower location is acceptable and consistent with proximity of other tall
buildings in central Sydney.

Solar Access and Overshadowing
38.

A shadow analysis has been prepared by FJMT and is shown in Part 12 of the
Architectural Design Report and Associated Drawings at Appendix A to the planning
proposal at Attachment A.

39.

This overshadowing analysis reveals that:
(a)

There is no additional shadowing of any nearby special areas (i.e. Australia
Square and Macquarie Place) within the specified LEP times;

(b)

The additional overshadowing caused by the proposal will have minimal to no
additional impact on the public domain, given the extent of existing shadow and
where the shadow is cast (i.e. on roof tops); and

(c)

Much of the shadows cast by the proposal have minimal additional contribution
to overshadowing when reviewed in conjunction with the proposed indicative
tower envelope to the north of the subject site at 33- 35 Pitt Street.

Skyview Analysis
40.

The sky view factor analysis prepared by FJMT shown in the Architectural Design
Report at Appendix A concludes the sky visibility will be equal or better than a
compliant scheme.

View Analysis
41.

FJMT have undertaken a View Analysis, show in part 11 of the Architectural Design
Report and Associated Drawings at Appendix A to Attachment A. Analysis includes the
preparation of indicative tower envelope plans, as well as photomontages of the
proposed 55 Pitt Street.

42.

Given the proposal involves a form that differs from that envisaged by DCP controls,
FJMT have undertaken a preliminary view study to compare key viewpoints being:

43.

(a)

Pitt Street looking north

(b)

Pitt Street looking south

(c)

Circular Quay

(d)

Lang Park

A review of the above images confirms that the tower will not unduly impact on
important public views and view corridors, including those to Sydney Harbour.

12

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Figure 4: Pitt Street looking north with proposed envelope and indicative envelope at 33-35 Pitt Street
(Source: FJMT)

Wind Assessment
44.

In July 2014 Cermak, Peterka Pattersen (CPP) Wind Engineering Consultants
undertook a wind tunnel study to assess pedestrian wind comfort at ground level.

45.

Detailed background quantitative investigations were used to undertake a qualitative
analysis of the building envelope. All investigations and analysis are provided at
Appendix H to Attachment A).

46.

The conclusions are:
(a)

the existing wind environment at ground level along Pitt Street is generally
satisfactory for pedestrian standing;

(b)

the existing configurations of surrounding laneways result in a relatively calm
wind environment;

(c)

the wind impact from varying the development proposal’s Pitt Street tower
setback from 0m – 8m is minimal;

13

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

47.

18 June 2018

(d)

the wind conditions of locations tested surrounding the site will remain
comfortable for pedestrian standing or walking and pass the distress criterion;
and

(e)

the proposal and proposed 200 metre tall building immediately to the north will
worsen wind conditions for sitting in the through site link. Through detailed
design, measures such as articulation and façade treatments may mitigate wind
impacts.

The conclusions of the wind studies undertaken to date will be further confirmed and
qualified through additional detailed environmental wind tunnel testing as part of the
preparation of a detailed development application. The proponent has been advised
that physical barriers such as screening on the ground level or awning structures are
not likely to be supported.

Roads and Traffic Assessment
48.

An assessment of the traffic and parking implications of the proposal (in particular the
indicative design scheme) has been undertaken by Colston Budd Hunt and Kafes Pty
Ltd at Appendix G of Attachment A.

49.

The report concludes:

50.

(a)

The proposal is anticipated to generate 10 to 15 vehicles per hour less than
existing traffic generation. Such a low traffic generation will not have a noticeable
effect on the surrounding road network and intersections in the vicinity will
continue to operate at satisfactory levels of service.

(b)

The preferred location for the access driveway (to basement parking and loading
facilities) is via Dalley Street, which is consistent with the APDG Block controls.
This location is appropriate given it:
(i)

provides the most efficient design for a two-way vehicular ramp for cars
and service vehicles;

(ii)

provides for improved pedestrian amenity along Queens Court;

(iii)

allows for appropriate sight lines and passing opportunities for vehicles
turning into and out of the site; and

(iv)

continues to allow appropriate activation on the corner of Pitt Street and
Dalley Street.

A further detailed traffic, access and parking assessment will occur as part of any
future DA.

Heritage
51.

There are no listed heritage items within the site, nor within the boundary of the entire
APDG Block. However, there are a number of heritage items in the vicinity of the site
including the Tank Stream, an item of State Significance, which lies outside the
boundary of the site.

52.

The heritage impacts of the proposed redevelopment scheme have been considered
by GML in the report at Appendix F of Attachment A.

14

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

53.

18 June 2018

Some of the key conclusions and recommendations arising from the abovementioned
studies are:
(a)

Tank Stream - The Tank Stream is located east of the site below Pitt Street.
There is potential for the proposal to impact upon this State significant heritage
item, however the risk is perceived to be low.

(b)

Aboriginal Archaeology - No aboriginal archaeological sites registered on the
Aboriginal Heritage Information Management System data base are located
within the site study area. Aboriginal archaeological sites have been identified on
natural foreshore environments similar to the subject site within the Sydney CBD.

(c)

Historical Archaeology - Preliminary indications are that the site potentially
contains archaeology (including associated with the earliest phase of Sydney
settlement and potential evidence of James Underwood’s shipwright’s yard) that
is of local and potential State significance.

(d)

Mitigation Measures - GML recommendations to mitigate impacts represent
standard requirements for a development of this nature in this location and
therefore do not pose any significant obstacles or issues for the site’s
redevelopment.

Pedestrian safety
54.

For safety reasons, a blast wall may be required to be constructed on the boundary
between the Ausgrid site and Queens Court, as the Ausgrid building contains
electricity generators. The Ausgrid building is built to the boundary in parts, if required,
part of the blast wall, will be on Queens Court. There is a mechanism in the public
benefit offer to determine a valuation on the encroachment of the land and the
planning agreement will contain the terms of the encroachment.

Strategic Alignment - Greater Sydney Region Plan and Eastern City District Plan
55.

The Greater Sydney Region Plan is the state government strategic document that
outlines a vision for Greater Sydney over the next 40 years. The Plan outlines how
Greater Sydney will manage growth and change and guide infrastructure delivery, and
is to be implemented at a local level by District Plans.

56.

The Greater Sydney Region Plan identifies key challenges facing Greater Sydney,
which is forecast to grow from 4.7 million people to 8 million people by 2056. Greater
Sydney must provide for an additional 817,000 jobs by 2036 and will need to provide
725,000 more homes over the next 20 years.

57.

The planning proposal is consistent with the following relevant objective of the Greater
Sydney Region Plan:


Objective 18: Harbour CBD is stronger and more competitive



Objective 22: Investment and business activity in centres



Objective 23: Industrial and urban services land is planned, protected and
enhanced



Objective 24: Economic sectors are targeted for success

15

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee



18 June 2018

Objective 33: a low carbon city contributes to net zero emissions by 2050 and
mitigates climate change

58.

The Eastern City District Plan sets the local planning context for the City of Sydney
local government area. It provides a 20-year plan to manage growth and achieve the
40-year vision of the Greater Sydney Region Plan.

59.

The planning proposal is consistent with the following relevant planning priorities and
actions of the Eastern City District Plan:


Planning Priority E7: Growing a stronger and more competitive Harbour CBD



Planning Priority E9: Growing international trade gateways



Planning Priority E11: Growing investment, business opportunities and jobs in
strategic centres



Planning Priority E13 Supporting growth of targeted industry sectors



Planning Priority E19: Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, water
and waste efficiently

60.

The proposed amendments to SLEP 2012 will directly facilitate these priorities by
‘unlocking’ commercial office supply through reconfiguring the identified development
blocks in the APDG Block to take advantage of the current pattern of land ownership.
In turn, this will help to transform this highly-accessible block into a global corporate
address.

61.

This planning proposal supports the above key directions in that it will provide for a
premium quality office building in a highly-accessible location; promote sustainable
redevelopment of the APDG block; complement the new light rail and proposed cycle
network; and provide for recreation, and retail activities.

Sustainable Sydney 2030 Vision
62.

Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This proposal is aligned with the
following SS2030 strategic directions and objectives:
(a)

Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City - The proposal will
support a future high quality urban design outcome that will provide new
employment opportunities. Investment will contribute to Sydney's attractiveness
to global investors.

(b)

Direction 2 - A Leading Environmental Performer - The planning proposal will
support a more ecologically sustainable development on the site, with a target of
achieving a minimum NABERS Energy rating of 5.5 stars, minimum 4 NABERS
water score of 4 stars and a minimum Office Green Star rating of 5 stars.

(c)

Direction 3 - Integrated Transport for a Connected City - The proposal will
capitalise on its close proximity to existing heavy rail train stations, future light
rail, and a significant number of high frequency bus and ferry routes. The
removal of existing public car parks will encourage sustainable transport
behaviours.

16

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

(d)

Direction 4 - A City for Walking and Cycling - The planning proposal supports the
creation of a network of new activated laneways and through-site link will
improve pedestrian access and generally improve the City's pedestrian
environment.

(e)

Direction 5 - A Lively and Engaging City Centre - A mix of uses will continue and
significantly improve the levels of activation. With its concentration of small scale
shops at the ground plane, redevelopment of the site will contribute to a livelier,
engaging city.

(f)

Direction 6 - Vibrant Local Communities and Economies - The planning proposal
facilitates development that will enhance the CBD and Harbour area by
increasing business opportunities for workers, local residents, and tourists. It will
increase the supply of Premium office floor space.

(g)

Direction 7 - A Cultural and Creative City - Public art is offered as part of the
voluntary planning agreement, supporting the local art community and providing
new creative and cultural experiences within the development and more broadly
within this part of the City. The letter of offer contributes public art and funds to
the innovation space, supporting creativity and innovation within the City.

(h)

Direction 9 - Sustainable Development, Renewal and Design - The planning
proposal includes building envelope controls that are aimed at delivering design
excellence. In addition, the proposal will support a future development that is
expected to include a range of sustainable building features.

Proposed Central Sydney Planning Strategy
63.

Council and the CSPC also endorsed the aims of the proposed Central Sydney
Planning Strategy (proposed Strategy) as matters to be addressed in any planning
proposal for a site in Central Sydney that seeks to amend Sydney Local Environmental
Plan 2012 (SLEP 2012).

64.

The planning proposal is generally consistent with the aims of the proposed Strategy.
It will enable the redevelopment of a premium grade office tower to contribute to a
resilient and diverse economy. Increasing floor space capacity for employment uses is
an efficient use of land, as the site is well serviced by public transport.

65.

The development will undertake a Competitive Design Alternatives Process to
demonstrate design excellence with a minimum of five (5) invited competitors.
Although not a full architectural design competition, the proposal does not intensify the
density of development as it does not create additional floor space within the block.
The competitive process will apply to the entire site including the Ausgrid building. It
will meet 5.5 star NABERS Energy rating and 4 star NABERS water score through a
commitment agreement, and result in a building envelope supporting great streets with
minimal amenity impacts.

66.

The original planning proposal request was submitted prior to Council and CSPC's
consideration of the Central Sydney Planning framework. It has been considered in a
consistent manner with previous planning proposals in the APDG block. The merits of
the proposal are supported, and generally align with the Central Sydney Planning
framework including the strategy, planning proposal and draft DCP.

17

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Relevant Legislation
67.

Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 and Environmental Planning and
Assessment Regulation 2000.

Critical Dates / Time Frames
68.

Should Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee endorse the attached
planning proposal for exhibition and consultation, it will be forwarded to the Greater
Sydney Commission in accordance with Section 3.34 of the Environmental Planning
and Assessment Act 1979. The Greater Sydney Commission will then provide a
Gateway determination to either proceed to consultation (with or without variation) or
to resubmit the planning proposal.

69.

The typical timeframe, once a Gateway determination is made, has been 21 days for
public authority consultation and 28 days public exhibition. The Gateway will also
determine the timeframe for the completion of the Local Environmental Plan
amendment.

70.

In relation to any future Planning Agreement, Section 7.4(1)(a) of the Environmental
Planning and Assessment Act 1979 enables a proponent to provide a material public
benefit by entering into an agreement with the City. Section 7.5(1) requires that a draft
Planning Agreement be publicly exhibited for at least 28 days and section 7.5(2)
requires that, where possible, the Agreement be exhibited concurrent with any other
publicly notifiable matters relating to the Agreement.

71.

A recommendation of this report requests that the City prepare a Planning Agreement
ready for public exhibition alongside the draft planning proposal and draft Sydney
Development Control Plan 2012 amendment. The draft Planning Agreement will reflect
the terms of the public benefit offer made by the proponent dated 30 May 2018 at
Attachment C.

72.

Following public authority consultation and public exhibition, the outcomes will be
reported back to Council and the Central Sydney Planning Committee.

Delegation of Ministers Plan Making Functions
73.

In October 2012, the Minister for Planning delegated plan-making functions to councils
to improve the local plan-making process. In December 2012, Council resolved to
accept the delegation.

74.

Council needs to receive an authorisation on a case-by-case basis to exercise the
delegation. The authorisation is given through the Gateway Process and may be for
spot rezonings consistent with surrounding zones and matters of local significance.
Exercising the delegation means a faster plan-making process with less involvement of
the Department of Planning and Environment.

75.

This report recommends Council seek authority to exercise the delegation of the
Minister for Planning of all his functions under section 3.36 of the Environmental
Planning and Assessment Act 1979 to make the local environmental plan.

18

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Public Consultation
76.

77.

78.

The public exhibition process for the planning proposal will be determined by the
Greater Sydney Commission. It is proposed that public exhibition of the planning
proposal, public exhibition of the amendment to Sydney Development Control Plan
2012 and the notification of the Planning Agreement run concurrently. The consultation
would take place in accordance with the requirements of:
(a)

the Gateway determination made by the Greater Sydney Commission under
s.3.34 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979;

(b)

the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000; and

(c)

in relation to the Planning Agreement, s7.5(2) of the Environmental Planning and
Assessment Act 1979.

This would most likely mean the public exhibition would be a minimum of 28 days, with
notification:
(a)

on the City of Sydney website;

(b)

in newspapers that circulate widely in the City of Sydney Local Government
Area; and

Section 7.5(1) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 requires that a
draft Planning Agreement be publicly exhibited for at least 28 days and section 7.5(2)
requires that, where possible, the agreement be exhibited concurrent with any other
publicly notifiable matters relating to the agreement.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM
Director City Planning, Development and Transport
Karen Judd, Specialist Planner

19

Attachment A
Planning Proposal: 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

20

`

Planning Proposal
55 Pitt Street,
Sydney
Amendments to Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 – January 2018

21

City of Sydney
Town Hall House
456 Kent Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Contents
Introduction ............................................................................................................... 21
Background ............................................................................................................... 41
Part 1 – Objectives or Intended Outcomes ............................................................. 131
Part 2 – Explanation of the Provisions .................................................................... 131
Part 3 - Justification ................................................................................................ 181
Part 4: Mapping ...................................................................................................... 311
Part 5: Community consultation .............................................................................. 311
Part 6: Project timeline ............................................................................................ 321

1 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

22

Introduction
In June 2017 Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd (Mirvac) submitted a planning justification
report to the City of Sydney requesting site-specific amendments to Sydney Local
Environmental Plan 2012 (SLEP2012) to enable significant redevelopment of land at
37-57 Pitt Street, 6-8 Underwood Street and 8-14 Dalley Street, Sydney (otherwise
known as 55 Pitt Street). These parcels of land are located within the city block
bound by Alfred, Pitt, Dalley and George Streets (the APDG Block), Sydney.
This proposal is a response to that request and has been prepared in accordance
with Section 3.33 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act)
and relevant Department of Planning Guidelines, including A Guide to Preparing
Local Environmental Plans and A Guide to Preparing Planning proposals.
The Planning Proposal is to principally introduce an additional alternative height
control of metres that will apply to the site. This amendment, along with
corresponding amendments to the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012
(SDCP2012), aims to support Council’s vision for the APDG Block by facilitating a
high quality urban form with the delivery of public benefits. An image of the indicative
tower form is at Figure 1.

2 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

23

Figure 1: Photomontage of an indicative tower form

3 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

24

Background
Site Identification
Location
The planning proposal relates to four properties located at the northern end of
Sydney’s Central Business District at 37-57 Pitt Street, 6-8 Underwood Street, and 814 Dalley Street referred to in this report as ‘55 Pitt Street’.
55 Pitt Street has frontage to Underwood Street to the north, Pitt Street to the east,
Dalley Street to the south. The site is part of the street block bound by Alfred, Pitt,
Dalley and George Streets, known as the APDG block as identified in the
SDCP2012.
The legal description of the land affected by this Planning Proposal and the
proposed amendments to SLEP2012 are:
•

37-49 Pitt Street, Sydney, Lot 2-3 DP1092, Lots 1-2 DP1112308, Lot 6 DP75338,
Lot 7 DP110046, Lot 4 DP524306

•

49A-57 Pitt Street, Sydney, Lot 1 DP513109

•

6-8 Underwood Street, Sydney, Lot 301 DP714847

•

8-14 Dalley Street, Sydney, Lot A DP104160, Lot B DP104160

Figure 2: Land subject to this planning proposal
Land Ownership
Mirvac own the sites at 6-8 Underwood Street and 37-57 Pitt Street and is in the
process of entering into an agreement with NSW Treasury, owner of the substation
site at 8-14 Dalley Street, as part of the site development. Ausgrid are 99-year
leaseholders of the substation site. At the time of writing the agreement was not
finalised, however Mirvac advises that the agreement should be finalised prior to
committee considering this report.

4 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

25

Queens Court is owned by Council, comprises of a rectangular area of bitumen
sealed surface and is currently used as a laneway. It has its main street frontage to
Dalley Street to the south, and has an area of approximately 75 square metres. The
City’s records show Queens Court has existed as a laneway prior to 1943. Queens
Court is identified as a public road under the Local Government Act 1993 and
therefore not subject to land classifications.
Site Area
The total site area of 55 Pitt Street is approximately 3290.9m2 including the 851.2m2
Ausgrid site.
Site Characteristics
The area is characterised by a mix of commercial office and hotel uses with some
ground level retail, restaurant, café and bar uses in buildings of varying heights, ages
and styles.
The height of buildings in this part of the CBD immediately surrounding the site is
characterised by predominately mid-rise buildings and taller high-rise tower
buildings.
North
Immediately to the north across Underwood Street is a 3 storey car park and midrise
commercial office building that also fronts onto Pitt Street (33 – 35 Pitt Street). The
planning controls for the site have recently been amended to allow a building to 248
metres. A development application has recently been lodged and is currently under
assessment for a high-rise commercial tower.

Figure 3: View of mid-rise commercial office buildings to the north along Pitt Street
East
To the east of the site across Pitt Street is the Marriot Hotel (at RL 117.120).

5 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

26

Figure 4: View of adjacent Marriot Hotel fronting Pitt Street to the east

6 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

27

South
To the south is the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX), a mid-rise building of up to 13
storeys with frontages to Dalley Street and Pitt Street.

Figure 5: ASX building to the south fronting Dalley and Pitt Streets
West
Buildings to the west comprise of low scale utility/infrastructure buildings associated
with Telstra and the commercial tower at 200 George Street.

Figure 6: View of Ausgrid and Telstra buildings to the west along Dalley Street

7 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

28

Context
APDG block
The APDG block is located at the junction of the western edge of Circular Quay and
George Street. It contains a large number of multi-storey commercial buildings that
line the northern end of George and Pitt Streets.

Figure 7: The APDG Site Plan
The APDG block was the subject of an urban design study undertaken in 2009 by
the Government Architects Office which resulted in the site-specific controls currently
included in Sydney LEP 2012 and Sydney DCP 2012. This study was initiated by the
City of Sydney.
55 Pitt Street is situated in the south-eastern portion of the APDG Block. The
following sites, within the APDG block have had development consent granted:
1 Alfred Street, 19-31 Pitt Street, 31A Pitt Street, Sydney (Wanda site)
has consent for a new mixed-use development comprising a 57 storey retail
and residential building to the maximum height of 194m, and a 15 storey
retail and hotel building to the maximum height of 110m.
188-208 George Street, 1 Underwood Street and 4 Dalley Street, Sydney
(the Mirvac 200 George St site) has been constructed comprising a 37
storey commercial office building and refurbishment of the remainder of 4
Dalley Street for plant and servicing. The design of the new building is the
outcome of a competitive design process.
210-214 and 218-232 George Street, Sydney (the Poly site) has a Stage 1
consent for a 25 storey mixed use building to 110m. Stage 2 DA lodged for
demolition and construction of the new building.

8 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

29

182 George Street, 33-35 Pitt Street, 178A George Street and 200A
George Street, Sydney (the Lend Lease Circular Quay, LLCQ, site) has a
planning proposal to allow a commercial tower to 248m. A development
application has been lodged for the demolition of existing buildings,
construction of a 55 storey commercial tower and podium, and a new
Jacksons on George building.
6 Dalley Street, Sydney (the Telstra site) has preliminary discussions for
the redevelopment of the site. A development application has not yet been
lodged.

Current Planning Controls
Zoning
The sites are zoned B8 Metropolitan Centre, as shown in Map Extract A. The zone
permits a broad range of uses including commercial premises, community facilities,
food and drink premises, residential accommodation and tourist and visitor
accommodation.

Figure 8: Sydney Local Environmental Plan Map Extract A – Zoning

Building Height
The maximum permissible height on the APDG block is 110m, as shown in Map
Extract B, or is subject to the application of alterative controls for the APDG Block
and sun access protection controls.
9 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

30

Figure 9: Sydney Local Environmental Plan Map Extract B – Building Height

Floor Space Ratio (FSR)
The maximum FSR on the APDG block is 8:1, as shown in Map Extract C.
SLEP2012 Clause 6.4 Accommodation floor space allows an additional amount of
FSR up to 4.5:1, subject to design excellence and the purchase of heritage floor
space.
Pursuant to Clause 6.21(7), council may grant an additional 10% of floor area if a
competitive design process has been undertaken and design excellence is
demonstrated.
In total, an FSR of 13.75:1 is potentially achievable across the precinct for a
commercial development.

10 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

31

Figure 10: Sydney Local Environmental Plan Map Extract C – Floor Space Ratio

Sun Access Protection
The APDG Block is affected by controls to protect sun access to Lang Park,
Australia Square and Macquarie Place, as shown in Map Extract D.
SLEP 2012 cl.6.19 Overshadowing of certain public places provides that there shall
be no additional overshadowing of Lang Park, Australia Square and Macquarie
Place during specified times.

11 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

32

Figure 11: Sydney Local Environmental Plan Map Extract D – Sun Access Protection

Heritage
The APDG Block does not contain any heritage items but is located in the vicinity of
the Tank Stream, which is a State significant heritage item, as shown in Map Extract
E. The site also contains European and Aboriginal archaeological potential.

Figure 12: Sydney Local Environmental Plan Map Extract E – Heritage

12 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

33

Part 1 – Objectives or Intended
Outcomes
Objectives
•

To provide another development option in SLEP2012 for the appropriate
distribution of built form and floor space within the APDG Block;

•

To identify the 55 Pitt Street site as an alternative site where additional building
height may be achieved if the development, covers the whole block, and provides
for certain public benefits, including through-site links, , street activation and
public domain improvements;

•

To ensure that only non-residential uses are permitted within the 55 Pitt Street
site.

•

To ensure any development achieves a high standard of ecologically sustainable
development and contribute towards net zero energy

Intended Outcomes
The planning proposal is intended to recognise constraints to ‘unlock’ the
development potential of the APDG Block and achieve public domain improvements.
Its intent is to facilitate a major redevelopment of the site referred to as 55 Pitt Street
for the following purposes:
•

a commercial office tower with a maximum height of 155.5 metres with podium to
provide definition to and activation of the public domain;

•

delivery of public benefits through significant improvements to the public domain
in the form of an activated network of laneways and through-site links;

•

Improved amenity outcomes for the site, including street activation and openness
within the building to northern views and daylight; and

•

modernisation of, and improved aesthetics of the Ausgrid site;

•

Ensure development meets 5.5 star Base Building NABERS Energy Rating and 4
star NABERS water score.

Part 2 – Explanation of the Provisions
The following amendments to SLEP2012 are sought to facilitate the objectives and
intended outcomes outlined in Part 1 of this planning proposal:
•

amend Clause 6.25 APDG Block to
•
•
•
•

allow for another development scenario by establishing block 5 (55 Pitt
Street) as an alternative option to block 1;
allow a maximum building height of 155.5 metres, comprising no more
than 54% of the area of the block; and
allow only the development of non-residential uses within block 5;
amend Clause 6.25(4) to align with objective in Clause 6.25(1) to allow
development consent to be granted if a through site link is provided.

13 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

34

•

Permit for the purpose of calculating the FSR of block 5, the inclusion of FSR
generated by the Ausgrid site to be transferred for use on block 5, if the
development includes an upgrade of all visible facades including roof to the
Ausgrid building;

•

Amend the Lanes Development Floor Space controls so that they apply to new
development on block 5;

•

Require a 5.5 star NABERS Energy rating for the base building and a 4 star
NABERS Water rating to be achieved

The amendments outlined above will make it possible to achieve either Development
Block 1 or Development Block 5 but not both. However, the subject Mirvac block 5
proposed controls, along with the recent Lend Lease Circular Quay block 4 controls,
effectively supersede the original block 1 development options.

Reconfigured development blocks under clause 6.25
Under clause 4.3 of SLEP 2012, the height of a building in the APDG Block is not to
exceed the maximum height shown for the land on the Height of Buildings map,
namely 110m. Notwithstanding this provision, clause 6.25 enables higher buildings
to be approved on certain land within the APDG Block.
The objective of Clause 6.25 is:
to provide for additional building height on parts of certain sites (within the area
bounded by Alfred Street, Pitt Street, Dalley Street and George Street) if the
development of the site provides for publicly accessible open space, lanes and other
links through the site.
The existing controls permit three towers over 110m on the APDG Block, being a
200m tower at the corner of Pitt and Dalley Streets, a 185m tower on Alfred Street,
and a 155m tower on George Street. Applicants may only ‘opt in’ to the alternative
building heights where a development application relates to all parcels of land within
a development block (whether or not including one or more optional parcels).
This planning proposal proposes an alternative development block layout, as set out
visually in Figure below (existing and proposed development blocks).

5

Figure 13: APDG Development Blocks - Existing and Proposed Development Block Layout

14 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

35

The SLEP 2012 amendment would retain Blocks 1 to 4, as identified in the existing controls,
and identify block 5 (55 Pitt Street) by referencing the relevant Lot and DP numbers as
follows:

•
•
•
•

Lot 1 DP 513109 (49A-57 Pitt Street)
Lots 2-3 DP1092, Lots 1-2 DP1112308, Lot 6 DP75338, Lot 7 DP110046, Lot
4 DP524306 (37-49 Pitt Street)
Lot 501 DP 714847 (6-8 Underwood Street)
Lot A and B DP 104160 (Ausgrid site)

Revised Height
Existing controls under the block 1 configuration already allow a maximum building height in
the general location of block 5 to 200m.
The current pattern of land ownership and development in the APDG Block makes it unlikely
that the consolidated development block 1 envisioned in the existing controls will be achieved
in the short to medium term, if at all. While Lend Lease recently amended the controls for
block 4, around the same time Mirvac, as owner of the 55 Pitt Street site and remaining
portion of block 1, commenced investigations into redevelopment of the subject site. These
alternative controls effectively supersede block 1.
The planning request has been accompanied by technical studies, supporting a building
envelope to 155.5m over part of the site. This planning proposal sets a maximum building
height of 155.5m over 54% of block 5, measured from the tower floor plate and including the
Ausgrid site.

Non-residential uses
To provide future floor space capacity for employment uses within the APDG Block, only nonresidential uses will be permitted on Block 5 under clause 6.25.
A provision is proposed to ensure that alternative height may only be permitted within Block 5
for development that comprises of non-residential uses only. This includes uses such as
offices, business premises, retail premises, child care centres; community facilities; education
establishments; entertainment facilities and the like.
Although residential accommodation (such as residential flat buildings and dwellings) will not
be permitted under the proposed ‘alternative’ controls for Block 5, the existing controls within
SLEP2012 still allow residential uses within the APDG Block, though the building height is
capped at the existing height control of 110 metres.

Development consent
Clause 6.25(4) is proposed to be amended to clarify that development consent can be
granted if a through site link is provided on block 5.
Currently a development within the block, being part of block 1 would be required to provide
recreation areas and a road. With alternative controls in place for block 4 to provide
recreation areas and provision of laneways, block 5 is left with the responsibility of providing
a through site link only. The amendment is to ensure the block can be developed given
recreational areas and roads through the APDG block have been provided by other
development blocks.

Transfer of Floor Space
Given that the Ausgrid building is to be retained for use as a substation, with specific building
requirements, for the purpose of calculating FSR, the inclusion of FSR generated by the
Ausgrid site should be permitted to be transferred onto the adjoining sites.

15 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

36

It is acknowledged that there is limited opportunity to provide significant re-development of
the site. However, noting the important infrastructure provided by the substation, and the
need to maintain power supplies, discussions around the opportunities available to satisfy the
significant development threshold meant that for clarity, the indicated works, both in the
proposed public domain of the Ausgrid land along with upgrading of the Ausgrid building
façade and roof is the maximum amount of work an external party could do to an existing
operating major facility such as this substation. The upgrade of all visible facades including
roof of the Ausgrid building is considered to be significant development for the purposes of
Cl4.5(6)

Lanes development floor space
It is proposed to amend the lanes development floor space provisions of SLEP2012 to
encourage new fine grain tenancies along the lanes within and adjoining block 5 on
Underwood Street. In seeking to secure small scale tenancies, the proposed amendment
supplements clause 6.25(4) which does not allow additional height on the APDG block unless
the development includes roads and lanes fronted by business premises and retail premises.
Clause 6.8 Lanes Development Floor Space in SLEP2012 allows additional floor space for
alterations and additions to an existing building that results in small premises (maximum of
100m2) that front a lane, are accessed from the lane, and are used for retail or other
specified ‘active’ uses. The additional floor space allowed is equal to the total area of the
laneway premises.
Under the current controls, block 5 would not be eligible for additional floor space under
clause 6.8 since it applies only to existing buildings.
This planning proposal seeks to amend clause 6.25 by inserting a sub-clause that would
supplement the Lanes Map and enable new development on block 5 to be eligible for
additional floor space under clause 6.8 Lanes Development Floor Space.

NABERS Energy and Water
A 5.5 star NABERS Energy rating for the base building and a 4 star Water rating has been
agreed and aligns with the City’s sustainability targets.

Associated amendments to Sydney Development Control
Plan 2012
As a consequence of the proposed changes to the LEP controls, it is also proposed to amend
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 to alter the site-specific DCP controls for the APDG
Block. The draft DCP will be publicly exhibited with the planning proposal. While retaining the
existing provisions relating to the development of Blocks 1 and 4, the draft DCP introduces a
parallel set of provisions for Block 5 to enable the achievement of the Mirvac development
proposal.
The draft DCP addresses the following key design considerations:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Streets, lanes and through-site links
Active frontages
Awnings
Building height
Street frontage heights and setbacks
Building design and bulk
Parking and vehicular access

As well, it includes
• design excellence strategy provisions;
16 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

37

•

a site-specific provision to clarify the methodology for calculating the amount of any
additional FSR available to Development Block 5 under SLEP 2012 clause 6.21
Design Excellence; and

17 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

38

Part 3 - Justification
This section of the planning proposal provides the rationale for the amendment to
SLEP 2012 and responds to questions set out in the document entitled A guide to
preparing planning proposals, published by the Department of Planning and
Infrastructure in August 2016.

SECTION A – NEED FOR THE PLANNING PROPOSAL
Q1. Is the planning proposal a result of any strategic study or report?
The planning proposal is a result of a detailed Architectural Design Report
undertaken by Francis-Jones Morehen Thorp (FJMT) on behalf of Mirvac. The FJMT
report provides a sound basis upon which to progress the planning proposal. The
report establishes a strategy as to how the City’s vision for the APDG Site can be
achieved in an alternative way, how unrealised floor space within the Ausgrid utility
site can be ‘unlocked’ with minimal adverse environmental impacts, and how
demonstrable public benefits such as a through-site link, safe pedestrian access and
active laneway network can be achieved.
A number of technical studies have also been undertaken by Mirvac to support the
planning proposal. They are attached as the following appendices to this planning
proposal:
•

Appendix A: Architectural Design Report and Associated Drawings prepared by
FJMT

•

Appendix B: Survey Plan prepared by Denny Linker & Co Surveyors

•

Appendix E: Preliminary Contamination Review prepared by Coffey

•

Appendix F: Heritage Assessment and Impact Statement prepared by GML
Heritage

•

Appendix G: Traffic and Transport Assessment prepared by Colston Budd Hunt
& Kafes Pty Ltd

•

Appendix H: Wind Impact Assessment prepared by CPP

•

Appendix I: Geotechnical Desk Study prepared by Coffey

•

Appendix J: Flood Study prepared by TTW

Q2. Is the planning proposal the best means of achieving the objectives or
intended outcomes, or is there a better way?
A planning proposal is the only means of providing for an alternative development
scenario for the APDG Block that, like the current controls, would ‘unlock’
development capacity and allow for additional building height in exchange for public
domain improvements. The existing controls are capable of delivering the City’s
intended outcomes for the APDG Block and are therefore proposed to be retained as
an option. However, the alternative option set out in the planning proposal may be a
more realistic outcome given the recent Block 4 controls. Without an amendment to
the planning controls in SLEP2012, the proposed concept cannot be realised despite
it offering public benefits as detailed below.
Revitalisation of the APDG Block
In 2008, the City recognised that there were barriers imposed under the standard
planning controls that prevented the floor space potential in some key CBD areas
18 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

39

from being fully realised. In addition, the public amenity associated with buildings in
these areas designed in accordance with the standard planning controls was
considered to be highly compromised resulting in poor built form outcomes, including
tower crowding and missed opportunities for significant public domain improvements.
The City determined that a potential solution to this issue was to identify strategic
groups of sites in central Sydney where additional height could be offered in
exchange for significant and quantifiable public domain improvements.
The first of these groups of sites was the APDG Block. The City noted the APDG
Block is a significant street block in a highly prominent location and that two Stage 1
development applications (for 1 Alfred Street and 188-208 George Street) which had
recently been approved, demonstrated that current planning controls could be
improved to achieve better built form and significant public domain improvements.
The 2009 Urban Design Study contained four options for improving planning
outcomes in the APDG Block.
The Study resulted in amendments being made to the then applicable Sydney LEP
2005 and DCP 1996. Further refinements to the APDG Block-specific LEP and DCP
provisions occurred with the commencement of SLEP2012 and SDCP2012. These
provisions operate as alternative development controls where additional height is
only offered in exchange for public domain improvements.
The City recognised that the adopted APDG provisions did not represent the only
solution. The business paper of 8 November 2010 noted that:
…alternative floor space transfer mechanisms and/or alternative development block
arrangements may be possible within the APDG site south of the 1 Alfred Street site.
The City is open to the consideration of such alternatives on their merits, particularly
if it can be demonstrated that alternative approaches can result in public benefits and
high quality urban design outcomes similar to the alternative scheme. Consideration
of alternative development scenarios which result in significantly different built form
outcomes would be subject to a separate Planning Proposal, or LEP amendment,
process.
It is noted that the possibility of alternative options has already been recognised. It is
therefore acknowledged that there may be other scenarios for the APDG Block that
are yet to be explored.
The 55 Pitt Street proposal provides an alternative scenario for the APDG Block, one
which expands upon the benefits of site connectivity by way of a through-site link
and public domain improvements.
Public domain benefits
Like the existing alternate controls for the APDG Block, the 55 Pitt Street proposal
facilitates public domain improvements in the form of an improved and active
laneway and through-site link network with:
•

Connected spaces including:
•
•
•

•

a well-defined north-south activated through-site link extending Queens Court
from Daley Street to Underwood Street;
pedestrian movement is prioritised by concentrating vehicle access at the
edges; and
facilitating Underwood Street as an east-west and north-south pedestrian
connection from Pitt and Daley Streets to George Street and beyond;

Activated laneways and streets:
•

an enhanced network of fine grain, activated streets and laneways; and

19 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

40

•

•

public spaces that will be activated at day and night by the creation of new
commercial offices, retail and food and beverage outlets fronting both
Queens Court through-site link and Underwood and Pitt Streets.

Improved building façades:
•

new treatments to beautify and enhance the facades of the Ausgrid utility
building.

A world class global office building
The commercial tower will be designed in accordance with a competitive design
process as contemplated by the design excellence provisions of SLEP2012 in order
to ensure that the 55 Pitt Street development delivers to Sydney a world-class, new
commercial Global office building that provides for a PCA Premium Grade floor plate.

SECTION B – RELATIONSHIP TO STRATEGIC PLANNING
FRAMEWORK
Q3. Is the planning proposal consistent with the objectives and actions of the
applicable regional or sub-regional or district plan or strategy (including any
exhibited draft plans or strategies)?
The Greater Sydney Region Plan is the state government strategic document that
outlines a vision for Greater Sydney over the next 40 years. The Plan outlines how
Greater Sydney will manage growth and change and guide infrastructure delivery,
and is to be implemented at a local level by District Plans.
The Greater Sydney Region Plan identifies key challenges facing Greater Sydney,
which is forecast to grow from 4.7 million people to 8 million people by 2056. Greater
Sydney must provide for an additional 817,000 jobs by 2036 and will need to provide
725,000 more homes over the next 20 years.
The planning proposal is consistent with the following relevant objective of the
Greater Sydney Region Plan:
•

Objective 18: Harbour CBD is stronger and more competitive

•

Objective 22: Investment and business activity in centres

•

Objective 23: Industrial and urban services land is planned, protected and
enhanced

•

Objective 24: Economic sectors are targeted for success

•

Objective 33: a low carbon city contributes to net zero emissions by 2050 and
mitigates climate change

The Eastern City District Plan sets the local planning context for the City of Sydney
local government area. It provides a 20-year plan to manage growth and achieve the
40-year vision of the Greater Sydney Region Plan.
The planning proposal is consistent with the following relevant planning priorities and
actions of the Eastern City District Plan:
•

Planning Priority E7: Growing a stronger and more competitive Harbour CBD

•

Planning Priority E9: Growing international trade gateways

•

Planning Priority E11: Growing investment, business opportunities and jobs in
strategic centres

•

Planning Priority E13 Supporting growth of targeted industry sectors

20 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

41

•

Planning Priority E19: Reducing carbon emissions and managing energy, water
and waste efficiently

The proposed amendments to SLEP 2012 will directly facilitate these priorities by
‘unlocking’ commercial office supply through reconfiguring the identified development
blocks in the APDG Block to take advantage of the current pattern of land ownership.
In turn, this will help to transform this highly-accessible block into a global corporate
address with retail premises.
This planning proposal supports the above key directions and the subregional
strategy more broadly in that it will: provide for a high-quality office building in a
highly-accessible location; promote sustainable redevelopment of the APDG block;
complement the new light rail and proposed cycle network in Central Sydney;
provide for recreation, and retail activities.
Q4. Is the planning proposal consistent with a council’s local strategy or other
local strategic plan?
Sustainable Sydney 2030 (SS2030) outlines the City’s vision for a ‘green’, ‘global’
and ‘connected’ City of Sydney and sets targets, objectives and actions to achieve
that vision.
In summary, the planning proposal is consistent with the broad SS2030 vision in
that:
•

The concept is ‘green’. It provides the opportunity for best practice ESD to be
achieved through the design development phase.

•

The concept is ‘global’. It will make an important contribution to the economic role
of Sydney by providing premium office accommodation at Circular Quay.

•

The concept is ‘connected’. The 55 Pitt Street site extends the through site link,
improving connectivity across the site. The proposal will facilitate significant
improvements to the ground plane with improved pedestrian access, connectivity
and amenity within and around the site.

The planning proposal is consistent with the ten Directions of SS2030:
•

Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City - The proposal will
support a future high quality urban design outcome that will provide new
employment opportunities. Investment into the site will help contribute to make
Sydney attractive to global investors.

•

Direction 2 - A Leading Environmental Performer - The planning proposal will
support a more ecologically sustainable development on the site, with a target of
achieving a minimum NABERS Energy rating of 5.5 stars, minimum 4 NABERS
water score of 4 stars and a minimum Office Green Star rating of 5 stars.

•

Direction 3 - Integrated Transport for a Connected City - The proposal will
capitalise on its close proximity to existing heavy rail train stations, future light
rail, and a significant number of high frequency bus and ferry routes.

•

The removal of existing public car parks on site will encourage sustainable
transport behaviours. The sites proximity to a broad range of services will also
further limit potential future trips by vehicle and encourage sustainable transport
behaviour.

•

Direction 4 - A City for Walking and Cycling - The planning proposal supports the
creation of a network of new activated laneways and through-site link that
support a more people oriented City.

21 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

42

•

Direction 5 - A Lively and Engaging City Centre - The mix of uses on the site will
continue and significantly improve the levels of activation in this part of the City.
With its concentration on 'fine grain' development at the ground plane,
redevelopment of the site will contribute to a livelier, engaging city.

•

Direction 6 - Vibrant Local Communities and Economies - The planning proposal
facilitates development that will enhance the CBD and Harbour area by
increasing business opportunities for workers, local residents, and tourists.

•

This Planning Proposal will allow a significant investment into central Sydney and
will increase the provision of Premium Grade Floor Plate facilities in this part of
the City.

•

Direction 7 - A Cultural and Creative City - Public art is offered as part of the
voluntary planning agreement, supporting the local art community and providing
new creative and cultural experiences within the development and more broadly
within this part of the City. The letter of offer contributes public art and funds to
the innovation space, supporting creativity and innovation within the City.

•

Direction 9 - Sustainable Development, Renewal and Design - The planning
proposal includes building envelope controls that are aimed at delivering design
excellence. In addition, the proposal will support a future development that is
expected to include a range of sustainable building features.

By proposing a commercial building, committing to a competitive design process and
working towards achieving net-zero carbon, zero-waste and water sensitive
outcomes, the proposal is consistent with the aims of the draft Central Sydney
Planning Strategy being, the guiding strategic plan for Central Sydney over the next
20 years.

Q5. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable state environmental
planning policies (SEPPs)?
This planning proposal is consistent with applicable SEPPs and deemed SEPPs
(formerly known as Regional Environmental Plans (REPs)) as shown in Table 2. In
this section, ‘consistent’ means that the planning proposal does not contradict or
hinder the application of the relevant SEPP or REP.
Table 1 – Consistency with SEPPs and REPs
SEPPs with which
this planning
proposal is
consistent

SEPP 1 – Development Standards; SEPP 19—Bushland in
Urban Areas; SEPP 21—Caravan Parks; SEPP 30—Intensive
Agriculture; SEPP 33—Hazardous and Offensive
Development; SEPP 50—Canal Estate Development; SEPP
55—Remediation of Land; SEPP 62—Sustainable
Aquaculture; SEPP 70—Affordable Housing (Revised
Schemes); SEPP (Affordable Rental Housing) 2009; SEPP
(Educational Establishments and Child Care Facilities) 2017;
SEPP (Exempt and Complying Development Codes) 2008;
SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007; SEPP (Mining, Petroleum
Production and Extractive Industries) 2007; SEPP
(Miscellaneous Consent Provisions) 2007; SEPP (State and
Regional Development) 2011; SEPP (State Significant
Precincts) 2005; SEPP (Vegetation in Non-Rural Areas) 2017;
SEPP (Coastal Management) 2018

22 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

43

SEPPs that are
not applicable to
this planning
proposal

REPs with which
this planning
proposal is
consistent
REPs that are not
applicable to this
planning proposal

SEPP 36—Manufactured Home Estates; SEPP 44—Koala
Habitat Protection; SEPP 47—Moore Park Showground;
SEPP 52—Farm Dams and Other Works in Land and Water
Management Plan Areas; SEPP 64—Advertising and Signage;
SEPP 65—Design Quality of Residential Flat Development;
SEPP (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004; SEPP
(Housing for Seniors or People with a Disability) 2004; SEPP
(Integration and Repeals) 2016; SEPP (Kosciuszko National
Park— Alpine Resorts) 2007; SEPP (Kurnell Peninsula) 1989;
SEPP (Penrith Lakes Scheme) 1989; SEPP (Rural Lands)
2008; SEPP (Sydney Drinking Water Catchment) 2011; SEPP
(Sydney Region Growth Centres) 2006; SEPP (Three Ports)
2013; SEPP (Urban Renewal) 2010; SEPP (Western Sydney
Employment Area) 2009; SEPP (Western Sydney Parklands)
2009
Sydney REP (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005

Sydney REP 8—(Central Coast Plateau Areas); Sydney REP
9—Extractive Industry (No 2—1995); Sydney REP 16—Walsh
Bay; Sydney REP 20—Hawkesbury- Nepean River (No 2—
1997); Sydney REP 24—Homebush Bay Area; Sydney REP
26—City West; Sydney REP 30—St Marys; Sydney REP 33—
Cooks Cove; Greater Metropolitan REP No 2— Georges River
Catchment; Darling Harbour Development Plan No. 1; Sydney
Cove Redevelopment Authority Scheme.

State Environmental Planning Policy (SEPP) No. 55 – Remediation of Land
SEPP 55 aims to promote the remediation of contaminated land for the purpose of
reducing the risk of harm to human health or any other aspect of the environment. It
specifically requires consideration when rezoning land and in determining
development applications, and requires that remediation work meets certain
standards and notification requirements.
Coffey has undertaken a preliminary review of the site from a contamination
perspective (refer to Appendix I) and has concluded that potentially contaminating
activities have occurred on the site, with potential areas of environmental concern
relating to:
•
•
•

soil/groundwater impacts from former underground and above ground
storage tanks;
fill of unknown origin;
historical spills/leaks associated with equipment and/or tanks on the Ausgrid
site.

Coffey accordingly recommend that further investigations of potential contamination
be undertaken. Notwithstanding, Coffey advise that the potential contamination
issues identified are unlikely to significantly impact the planned future redevelopment
of the site. Compliance with SEPP 55 in terms of site suitability will be demonstrated
at the appropriate time as part of any future detailed development application for the
site’s redevelopment.

23 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

44

State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 2007
State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 2007 (SEPP Infrastructure)
aims to facilitate the effective delivery of infrastructure across the State and identifies
matters to be considered in the assessment of development adjacent to particular
types of infrastructure.
A small portion of the 55 Pitt Street site, namely the north eastern corner borders
with the Interim CBD Rail Link (CBDRL) Corridor identified under the Infrastructure
SEPP. It is understood that the future Macquarie Place station will be located within
close proximity to the site (refer to Figure 15 below).
While the CBDRL corridor does not intersect with the 55 Pitt Street site, it’s proximity
may require any future development application (DA) for the proposed 55 Pitt Street
development to consider potential impacts of the proposal on the protected CBDRL
Corridor and vice versa. It is therefore proposed details of proposed mitigation
measures should accompany the future DA.
The proposal will also be subject to the provisions in Division 17 of the SEPP as any
future redevelopment of the site will be considered `traffic generating development’
for the purposes of the SEPP as over 10,000sq.m of commercial floor space is
proposed. In light of this any application for development will need to be referred to
Roads and Maritime Services.

55 Pitt Street

Figure 14: Proximity to Interim CBD Light Rail Corridor

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005
Under Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005, 55
Pitt Street is located within the Sydney Harbour Catchment Boundary but not within
the Foreshores and Waterways Area Boundary.

24 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

45

The planning proposal does not contradict or hinder the application of the planning
principles for Sydney Harbour Catchment, as set out in Clause 13 of the REP.

Q6. Is the planning proposal consistent with applicable section 9.1 Directions
by the Minister (formerly known as s.117 directions)?
This planning proposal is consistent with applicable Ministerial Directions as shown
in Table 2. In this section, ‘consistent’ means that the planning proposal does not
contradict or hinder application of the relevant direction.
The planning proposal seeks to increase the permissible building height to 155.5m.
As this would encroach the Obstacle Limitation Surface (OLS), section 9.1 direction
3.5 Development Near Licensed Aerodrome applies to the planning proposal.
Clause 4(d) of this direction requires that a council must obtain permission from the
relevant Department of the Commonwealth, or their delegate, prior to undertaking
community consultation in satisfaction of section 3.34 of the EP&A Act.
An inconsistency with section 9.1 direction 3.5 can be justified on the basis of clause
7(d), namely that the inconsistency is considered to be of minor significance. This is
because current height controls in SLEP2012 and existing tower development in
Central Sydney (several of which are in close proximity to the site) already
significantly encroach the OLS. Therefore the OLS is already largely encroached in
this area and the draft LEP height controls are likely to have a minor cumulative
impact to the OLS.
Table 2 – Consistency with Ministerial Directions under section 9.1
Ministerial
Directions with
which this
planning proposal
is consistent

1.1 Business and Industrial Zones; 2.3 Heritage Conservation;
3.2 Caravan Parks and Manufactured Home Estates; 3.3
Home occupations; 3.4 Integrating Land use and Transport;
3.5 Development Near Licensed Aerodromes; 4.1 Acid Sulfate
Soils; 4.3 Flood Prone Land; 5.10 Implementation of Regional
Plans; 6.1 Approval and Referral Requirements; 6.2 Reserving
Land for Public Purposes; 6.3 Site Specific Provisions; 7.1
Implementation of A Plan for Growing Sydney

25 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

46

Ministerial
Directions that are
not applicable to
this planning
proposal

1.2 Rural Zones;1.3 Mining, Petroleum Production and
Extractive Industries; 1.4 Oyster Aquaculture; 1.5 Rural Lands;
2.1 Environmental Protection Zones; 2.2 Coastal Protection;
2.4 Recreation Vehicle Areas; 2.5 Application of E2 and E3
Zones and Environmental Overlays in Far North Coast LEPs;
3.1 Residential Zones; 4.2 Mine subsidence and Unstable
land; 4.4 Planning for Bushfire Protection; 5.2 Sydney Drinking
Water Catchments; 5.3 Farmland of State and Regional
Significance on the NSW Far North Coast; 5.4 Commercial
and Retail Development along the Pacific Highway, North
Coast; 5.8 Second Sydney Airport, Badgerys Creek; 5.9 North
West Rail Link Corridor Strategy; 7.2 Implementation of
Greater Macarthur Land Release Investigation; 7.3 Parramatta
Road Corridor Urban Transformation Strategy; 7.4
Implementation of North West Priority Growth Area Land Use
and Infrastructure Implementation Plan; 7.5 Implementation of
Greater Parramatta Priority Growth Area Interim Land Use and
Infrastructure Implementation Plan; 7.6 Implementation of
Wilton Priority Growth Area Interim Land Use and
Infrastructure Implementation Plan; 7.7 Implementation of
Glenfield to Macarthur Urban Renewal Corridor

Section C – Environmental, social and economic impact
Q7. Is there any likelihood that critical habitat or threatened species,
populations or ecological communities, or their habitats, will be adversely
affected as a result of the proposal?
The subject site is located in an existing business precinct in a built up area of
Central Sydney. As such, the planning proposal is unlikely to adversely affect critical
habitat or threatened species, populations or ecological communities, or their
habitats.
Q8. Are there any other likely environmental effects as a result of the planning
proposal and how are they proposed to be managed?
It is unlikely that the proposed amendments to SLEP2012 will result in development
creating any environmental effects that cannot be controlled. As it is envisaged that
future development will comprise contemporary commercial buildings, existing
policies, regulations and standards are already in place to ensure environmental
impacts are mitigated during the construction phase and eventual use of the
development.
The key environmental considerations arising from the planning proposal, particularly
in relation to urban amenity, are discussed in detail below.
Tower Separation and Setback
The Planning Proposal provides block 5 as an alternative development option to
block 1 and would allow a fourth tower on the APDG block. The proposal is
consistent with the objective of the APDG block “to provide for additional building
height on parts of certain sites, if the development provides for publicly accessible
open space, lanes and other links through the site.”
The location and separation of the tower to surrounding buildings is subject to the
same minimum building separation requirements and built form character as other
buildings in Central Sydney.
26 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

47

The proposal has a 3 metre tower side and rear setback, which is consistent with the
DCP requirements. The proposed varied 4-6m tower setback to Pitt Street, responds
to the existing pattern of development and positioning of towers to the east which
has no consistent street alignment and has fragmented tower setbacks above the
street wall. The tower location is acceptable and consistent with proximity of other
tall buildings in Central Sydney.
Solar Access and Overshadowing
A shadow analysis has been prepared by FJMT and is shown in Part 12 of the
Architectural Design Report and Associated Drawings at Appendix A.
This overshadowing analysis reveals that:
•
•
•

There is no additional shadowing of any nearby special areas (i.e. Australia
Square and Macquarie Place) within the specified LEP times;
The additional overshadowing caused by the proposal will have minimal to no
additional impact on the public domain, given the extent of existing shadow
and where the shadow is cast (i.e. on roof tops); and
Much of the shadows cast by the proposal have minimal additional
contribution to overshadowing when reviewed in conjunction with the
proposed indicative tower envelope to the north of the subject site at 33- 35
Pitt Street.

Skyview Analysis
The sky view factor analysis prepared by FJMT shown in the Architectural Design
Report at Appendix A concludes the sky visibility will be equal to or better than a
compliant scheme.
View Analysis
FJMT have undertaken a View Analysis, show in part 11 of the Architectural Design
Report and Associated Drawings at Appendix A. Analysis includes the preparation of
indicative tower envelope plans, as well as photomontages of the proposed 55 Pitt
Street.
Given the proposal involves a form that differs from that envisaged by DCP controls,
FJMT have undertaken a preliminary view study to compare key viewpoints being:
• Pitt Street looking north
• Pitt Street looking south
• Circular Quay
• Lang Park
A review of the above images confirms that the tower will not unduly impact on
important public views and view corridors, including those to Sydney Harbour.

27 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

48

Figure 15 – Pitt Street looking north with proposed envelope and indicative envelope at 33-35 Pitt Street
Source: FJMT

Wind Assessment
In July 2014 Cermak, Peterka Pattersen (CPP) Wind Engineering Consultants
undertook a wind tunnel study of the proposed development to assess pedestrian
wind comfort at ground level. A model of the proposed development and surrounds
to a radius of 570 metres was constructed to a 1:400 scale and centred on a
turntable in the wind tunnel.
The review by CPP involved detailed wind tunnel testing of a variety of development
scenarios, covering existing conditions, a proposed 110m tower on the site with
varying tower setbacks to Pitt Street, and a proposed 110m tower on the site with a
4m setback to Pitt Street including consideration of a potential 200m + tower
adjacent the site to the north (33 – 35 Pitt Street).
These detailed background quantitative investigations were further used as a basis
for CPP to undertake a qualitative analysis of the building envelope now being
proposed as part of this planning proposal (all of CPP’s investigations and analysis
are provided at Appendix H).
The conclusions are:
•
•
•
•

•

the existing wind environment at ground level along Pitt Street adjacent the
existing development is generally satisfactory for pedestrian standing;
the existing configurations of laneways surrounding the site are convoluted
from a wind perspective, resulting in a relatively calm wind environment;
the wind impact from varying the development proposal’s Pitt Street tower
setback (from 0m – 8m) was minimal;
the wind conditions of locations tested surrounding the site will (both with and
without any potential adjacent 200m + tower to the north) remain suitable for
pedestrian standing or walking, from a comfort perspective, and pass the
distress criterion; and
the proposed through-site link and laneway would be suitable for pedestrian
sitting, with this rating changing to pedestrian walking/business walking with
the inclusion of the potential adjacent 200m + tower to the north. Mitigation

28 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

49

measures (e.g. physical barriers or field containment) in this regard can easily
be incorporated to ensure that the through-site link and laneway operate and
function as envisaged.
The conclusions of the wind studies undertaken to date will be further confirmed and
qualified through further detailed environmental wind tunnel testing as part of the
preparation of a detailed development application. The proponent has been advised
that physical barriers on the ground level are not likely to be supported.
Roads and Traffic Assessment
An assessment of the traffic and parking implications of the proposal (in particular
the indicative design scheme) has been undertaken by Colston Budd Hunt and
Kafes Pty Ltd at Appendix G.
The report conclude:
•

•

•

the existing development have a combined traffic generation of 15 to 20
vehicles per hour two way (in plus out) at peak times. The proposed
development is anticipated to generate 10 to 15 vehicles per hour two way.
Such a low traffic generation would not have a noticeable effect on the
surrounding road network and intersections in the vicinity of the site will
continue to operate at satisfactory levels of service.
The car parking requirements under Sydney LEP 2012 provide a maximum
parking provision of one space per 50m2 of site area for commercial
developments. Compliance with this maximum amount of parking is assumed
as part of the indicative design scheme.
The preferred location for the access driveway (to basement parking and
loading facilities) is via Dalley Street, which is consistent with the APDG
Block controls. This location is appropriate given it:
• provides the most efficient design for a two-way vehicular ramp for cars
and service vehicles;
• provides for improved pedestrian amenity along Queens Court;
• allows for appropriate sight lines and passing opportunities for vehicles
turning into and out of the site; and
• continues to allow appropriate activation on the corner of Pitt Street and
Dalley Street.

A further detailed traffic, access and parking assessment will occur as part of any
future detailed DA for the redevelopment of the site.
Sustainability
The proponent is targeting to design the building to achieve:
•
•

a minimum 5 Star Office Green Star V3 Design rating; and
a minimum 5 Star rating in operation under the NABERS Energy scheme.

In the context of the existing ‘C’ grade commercial office buildings on the site, the
planning proposal will in unlocking the site to deliver significantly improved
environmental performance and sustainability outcomes.
Geotechnical Assessment
A Desktop Geotechnical Study was undertaken by Coffey and the report prepared is
provided at Appendix I.
29 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

50

The report confirms that the indicative development is feasible from a geotechnical
perspective. Excavation and construction activities associated with the proposed
development, particularly those associated with the additional area of basement
excavation for 37 Pitt Street and 51 Pitt Street, have the potential to impact the Tank
Stream heritage structure through ground movements and vibration. However, given
that the Tank Stream heritage structure is assessed to lie nine metres from the
eastern property boundary, and potential ground movements and vibrations during
construction can be reduced by implementation of suitable retention systems and
excavation methods, the potential for ground movements and vibration to impact the
Tank Stream heritage structure is considered to be low risk.
Heritage
There are no listed heritage items within the site, nor within the boundary of the
entire APDG Block. However, there are a number of heritage items in the vicinity of
the site including the Tank Stream, an item of State Significance, which lies outside
the boundary of the site.
Many of the heritage items in the vicinity however are located a fair distance from the
site and/or are not visible in conjunction with the subject site due to the presence of
intermediary buildings. The heritage impacts of the proposed redevelopment scheme
have been considered by GML in the report at Appendix F of Attachment A.
Some of the key conclusions and recommendations arising from the
abovementioned studies are:
•
•

•

•

Tank Stream - The Tank Stream is located east of the site below Pitt Street.
There is potential for the proposal to impact upon this State significant
heritage item, however the risk is perceived to be low.
Aboriginal Archaeology - No aboriginal archaeological sites registered on the
AHIMS data base are located within the site study area. Aboriginal
archaeological sites have been identified on natural foreshore environments
similar to the subject site within the Sydney CBD.
Historical Archaeology - Preliminary indications are that the site potentially
contains archaeology (including associated with the earliest phase of Sydney
settlement and potential evidence of James Underwood’s shipwright’s yard)
that is of local and potential State significance. The proposal by virtue of
basement levels extending down into bedrock will result in the removal of
these potential archaeological remains.
Mitigation Measures - GML identify a number of recommendations in regard
to mitigating impacts associated with the proposal. These recommendations
represent standard requirements for a development of this nature in this
location and therefore do not pose any significant obstacles or issues for the
site’s redevelopment.

Q9. Has the planning proposal adequately addressed any social and economic
effects?
This Planning Proposal provides an opportunity for the redevelopment of the APDG
block. Redevelopment will allow for positive social and economic effects including:
•
•

Providing 45,000m2 of commercial and retail building to contribute to and
strengthening Sydney’s role as a globally competitive City;
Creating an estimated 3000 additional jobs;

30 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

51

•
•

Increase accessibility and activation of a through site link; and
Improving safety and amenity of the surrounding public domain.

Section D – State and Commonwealth interests
Q10. Is there adequate public infrastructure for the planning proposal?
Being located in central Sydney, the site is already well serviced by the full range of
public utilities including electricity, telecommunications, water, sewer and
stormwater. It is expected that these services would be upgraded where required by
the developer.
The proposal will provide new publicly accessible open space together with an
activated lane and through-site link. Extra patronage will benefit existing and planned
public transport networks, including heavy rail and new light rail infrastructure.
Section 61 contributions will be payable with this development which will contribute
to the provision of other community facilities, the demand for which will be generated
by the development.

Q11. What are the views of State and Commonwealth public authorities
consulted in accordance with the gateway determination?
Appropriate consultation with State and Commonwealth public authorities will be
undertaken in accordance with the Gateway Determination once issued.

Part 4: Mapping
This planning proposal does not include any amendments to maps.
The planning proposal does not seek to amend any maps contain in Sydney LEP
2012. Instead, additional building height is proposed to be allowed through insertion
of a new clause in Sydney LEP 2012 as discussed earlier in this planning proposal.

Part 5: Community consultation
This planning proposal will be publicly exhibited for a period of not less than 28 days,
in accordance with section 5.2 of ‘A guide to preparing LEPs’, to allow for proper
consultation with the community, industry stakeholders and affected landowners.
The public exhibition is proposed to be notified by:
•

Advertisement on the City of Sydney website

•

Advertisement in the Sydney Morning Herald

Exhibition material will be made available for viewing at the CBD One Stop Shop at
Town Hall House and at the Customs House Library.
The exact requirements for community consultation will be set out in the Gateway
Determination when issued.

31 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

52

Part 6: Project timeline
•

Submit to DPE for Gateway Determination: June 2018

•

Gateway Determination received: August 2018

•

Public exhibition: September 2018

•

Consideration of submissions: October 2018

•

Post exhibition report to Council and CSPC: November 2018

•

Draft and finalise LEP: December 2018

•

LEP made (if delegated) and notified: December 2018

32 / Planning Proposal – 55 Pitt Street, Sydney

53

Attachment B
Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 –
55 Pitt Street, Sydney

54

SYDNEY DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PLAN 2012 – 55 Pitt Street
Sydney
1. The purpose of the Development Control Plan
The purpose of this Development Control Plan (DCP) is to amend Sydney Development
Control Plan 2012, which was adopted by Council on 14 May 2012 and came into effect on
14 December 2012.
The provisions guide future development of land bounded by Alfred, Pitt, Dalley and George
Streets, Sydney (the APDG Block) when development is subject to the ‘alternative’ sitespecific provisions in Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (SLEP2012) that relate to the
Block.
The provisions of this DCP will allow for another option for the distribution of built form and
open space within the APDG Block.
2. Citation
This amendment may be referred to as Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 – 55 Pitt
Street Sydney.
3. Land covered by this plan
This plan applies to the land bounded by Alfred, Pitt, Dalley and George Streets, Sydney and
known as the APDG Block.
4. Relationship of this plan to Sydney Development Control Plan 2012
This plan amends the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 in the manner set out in
Schedule 1 below.

Schedule 1 – Amendment to Sydney Development Control Plan
2012
[1] Section 6.1.4 The APDG site (bounded by Alfred, Pitt, Dalley and George Streets)
Amend the text in this section as shown below with existing text shown in italics, new text
shown as underlined and deleted text shown as strikethrough:
The following objectives and provisions apply to the APDG site bounded by Alfred,
Pitt, Dalley and George Streets, Sydney as shown in Figure 6.1 Specific sites map
and Figure 6.6 The APDG Site Plan.
If a development proposal within the APDG site is subject to Clause 6.25 APDG
block in Sydney LEP 2012, then the provisions contained in this section of the DCP
override similar provisions in this DCP, where there is inconsistency.
If development proposed for 1 Alfred Street retains the design integrity and is
generally in accordance with the winning entry of the architectural competition held in
November 2009, known as the Kerry Hills Architects Scheme, then the building
envelope controls shown in Figure 6.17 1 Alfred Street Site Development Control
Envelope (Kerry Hill Architects Scheme), override similar provisions where there is
inconsistency.
May 2018 version

55

Clause 6.25 APDG block in Sydney LEP 2012 enables taller buildings to parts of the
street block in order to provide an integrated lane network, a publicly accessible open
space and greater tower separation for better views and daylight access. These
benefits can be achieved by certain landholdings being developed cooperatively.
There are a number of alternate outcomes to achieve these objectives. Development
Blocks 1, 2 and 3 under clause 6.25 of SLEP 2012 are one option while Development
Block 4 and Development Block 5 under clause 6.25 of SLEP 2012 allows for another
option.
In this DCP, Figures 6.7 to 6.16 apply to the development of Blocks 1, 2 or 3 and
Figures 6.7A to 6.16A apply to the development of Block 4 and Block 5.
Objectives
(a) Provide detailed controls to satisfy the provisions of Clause 6.25 APDG block in
Sydney LEP 2012.
(b) Facilitate the redevelopment of the site to achieve a high quality urban form.
(c) Ensure that development on the APDG site results in major public benefits.
(d) Ensure the publicly accessible open space is fronted with active uses and linked
to surrounding streets with a network of lanes and through-site links.
(e) Maintain the legibility of the historical alignment of laneways and through-site
links within the site.
(f) Enable additional building height at certain sites where the development of the
site provides for publicly accessible open space, lanes and through-site links.
(g) Encourage commercial uses at the southern end of the site.
(h) Protect sunlight access to Australia Square.
(i) Create opportunities for views to and from Circular Quay
[2] Section 6.1.5 – Local Infrastructure and Public Domain
Amend this section as shown below with existing text shown in italics, new text shown as
underlined and deleted text shown as strikethrough:
Provisions
6.1.5.1

General

(1) Where required to be provided, new streets, lanes and through-site links

are to be provided in the locations identified in Figure 6.7 Public domain
plan for blocks 1, 2 and 3 and in Figure 6.7A Public domain plan Option
B for block 4 and block 5, and are to be designed and constructed in
accordance with Figure 6.8 Streets, lanes and through-site links for
blocks 1, 2 and 3 and in Figure 6.8A Streets, lanes and through-site links
Option B for block 4 and block 5.
(2) Ensure the design of the laneway network and square integrates with the

ground floor uses of adjoining buildings and provides opportunities for
external leisure activities.
6.1.5.2

Streets, lanes and through-site links

(1) Through-site links are to be provided in the locations identified on the

May 2018 version

56

Through-site links map and Figure 6.9 Public domain principles plan for
blocks 1, 2, and 3 and in Figure 6.9A Public domain principles plan
Option B for block 4 and block 5.
(2) Extend the existing north-south alignment of Underwood Street up to

Alfred Street to enhance pedestrian movement on the site.
(3) Create opportunities for outdoor dining along Alfred and George Streets.
(4) Bridge the level change between George and Pitt Streets through

terracing along Alfred Street whilst maintaining equal access.
(5) Design Pitt Street to allow safe crossing points between Bulletin Place

and Rugby Place and Bulletin Place and Underwood Street.
(6) Dalley Street is to have the character of a wide lane and function as a

service street fronting with the service entries of the Stock Exchange
building facing Bridge Street.
(7) Introduce widened footpaths on the southern side of Underwood Street,

adjoining the new square and on the northern side of Dalley Street to the
crossing of George Street at Grosvenor Street.
(8) Design laneway thresholds that indicate pedestrian crossing priority.
(9) Ensure lane alignments maintain clear sight-lines from each end.
(10) Where required to be provided, introduce a north-south lane and

through-site link in the location shown as 1A in Figures 6.9 and 6.9A
Public domain principles plan. The link will connect Herald Square and
Dalley Street and have the character of a narrow through-site pedestrian
link to the north and shared use lane to the south.
(11) Rugby Place identified as 1B on Figures 6.9 and 6.9A Public domain

principles plan is to be a narrow lane for its entire length and is to widen
towards the approach to the Rugby Club to create a seating area and
encourage outdoor dining.
(12) Enhance pedestrian amenity of the redevelopment of 188-194A George

Street by introducing widened footpaths on the southern side of Crane
Place, identified as 1C on Figure 6.9 Public domain principles plan.
(13) For a development of block 4, integrate the George St plaza, marked G

on Figure 6.9A Public domain principles plan, with the publicly accessible
area on the northern part of 188-194A George Street.
(14) For a development of block 1 and block 5 enhance pedestrian amenity

by introducing widened footpaths on the southern side of Underwood
Street, identified as 1D on Figures 6.9 and Figure 6.9A Public domain
principles plan.
(15) Enhance pedestrian amenity by introducing widened footpaths on the

northern side of the through-site link identified as 1E on Figure 6.9 Public
domain principles plan.
(16) Through-site links are to have a clear height up to the levels indicated on

Figures 6.7 and 6.7A Public domain plan.
(17) Enhance pedestrian amenity by extending and widening Queens Court to

become an accessible through site link identified as 1F on Figures 6.9

May 2018 version

57

and 6.9A Public domain principles plan.
(18) Design the through site link identified as 1F on Figures 6.9 and 6.9A

public domain principles plan to reduce flooding impacts, be accessible,
and maintain clear site lines from each end.
(19) The bridge link over part of the through site link on block 5 is to have a

minimum clearance to the finished ground of 5.5m. The link width is to be
no greater than 3m wide.
6.1.5.3

New Squares – generally

(1) Any new public plaza is to

(a)
be designed in a manner that minimises changes in level
while meeting the existing level conditions at adjoining publicly
accessible land;
(b)
be of high quality materials in accordance with the City’s
Public Domain Code;
(c)
have the minimum number of signage and lighting structures
to avoid visual clutter and minimise the use of bollards;
(d)

6.1.5.4

provide opportunities for casual outdoor dining.

New Square - development of blocks 1 and 2

(2) For development of blocks 1 and 2 introduce a publicly accessible

square near the centre of the street block in the location shown on Figure
6.7 Public domain plan.
(3) The new square is to:

(a)
have a minimum area of 1,300sqm as shown outlined in red
on Figure 6.9 Public Domain Principles plan;
(b)
be defined by development and the convergence of new and
existing lanes and through-site pedestrian links;
(c)
be visually activated with doors and windows fronting the
square, creating views into circulation spaces and elevated
gathering spaces; and
(d)
integrate an interpretive element relating to the historical
alignment of the Tank Stream on the eastern boundary of the
square/
6.1.5.5

New Squares - development of block 4

(1) Public plazas are to be provided as shown generally on Figure 6.7A

Public domain plan Option B.
(2) The combined area of the public plazas, outlined in red on Figure 6.9A

Public Domain Principles plan Option B, shall be a minimum of
1,800sqm.

May 2018 version

58

(3) The new public plaza to George Street, marked G on figure 6.9A Public

Domain Principles Plan Option B, is to:
(a)

have direct access from George Street;

(b)

have a high level of solar access;

(c)
be defined by George Street, new and existing lanes and
through-site pedestrian links, and fine grain development;
(d)
contain public access stairs on the northern edge from the
plaza to lane level;
(e)
integrate a multi-level building at the eastern edge of the
plaza for community and associated uses, access to below plaza
level community uses, and an internal passenger lift to facilitate
equitable access from George Street to the laneways and Pitt
Street;
(f)
be visually activated to the north and east by active edges
(including potential balconies and roof terraces) creating views
into circulation spaces and gathering spaces; and
(g)

incorporate high quality public art.

(4) The new public plaza at the Pitt Street level, marked P on figure 6.9A

Public Domain Principles Plan Option B, is to:
(a)
integrate laneways and plaza areas with existing and
proposed ground floor uses; and
(b)
integrate an interpretive element relating to the historical
alignment of the Tank Stream on the eastern boundary of this
plaza.
6.1.5.6 Active Frontages
(1) For development of blocks 1, 2, and 3, active frontages are to be

provided in the locations nominated on the Active frontages map.
(2) For development of block 4 and block 5, active frontages are to be

provided in the locations nominated generally on Figure 6.12A Active
Frontages Option B.
6.1.5.7 Awnings
(1) Footpath awnings are to be provided in the locations nominated on the

Footpath awnings and colonnades map.
(2) For development of block 4, retractable canvas awnings are to be

provided to internal laneways and squares.
[3] Section 6.1.6 – Built Form and Design
Amend this section as shown below with existing text shown in italics, new text shown as
underlined and deleted text shown as strikethrough:

May 2018 version

59

6.1.6.1 Building Height
(1) Development must not exceed the maximum height in metres for the

land as shown in Figure 6.10 Alternative heights for blocks 1, 2 and 3
and in Figure 6.10A Alternative heights Option B for block 4 and block 5.
(2) Encourage a variety of built form options within development blocks 1, 2,

3, and 4 and 5. The site area of each development block may increase
with the addition of one of more optional additions A, B or C as indicated
on Figure 6.11 APDG site development blocks 1, 2 and 3 and Figure
6.11A APDG site development blocks Option B.
6.1.6.2 Street frontage heights and setbacks
(1) The street frontage height of a building is not to exceed the maximum
height shown for the land on Figure 6.13 Building frontage height for blocks
1, 2, and 3 and as shown on Figure 6.13A Building frontage height Option B
for block 4 and block 5.
(2) The maximum width of an elevation above the street frontage height of
buildings, as shown in Figure 6.13, is to be 35% of the total height of the
building, excluding curved facades where the change in tangent across the
façade is greater than 60 degrees.
Note: For example, a tower of 200m height may have a maximum elevation width above the
street wall of 70m (200m x 35%).

(3) Ensure a minimum of 95% of each of the building frontages are built to
the alignment of the public domain to the height shown on Figure 6.13 Street
frontage height in metres for blocks 1, 2, and 3 and on Figure 6.13A Street
frontage height in metres Option B for block 4 and block 5.
(4) Provide setbacks above the street-wall in accordance with Figure 6.14
Setbacks above the street frontage height for blocks 1, 2, and 3 and on
Figure 6.14A Setbacks above the street frontage height Option B for block 4
and block 5.
(5) The following minimum setbacks are required for tower forms:
(a) the north-western tower on block 1 - 0m to Alfred and George Streets
and the new lane and 3m to southern boundary;
(b) the western tower - 4m to George Street at 188-194A George Street,
increasing to 8m at the southern boundary of 196-208 George Street; 3m to
the southern boundary and 4m to the eastern side;
(c ) the south-eastern tower on block 1 - 8m to all streets and lanes; and
(d) the eastern tower on block 4 - 6m to Pitt Street; 6m to tower building at
188-194A George Street; 6m to podium of approved building envelope for
Tower B at 19-31 Pitt Street under development consent D/2015/1049; and
variable to other streets and lanes.; and
(e) the south-eastern tower on block 5:


May 2018 version

4m extending no further than one third of the total Pitt Street
frontage, as measured from the north east corner. The remaining
setback to Pitt Street should be a minimum of 6m; and

60



3m from the boundary with Queens Court as shown in Figure
6.10A APDG alternative height (Option B)

(6)The minimum setback for a wall with openings is 3m from a shared
boundary.
6.1.6.3 Building Design and Bulk
(1) Building envelopes are to be in accordance with Figure 6.10 Alternative
heights for blocks 1, 2 and 3 and with Figure 6.10A Alternative heights Option B
for block 4 and block 5.
(2) Notwithstanding Figure 6.10 Alternative heights, a reduced building envelope
for Block 1 may be permitted on the lot marked ‘X’ in Figure 6.13 Street frontage
heights to allow a larger central public square.
(3) Introduce a slender tower in the north-west corner of the site known as 1
Alfred Street, which fronts Circular Quay in accordance with Figure 6.10
Alternative heights.
(4) For blocks 1 and 2 introduce two new commercial towers on the site, one in
the south-east corner and the other on the western side fronting George Street
as identified in Figure 6.10 Alternative heights for blocks 1 and 2.
(5) For block 4 introduce a new commercial tower on the eastern side of block 4
as identified in Figure 6.10A Alternative heights Option B.
(6) Design the lower levels of the tower fronting Alfred Street to address the
pedestrian scale environment at George Street and Herald Square.
(7) For block 4, any building on PT 181 DP606865 (the site of Jacksons on
George) shall have a maximum height of RL 16 at the southern boundary of the
lot increasing in height to the north in accordance with the 21 June 12pm Sun
Angle.
(8) For block 4, the proposed community use building and the portion of the
tower podium facing the new north-south lane shall be built to a maximum height
of RL24
(9) The tower on Block 4 shall be designed to mitigate wind impacts on
Underwood and Pitt Streets including active systems, form and materials.
(10) For block 5 introduce a new commercial tower on the north eastern corner
fronting Pitt Street as identified in Figure 6.10A Alternative heights (Option B).
(11) For block 5, any building fronting Underwood Street shall have a minimum 3
metre setback in line with the underside the building over the through site link
being approximately RL 12.0m to provide for pedestrian access.
(10 12) New development must not cause the ground level environment on the
APDG site or surrounding streets and lanes to have a mean wind speed or Gust
Equivalent Mean wind speed exceeding
(a)

10 metres per second for more than 5% of the year; or

(b)

15 metres per second more than once per year.

Developments are not to rely on physical barriers such as screenings or
awnings.

May 2018 version

61

(14) Ground floor retail/commercial uses are to accommodate amenities, storage
space, general back of house activities and other spatial requirements to support
these uses.
6.1.6.4 Design Excellence Strategy for Development Block 4
(1) The following competitive design processes must be completed before the
lodgement of a Stage 2 development application for Block 4:
(a)
An invited architectural design competition for a building on
the land shown as Area A on Figure 16.6A Design Excellence
Option B;
(b)
The preparation of design alternatives on a competitive basis
for a building on the land shown as Area B on Figure 16.6A
Design Excellence Option B.
(2) The selection of architectural practices for each competitive design process
will be informed by individual design briefs to be developed in accordance
with the following:
(a)
A range of emerging and established architects will
participate in competitive design processes to ensure
architectural design variety within Block 4.
(b)
To ensure architectural design variety across Block 4, no
architectural practice may participate in more than one
competitive design process.
(c)
A minimum selection of 6 established architectural practices
will be invited to participate in the architectural design competition
for Area A.
(d)
A selection of 4 emerging architectural practices will be
invited to participate in the competitive design alternatives
process for Area B.
(e)
To achieve a whole of site design excellence, the
architectural design processes for the land shown as Area A and
Area B on Figure 6.16A are to be run concurrently.
(3) For development on Block 4 to be eligible for the maximum additional floor
space bonus available under clause 6.21(7) of SLEP 2012, competitive
design processes must be completed for both Area A and Area B on Figure
16.6A Design Excellence Option B.
(4) Having regard to the total area of Block 4 for which competitive design
processes are required, the amount of any additional bonus floor space
available to development on Block 4 under clause 6.21(7) of Sydney LEP
2012 will be as follows:
(a)
The amount attributable to a competitive design process for
Area A is up to 77% of the maximum additional floor space
available under clause 6.21(7);
(b)
The amount attributable to a competitive design process for
Area B is up to 23% of the maximum additional floor space
May 2018 version

62

available under clause 6.21(7).
6.1.6.5 Design Excellence Strategy for Development Block 5
(1) A competitive design alternatives process is to be undertaken in accordance
with clause 6.21 of Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and is to apply to
the area identified as “C” in Figure 6.16A Design Excellence Option B.
(2) A minimum selection of 5 emerging, emerged and established architectural
practices will be invited to participate in the competitive design process.
(3) A building demonstrating design excellence is eligible for an amount of
additional floor space of up to 10% in accordance with Clause 6.21(7)(b) of
Sydney LEP 2012.
(4) No additional height under Clause 6.21(7)(a) of Sydney LEP 2012 is to be
awarded as a result of a competitive design process.
[4] Section 6.1.7 – Parking and Vehicular Access
Amend this section as shown below with existing text shown in italics, new text shown as
underlined and deleted text shown as strikethrough:
(1) Vehicle and service entry points are to be consistent with Figure 6.15
Vehicular access plan for blocks 1, 2 and 3 and with Figure 6.15A Vehicular
access plan Option B for block 4 and 5.
(2) One way vehicular access provided from the new north-south lane to George
Street identified as ‘A’ and ‘B’ on Figure 6.15 Vehicular access plan for blocks 1,
2 and 3 is short term only.
(3) Provide shared basement access between developments to minimise
vehicular movements on lanes.
(4) Loading docks are not permitted on George, Pitt or Alfred Streets or on the
new public square frontage.
(5) Above ground parking is not permitted.
[5] 6.3.x.x Sustainability
(1) The new commercial tower should be designed to meet 5.5 star NABERS Energy
rating and meet a 4 star NABERS Water score.

[6] Figure 6.7A APDG Site – Public Domain Plan (Option B)
Replace Figure 6.7A as shown attached.

[7] Figure 6.8A Streets, Lanes and Through Site links – Option B
Replace Figure 6.8A as shown attached.

May 2018 version

63

[8] Figure 6.9A APDG Site – Public Domain Principles Plan (Option B)
Replace Figure 6.9A as shown attached.

[9] Figure 6.10A APDG Site – Alternative Heights (Option B)
Replace 6.10A as shown attached.

[10] Figure 6.11A APDG Site – Development Blocks (Option B)
Replace Figure 6.11A as shown attached.

[11] Figure 6.12A APDG Site – Active Frontages (Option B)
Replace Figure 6.12A as shown attached.

[12] Figure 6.13A APDG Site – Street frontage height in metres (Option B)
Replace with Figures 6.13A as shown attached.

[13] Figure 6.14A APDG Site – Setback above the street frontage height (Option B)
Replace Figure 6.14A as shown attached.

[14] Figure 6.15A APDG Site – Vehicular Access Plan (Option B)
Replace Figure 6.15A as shown attached.

[15] Figure 6.16A APDG Site – Design Excellence (Option B)
Replace Figure 6.16A as shown attached.

[16] Active Frontages Map
Replace sheet 14 and replace with new sheet 14 as shown attached.

[17] Development Control Envelope – 55 Pitt Street
Insert new Figure – Development Control Envelope – 55 Pitt Street
[18] Through site link and bridge height – 55 Pitt Street
Insert new Figure - Through site link and bridge height – 55 Pitt Street

May 2018 version

64

May 2018 version

65

Ü

Copyright ©2018 City of Sydney Council, All Rights Reserved
Copyright ©2018 Land and Property Information, All Rights
Reserved. This map has been compiled from various sources
and the publisher and/or contributors accept no responsibility
for any injury, loss or damage arising from the use, error or
omissions therein. While all care is taken to ensure a high
degree of accuracy, users are invited to notify Council’s GIS
Group of any map discrepancies. No part of this map may be
reproduced without written permission.

0

Optional extension of square

Publicly accessible square

30 m

Projection: MGA Zone 56
Datum: GDA94
Paper Size: A4
Prepared By: SPUD
Printing Date: 28 May, 2018

Lane - 6m wide minimum
Open to sky unless height is shown on plan

Through-site link 4.5-6.0m wide
Height varies as shown on the plan as RL’s

Extension of Herald Square

Legend

APDG Site
- Public domain plan (Option B)
Stre
et

x St
reet

Grosvenor Street

Es s e

Har
ring
ton

Figure 6.7A

RL 16.0

C

Dalley S

A1

C

e

RL 12.0

B

Cahill Expres

Pla
c

RL 7.0

gby

Ru

et
Bridge Stre

treet

A2

RL 24.0

DRAFT
tre
et
Ge
o rg
eS

Str
ee
t

G
l
o
uc
est
er

Sydney
Development
Control Plan 2012

t
Underwood Stree

sway

sway

Alfred Street

Cahill Expres

M
a
c
qu
ar
ie

Pl
ac
e

66
tin

Queens Court

lle
Bu
M

e
a
qu

lac
ac

P
iby
Re

e
ac
Pl

Pitt Street

rie

Pl

ac

e

67

A

Pedestrian setback 3m

Shared service road 5m. No vehicle
access 8am- 6pm Monday to Friday.

Footpath with flush kerb 1m

E

F

G

M

Minimum height 9.5m

Bridge link height 5.5m

Minimum clearance for pedestrian
traffic 2m

K
L

Through site link min. 6m

J

Minimum height 4m on variant

H

KEY

Integrated surface treatments may also be used to provide navigational assistance.

TGSI and fixed barriers are not preferred.

Seating areas should be in consistent locations throughout a lane.

•

•

•

Design of the public domain and lanes should prioritise pedestrian activities and
provide an equitable clear path of travel, preferably adjacent to the building line.

•

•

Laneway awnings must not have fixed elements or vertical screens.

Other street furniture (eg. planters and temporary bollards) should not be permitted.

•

Through-site link

Footpath with flush kerb 1.5m

D

G

Through site link min. 4m

6m

F

I

6m

J

K

THROUGH SITE LINK C

All seats, tables and umbrellas in the public domain must be removable
(consistent with the concept of “naked streets” including minimal signage).

Shared service road 3m

C

I

H

3m

E

THROUGH SITE LINK B

•

Laneways. No vehicle access.

B

D

Seating & retractable awning
or umbrella 2.25m

6m

C

A

D

LANE TYPE C

Laneway

Basement Access

Commercial Uses

Active Uses

7.5m

B

LOBBY

LANE TYPE B

DRAFT

Generally

KEY

A

LANE TYPE A

Figure 6.8A
STREETS, LANES AND THROUGH SITE LINKS - OPTION B

A

A

L

C

B

C

C1

C

B

6m

J

THROUGH SITE LINK C1

M

X

0

Copyright ©2018 City of Sydney Council, All Rights Reserved
Copyright ©2018 Land and Property Information, All Rights
Reserved. This map has been compiled from various sources
and the publisher and/or contributors accept no responsibility
for any injury, loss or damage arising from the use, error or
omissions therein. While all care is taken to ensure a high
degree of accuracy, users are invited to notify Council’s GIS
Group of any map discrepancies. No part of this map may be
reproduced without written permission.

Ü

30 m

Projection: MGA Zone 56
Datum: GDA94
Paper Size: A4
Prepared By: SPUD
Printing Date: 28 May, 2018

Indicative location of through site link

Optional extension of square

Connected laneway network

New squares

Through-site link

Publicly accessible squares (G and P) within block

Lane

Legend

APDG Site
- Public domain principles plan
(Option B)
Stre
et

reet

Grosvenor Street

x St

Har
ring
ton

Es s e

tre
et
Ge
o rg
eS

Figure 6.9A

G
e

Cahill Expres

Pla
c

X

gby

et
Bridge Stre

treet
Dalley S

P

Ru

DRAFT

Queens Court

Str
ee
t

G
l
o
uc
est
er

Sydney
Development
Control Plan 2012

t
Underwood Stree

sway

sway

Alfred Street

Cahill Expres

M
a
c
qu
ar
ie

Pl
ac
e

68
tin
M

lle
Bu
a
qu

e
ac

ib
Re
lac
yP

e
ac
Pl

Pitt Street

rie

Pl

ac

e

*

*

*

Ü

Projection: MGA Zone 56
Datum: GDA94
Paper Size: A4
Prepared By: SPUD
Printing Date: 28 May, 2018

30 m

x St
reet

Grosvenor Street

Es s e

8m

155m

3m

4m
4m

m

248m

(RL 250.8)

e

Pla
c

155.5m

3m

(RL 158.2)

et
Bridge Stre

treet

(RL 240.8)

gby

Ru

185m

4m

238m

Dalley S

t
Underwood Stree

Copyright ©2018 City of Sydney Council, All Rights Reserved
Copyright ©2018 Land and Property Information, All Rights
Reserved. This map has been compiled from various sources
and the publisher and/or contributors accept no responsibility
for any injury, loss or damage arising from the use, error or
omissions therein. While all care is taken to ensure a high
degree of accuracy, users are invited to notify Council’s GIS
Group of any map discrepancies. No part of this map may be
reproduced without written permission.

0

Refer to clause 6.1.6.3 of this DCP

Align with property corners

Tower - height noted on plan
Maximum height determined by clause 6.25 of
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012

126m

75m

55m

45m

25m

20m / RL 24.0

15m

9.5 to 17m above George Street

Legend

APDG Site
- Alternate heights (Option B)
Stre
et

Har
ring
ton

DRAFT
tre
et
Ge
o rg
eS

Figure 6.10A

69
Queens Court

7.5

8m

6m

sway

4m

6m

6m

Cahill Expres

Pitt Street

Str
ee
t

G
l
o
uc
est
er

Sydney
Development
Control Plan 2012

3m

sway

Alfred Street

Cahill Expres

M
a
c
qu
ar
ie

6m

tin

3m

lle
Bu

Pl
ac
e

e
M

lac
ua
ac
q

P
iby
Re

e
ac
Pl
rie

Pl

ac

e

Development Block 5

Development Block 4

Development Block 3

Development Block 2

B

A

Ü

Copyright ©2018 City of Sydney Council, All Rights Reserved
Copyright ©2018 Land and Property Information, All Rights
Reserved. This map has been compiled from various sources
and the publisher and/or contributors accept no responsibility
for any injury, loss or damage arising from the use, error or
omissions therein. While all care is taken to ensure a high
degree of accuracy, users are invited to notify Council’s GIS
Group of any map discrepancies. No part of this map may be
reproduced without written permission.

0

Development Block B

Development Block A

Projection: MGA Zone 56
Datum: GDA94
Paper Size: A4
Prepared By: SPUD
Printing Date: 28 May, 2018

30 m

Optional Additons to Development Block 3 or Block 4

5

4

3

2

Legend

Stre
et

x St
reet

Grosvenor Street

Es s e

Har
ring
ton

APDG Site
- Development blocks (Option B)

tre
et

2

Ge
o rg
eS

Figure 6.11A

Dalley S

4

et
Bridge Stre

treet

e

5

B

Cahill Expres

Pla
c

A

gby

Ru

3

Queens Court

DRAFT

t
Underwood Stree

Str
ee
t

G
l
o
uc
est
er

sway

sway

Alfred Street

Cahill Expres

M
a
c
qu
ar
ie

70
tin

Pl
ac
e

Sydney
Development
Control Plan 2012

lle
Bu
M

e
a
qu

lac
ac

P
iby
Re

e
ac
Pl

Pitt Street

rie

Pl

ac

e

Copyright ©2018 City of Sydney Council, All Rights Reserved
Copyright ©2018 Land and Property Information, All Rights
Reserved. This map has been compiled from various sources
and the publisher and/or contributors accept no responsibility
for any injury, loss or damage arising from the use, error or
omissions therein. While all care is taken to ensure a high
degree of accuracy, users are invited to notify Council’s GIS
Group of any map discrepancies. No part of this map may be
reproduced without written permission.

0

Projection: MGA Zone 56
Datum: GDA94
Paper Size: A4
Prepared By: SPUD
Printing Date: 28 May, 2018

30 m

Stre
et

reet

Grosvenor Street

x St

Har
ring
ton

Es s e

Dalley S

t
Underwood Stree

Ü

Active frontages

Legend

tre
et
Ge
o rg
eS

APDG Site
- Active frontages (Option B)

e

Cahill Expres

Pla
c

et
Bridge Stre

treet

gby

Ru

DRAFT

Queens Court

Figure 6.12A

71

Str
ee
t

G
l
o
uc
est
er

sway

sway

Alfred Street

Cahill Expres

tin

M
a
c
qu
ar
ie

Sydney
Development
Control Plan 2012

lle
Bu

Pl
ac
e

e
M

lac
ua
ac
q

P
iby
Re

e
ac
Pl

Pitt Street

rie

Pl

ac

e

Ü

Projection: MGA Zone 56
Datum: GDA94
Paper Size: A4
Prepared By: SPUD
Printing Date: 28 May, 2018

30 m

Stre
et

reet

Grosvenor Street

x St

Har
ring
ton

Es s e

Dalley S

t
Underwood Stree

Copyright ©2018 City of Sydney Council, All Rights Reserved
Copyright ©2018 Land and Property Information, All Rights
Reserved. This map has been compiled from various sources
and the publisher and/or contributors accept no responsibility
for any injury, loss or damage arising from the use, error or
omissions therein. While all care is taken to ensure a high
degree of accuracy, users are invited to notify Council’s GIS
Group of any map discrepancies. No part of this map may be
reproduced without written permission.

0

Publicly accessible spaces/streets/lanes

70m / 185m

15m / 55m

40m / 45m

20m / 25m

9m / 17m

Legend

tre
et
Ge
o rg
eS

APDG Site
- Street frontage height
in metres (Option B)

e

Cahill Expres

Pla
c

et
Bridge Stre

treet

gby

Ru

DRAFT

Queens Court

Figure 6.13A

72

Str
ee
t

G
l
o
uc
est
er

sway

sway

Alfred Street

Cahill Expres

tin

M
a
c
qu
ar
ie

Sydney
Development
Control Plan 2012

lle
Bu

Pl
ac
e

e
M

lac
ua
ac
q

P
iby
Re

e
ac
Pl

Pitt Street

rie

Pl

ac

e

Ü

Projection: MGA Zone 56
Datum: GDA94
Paper Size: A4
Prepared By: SPUD
Printing Date: 28 May, 2018

30 m

Stre
et

reet

Grosvenor Street

x St

Har
ring
ton

Es s e

Dalley S

t
Underwood Stree

Copyright ©2018 City of Sydney Council, All Rights Reserved
Copyright ©2018 Land and Property Information, All Rights
Reserved. This map has been compiled from various sources
and the publisher and/or contributors accept no responsibility
for any injury, loss or damage arising from the use, error or
omissions therein. While all care is taken to ensure a high
degree of accuracy, users are invited to notify Council’s GIS
Group of any map discrepancies. No part of this map may be
reproduced without written permission.

0

Publicly accessible spaces/streets/lanes

Transition from 0m to 8m

8m - 10m

Transition from 4m to 8m

6m

4m - 8m

4m

3m

0m

Legend

tre
et
Ge
o rg
eS

APDG Site
- Setback above the street
frontage height (Option B)

e

Cahill Expres

Pla
c

et
Bridge Stre

treet

gby

Ru

DRAFT

Queens Court

Figure 6.14A

73

Str
ee
t

G
l
o
uc
est
er

sway

sway

Alfred Street

Cahill Expres

tin

M
a
c
qu
ar
ie

Sydney
Development
Control Plan 2012

lle
Bu

Pl
ac
e

e
M

lac
ua
ac
q

P
iby
Re

e
ac
Pl

Pitt Street

rie

Pl

ac

e

Ü

Copyright ©2018 City of Sydney Council, All Rights Reserved
Copyright ©2018 Land and Property Information, All Rights
Reserved. This map has been compiled from various sources
and the publisher and/or contributors accept no responsibility
for any injury, loss or damage arising from the use, error or
omissions therein. While all care is taken to ensure a high
degree of accuracy, users are invited to notify Council’s GIS
Group of any map discrepancies. No part of this map may be
reproduced without written permission.

0

30 m

Projection: MGA Zone 56
Datum: GDA94
Paper Size: A4
Prepared By: SPUD
Printing Date: 28 May, 2018

Land subject to a separate planning proposal

Shared basement/servicing

Publicly accessible space/street/lanes

No vehicular access

Traffic circulation direction

Access to end trip facility (bike hub)

Preferred long term access location

Short term access location

No vehicle access 8am-6pm Monday to Friday

Preferred vehicular access location

Legend

Stre
et

x St
reet

Grosvenor Street

Es s e

Har
ring
ton

APDG Site
- Vehicular access plan (Option B)

tre
et
Ge
o rg
eS

Figure 6.15A

Dalley S

in/out from
Pitt St

e

Cahill Expres

Pla
c

et
Bridge Stre

treet

gby

Ru

Queens Court

DRAFT

t
Underwood Stree

Str
ee
t

G
l
o
uc
est
er

sway

sway

Alfred Street

Cahill Expres

M
a
c
qu
ar
ie

74

tin

Pl
ac
e

Sydney
Development
Control Plan 2012

lle
Bu
M

e
a
qu

lac
ac

P
iby
Re

e
ac
Pl

Pitt Street

rie

Pl

ac

e

C

B

A

0

Copyright ©2018 City of Sydney Council, All Rights Reserved
Copyright ©2018 Land and Property Information, All Rights
Reserved. This map has been compiled from various sources
and the publisher and/or contributors accept no responsibility
for any injury, loss or damage arising from the use, error or
omissions therein. While all care is taken to ensure a high
degree of accuracy, users are invited to notify Council’s GIS
Group of any map discrepancies. No part of this map may be
reproduced without written permission.

Ü

Area C

Area B

Area A

Legend

Projection: MGA Zone 56
Datum: GDA94
Paper Size: A4
Prepared By: SPUD
Printing Date: 28 May, 2018

30 m

APDG Site
- Design Excellence (Option B)
Stre
et

x St
reet

Grosvenor Street

Es s e

Har
ring
ton

Figure 6.16A

Dalley S

B

et
Bridge Stre

treet

C

e

Cahill Expres

Pla
c

4
A

gby

Ru

DRAFT
tre
et
Ge
o rg
eS

Str
ee
t

G
l
o
uc
est
er

Sydney
Development
Control Plan 2012

t
Underwood Stree

sway

sway

Alfred Street

Cahill Expres

M
a
c
qu
ar
ie

Pl
ac
e

75

tin

Queens Court

lle
Bu
M

e
a
qu

lac
ac

P
iby
Re

e
ac
Pl

Pitt Street

rie

Pl

ac

e

DRAFT

Figure XX: Figure – Development Control Envelope – 55 Pitt Street

Figure XX: Figure ‐ Through site link and bridge height – 55 Pitt Street

76

Attachment C
Planning Agreement – Letter of Offer

77

78

79

80

81

82

83

84

68

23 MAY 2018

7

5 5 P I T T S T R E E T D E V E L O P M E N T, S Y D N E Y | P L A N N I N G P R O P O S A L

Proposed Public Access Easement & Strata Subdivision Plan

Indicative Concept Scheme

Basement extends to boundary

Council property
beyond boundary

Final building
facade alignment
at Public Domain
level to be resolved
during stage 2 DA.
Council property
beyond boundary

Council property
beyond boundary

Ground Floor Plan
Legend:
Areas to be dedicated to CoS by way of stratum subdivision per 55 Pitt Street
VPA drafting.
Areas to have public access easement registered on titles per 55 Pitt Street VPA
drafting.

Mirvac

Francis-Jones Morehen Thorp

85

86
PM1474
72FD

D
DP267949

The Blast Wall Zone = The area the Blast Wall occupies in plan
view on Council Land

Blast Wall Zone Example
(shown as indicative area only for the purpose of providing an example)

Mirvac
Drawing Number: Mirvac001
Drawing Title: Blast Wall Zone

23.05.2018

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Item 6.
Fire Safety Reports
File No:

S105001.002

Summary
The City has received inspection reports with recommendations from Fire and Rescue NSW
in relation to inspections carried out on buildings located within the City’s local government
area.
Fire and Rescue NSW has powers under the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act
1979 (the Act) to carry out inspections of buildings and it is required to forward its findings to
the City.
Fire and Rescue NSW reports received by Council are required to be tabled before Council.
Council is then required to determine whether or not to exercise its power to give a fire
safety order under Division 9.3 and Schedule 5 of the Act (previously s 121B of the Act).
This determination may be made at the next meeting of Council held after the tabling of the
Fire and Rescue NSW reports.
Attached are details of the reports received by the City from Fire and Rescue NSW that are
required to be tabled.
The attachments deal with a specific property and include the Fire and Rescue NSW report
and the findings (preliminary or final) by Council’s Investigation Officer, along with other
documentation relevant to that property.
A recommendation is made in the attachment setting out the action that is recommended to
be the most appropriate to take in the circumstances.

Recommendation
It is resolved that Council:
(A)

note the contents of the Fire Safety Report Summary Sheet, as shown at Attachment
A to the subject report;

(B)

note the inspection report by Fire and Rescue NSW, as shown at Attachment B to the
subject report; and

(C)

not exercise its power to issue a Fire Safety Order at this time but note the compliance
action taken and as recommended by Council's Investigation Officer in 35-37
Bettington Street, Millers Point, as detailed in Attachment B.

1

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Attachments
Attachment A.

Fire Safety Report Summary Sheet

Attachment B.

Council Officer Inspection Report, 35-37 Bettington Street, Millers Point

2

Transport, Heritage and Planning Committee

18 June 2018

Background
1.

The City receives inspection reports and recommendations from Fire and Rescue
NSW in relation to inspections carried out on buildings located within the City's local
government area.

2.

Under the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act), Fire and
Rescue NSW has the power to carry out inspections of certain buildings to determine if
the building has adequate provision for fire safety and/or is compliant with legislation.

3.

On average, the City receives approximately 50 such reports each year. They can be
prompted by reports from the Police or other people who have a concern relating to
fire safety in a building.

4.

When Fire and Rescue NSW carries out such an inspection, a report and any
recommendations must be provided to the City.

5.

Under the Act, Council is then required to table the report and make a determination
as to whether it will exercise its power to issue a Fire Safety Order 1 or 2 in Schedule
5, Part 2 of the Act. Fire Safety Order 1 requires a person to do, or stop doing, certain
specified things to improve fire safety; Fire Safety Order 2 requires a person to cease
conducting an activity on premises where that activity constitutes, or is likely to
constitute, a life-threatening hazard or a threat to public health or public safety.

6.

Attached are the details of the reports received from Fire and Rescue NSW, including
recommendations for further action. The properties have also been reviewed by a City
Building Officer.

7.

Personal information has been redacted from these reports in accordance with the
Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998.

Relevant Legislation
8.

Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM
Director City Planning, Development and Transport
Luke Farrell, Fire Safety and Essential Services Specialist

3

Attachment A
Fire Safety Report Summary Sheet

4

5

Attachment B
Council Officer Inspection Report,
35-37 Bettington Street, Millers Point

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

